Volume 4 Issue 3 July 2018 e-ISSN: 2149-3189

B The European **B** Research Journal

1. Cytokines – major molecular messengers orchestrate between inflammation and cancer

2.Determination of minimum serum concentration to develop scaffold free micro-tissue

3. The effect of Arnebia purpurea extract on the survival of random pattern skin flaps in rats

4.Effectiveness of trospium chloride and doxazosin mesylate combination in neurogenic bladder patients with spinal cord injury

5.Open tibial pilon fractures: treatment with ankle-spanning Ilizarov fixator

6.Intradiscal electrothermal therapy for chronic discogenic low back pain: a comparison of two heating protocols

7. The incidence of musculoskeletal system occupational diseases among tuberculosis laboratory workers

8.Surgical interventions for autogenous arteriovenous fistula aneurysms in hemodialysis patients

9.Can decrease in hand grip strength in carpal tunnel syndrome be explained by interosseous muscle and intermetacarpal space dimensions?

10.Is group diabetes education effective on hemoglobin A1c level?

11.Dental students' perceptions on preclinical restorative dentistry course: Biruni University case

12.Correlation between metabolic syndrome disorder and circadian rhythm of physically disabled individuals

13.Clinical presentation of tuberculosis: a nine-year single-center experience

14.Synchronous and antecedent malignancies in patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma

15.Is anemia in children with sleep disordered breathing actually a consequence of chronic disease?

16.Primary cardiac B-cell lymphoma

17.Neutropenic enterocolitis and colonic perforation in a patient with breast carcinoma treated with taxane-based chemotherapy: a case report and review of the literature

18.Biceps tendon rupture diagnosed by physical examination and ultrasonography in the emergency department

19.Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma: a rare condition with high proliferation

20.Peripartum type A dissection: a case report

21.Re-expansion pulmonary edema after pleurocan catheterization: a case report

22.Celiacomesenteric trunk: a rare case

23.Quadriceps tendon rupture associated with anabolic steroids and growth hormone: a case report

24.Refractory status epilepticus responding to lidocaine: a case report

25.Charcot neuroarthropathy of the hand in a diabetic patient after upper extremity trauma

26.A rare complication related to H1N1 infection: Dilated cardiomyopathy

The Association of Health Research & Strategy 1 www.eurj.org Copyright © 2018

The European Research Journal

Focus and Scope

The European Research Journal (EuRJ) is an international, independent, peer reviewed, open access and online publishing journal, which aims to publish papers on all the related areas of basic and clinical medicine. Manuscripts must describe original data that has not been published previously nor submitted for publication elsewhere. Manuscripts that adhere to the EuRJ submission guidelines and are deemed appropriate for the scope of the journal are sent to two reviewers who are specialists in the field. The reviewers' comments are then considered by the members of the EuRJ Executive Editorial Board who discuss the suitability of each submission. The final decision for all submitted manuscripts rests with the Editor- in-Chief.

The journal publishes in the field of original research, case report, reviews and letters to the editor are published only in English.

Editorial Board of the European Research Journal complies with the criteria of the International Council of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), and Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE).

The journal is published three times in a year (March, July and November).No fee is required for publishing the manuscipt. No copyright fee is paid to the authors. All articles are detected for similarity.

Journal Contact/ Principal Contact

Mailing Address:	The European Research Journal (EuRJ)
	The Association of Health Research & Strategy
	Kırcaali Mh. Fevziçakmak Cd. Göktaş İş Mrk. Kat:3 No:62/12
	Osmangazi/BURSA-TURKEY
Phone:	+90(224) 2734545
Email:	info@eurj.org

Publisher

The European Research Journal (EuRJ) The Association of Health Research & Strategy Kırcaali Mah. Fevziçakmak Cd. Göktaş İş Mrk. Kat:3 No:62/12 Osmangazi/BURSA-TURKEY http://www.eurj.org/ http://dergipark.ulakbim.gov.tr/eurj/index

e-ISSN: 2149-3189

The European Research Journal by http://dergipark.ulakbim.gov.tr/eurj is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Editorial Board

FOUNDER EDITOR

Rustem ASKIN, MD, Professor, University of Health Sciences, Department of Psychiatry, Istanbul, Turkey Head of the Association of Health Research & Strategy, Bursa, Turkey

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Senol YAVUZ, MD, Professor.

University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bursa, Turkey,

MANAGING EDITOR

Soner CANDER, MD, Associate Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Bursa, Turkey

EDITOR OF SURGICAL SCIENCES

Davut AKDUMAN, MD, Associate Professor, Duzce University School of Medicine, Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Duzce, Turkey

EDITOR OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Nizameddin KOCA, MD, Assistant Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

ASSOCIATE EDITORS

Evren DILEKTASLI, MD, Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of General Surgery, Bursa, Turkey

> Omer SENORMANCI, MD Associate Professor,

University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Psychiatry, Bursa, Turkey

Ozen OZ GUL, MD, Associate Professor

Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Bursa, Turkey

Rahmi DUMAN, MD, Assistant Professor,

Kocatepe University School of Medicine, Department of Ophthalmology, Afyon, Turkey

Ali ASAN, MD

Assistant Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Infectious Disease Bursa, Turkey

> Hakan DEMIRCI, MD, Associate Professor,

University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Family Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

Meliha KASAPOGLU AKSOY, MD

Assistant Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Physical Thearapy & Rehabilitation, Bursa, Turkey

STATISTICS EDITOR

Gokhan OCAKOGLU, PhD, Associate Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Biostatistics, Bursa, Turkey

ludag University School of Medicine, Department of Biostatistics, Bursa, Tur

LANGUAGE EDITOR

Nazmi ZENGIN, MD, Professor,

Necmettin Erbakan University School of Medicine, Konya, Turkey

PAGE AND WEB DESIGN EDITOR

Rıza EROKSUZ, MD, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

EDITORIAL ASSISTANT

Ugur BOLUKBAS

INTERNATIONAL EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS

Ahmet KIZILAY, MD Professor, Inönü University School of Medicine, Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Malatya, Turkey Alparslan ERSOY, MD Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Nephrology & Transplantation, Bursa, Turkey Armen Yuri GASPARYAN, MD Associate Professor, University of Birmingham, Department of Medicine, Birmingham, UK Ayse TOPCU AKDUMAN, MD Ataturk State Hospital, Department of Obstetrics & Gynecology, Duzce, Turkey Aron Frederik POPOV, MD Professor, University of Frankfurt, Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Frankfurt, Germany Basar CANDER, MD Professor, Necmettin Erbakan University School of Medicine, Department of Emergency Medicine, Konya, Turkey Canan CELIK, MD Professor, Giresun University School of Medicine, Department of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, Giresun, Turkey Cristina Florescu, MD Associate Professor, University of Craiova, Department of Medicine & Pharmacy, Romania Cuma Bulent GUL, MD Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Nephrology & Transplantation, Bursa, Turkey Demet CANSARAN DUMAN, PhD Assoicate Professor, Ankara University, Department of Biology, Ankara, Turkey Dimitrios GAKIS MD Professor, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Department of General Surgery & Transplantation, Thessaloniki, Greece Elif Ekinci, MD MBBS, FRACP, PhD, University of Melbourne, Department of Medicine, Melbourne, Australia Emel YILMAZ, MD Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Infectious Disease, Bursa, Turkey Emin USTUNYURT, MD Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Obstetrics & Gynecology, Bursa, Turkey Ender GUCLU, MD Professor, Medipol University School of Medicine, Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Istanbul, Turkey Erdem CUBUKCU, MD Associate Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Medical Oncology, Bursa, Turkey Essam M MAHFOUZ, MD Professor, University of Mansoura School of Medicine, Department of Cardiology, Mansoura, Egypt Francesco CARELLI, MD Professor, University of Milan School of Medicine, Department of Family Medicine, Milan, Italy Gary TSE, MD, PhD Assistant Professor, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Department of Medicine and Therapeutics, Hong Kong, China Gulsen KOFRALI, MD Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology & Reanimation, Bursa, Turkey Haci Murat CAYCI, MD, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Bursa, Turkey Hasan ARI, MD. Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Bursa, Turkey Ibrahim TAYMUR, MD, Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Psychiatry, Bursa, Turkey Jelena KORNEL MD University of Leipzig School of Medicine, Department of Cardiology, Leipzig, Germany Kendra J. Grubb, MD, MHA, FACC Assistant Professor, Emory University School of Medicine, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Atlanta, GA, USA Koray AYAR, MD Assistant Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Rheumatology, Bursa, Turkey Kvung-Kuk HWANG, MD Associate Professor, Chungbuk National University School of Medicine, Department of Cardiology, Chungbuk, South Korea Lisa LANGSETMO, PhD Senior Research Associate, University of Minnesota, School of Public Health, Minnesota, United States Metin GUCLU, MD Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Bursa, Turkev Mohammad Rafiq KHANANI, MD, PhD Professor, Dow University of Health Sciences, Department of Pathology & Microbiology, Pakistan Muzaffer DEMIR, MD Professor, Trakya University School of Medicine, Department of Hematology, Edirne, Turkey Nader D NADER, MD Professor, University of Buffalo School of Medicine, Department of Anesthesiology, NY, USA Nagihan SADAY DUMAN, MD Child Psychiatry, Ankara, Turkey Nazmi ZENGIN, MD Professor, Necmettin Erbakan University School of Medicine, Department of Ophthalmology, Konya, Turkey Nesrin COBANOGLU, MD Professor, Gazi University School of Medicine, Department of Medical Ethics and History, Ankara, Turkey Omer Fatih OLMEZ, MD Associate Professor, Medipol University School of Medicine, Department of Medical Oncology, Istanbul, Turkey Omer YALCIN, MD Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Pathology, Bursa, Turkey Ozkan KANAT, MD.

Professor, Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Medical Oncology, Bursa, Turkey

Safa KAPICIOGLU, MD

Professor, Yildirim Bayezid University School of Medicine, Department of Orthopedics & Traumatology, Ankara, Turkey Sait Ait BenAli, MD

Professor, Cadi Ayyad University School of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, Marrakech, Morocco Sedat ALTIN, MD

Professor, University of Health Sciences, Yedikule Training & Research Hospital, Department of Chest Diseases, Istanbul, Turkey

Semih HALEZEROGLU, MD, FETCS

Professor, Acibadem University School of Medicine, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Istanbul, Turkey

Veysel Tahan, MD, FACP, FACG, FESBGH

Assistant Professor, University of Missouri, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Columbia, Missouri, USA

Yasin TEMEL, MD, PhD

Professor, Maastricht University School of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, Maastricht, Netherlands

Yenal DUNDAR, MD

University of Liverpool School of Medicine, Department of Psychiatry, Liverpool, UK

Yüksel ÖZKAN, MD

Professor, University of Heaalth Scinces, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Orthopedics & Traumatology, Bursa, Turkey

Table of Contents

Reviews

Cytokines – major molecular messengers orchestrate between inflammation and cancer	140-144
Shrihari T.G	

Original Articles

Determination of minimum serum concentration to develop scaffold free micro-tissue Ozan Karaman, Ziyşan Buse Yaralı	145-151
The effect of Arnebia purpurea extract on the survival of random pattern skin flaps in rats Erkan Orhan, Merve Yüzbaşıoğlu, Yağmur Reyyan Erol, Erem Bilensoy, Nazlı Erdoğar, Lütfiye Ömür Demirezer, Ayşe Kuruüzüm-Uz	152-156
Effectiveness of trospium chloride and doxazosin mesylate combination in neurogenic bladder patients with spinal cord injury <i>Fazil Kulaklı Kurtulus Köklü Murat Ersöz Zuhal Özisler Canan Culha Sumru Özel</i>	157-161
Open tibial pilon fractures: treatment with ankle-spanning Ilizarov fixator Ercan Şahin, Mahmut Kalem	162-167
Intradiscal electrothermal therapy for chronic discogenic low back pain: a comparison of two heating protocols <i>Korgün Ökmen Burcu Metin Ökmen</i>	168-173
The incidence of musculoskeletal system occupational diseases among tuberculosis laboratory workers <i>Tuğba Gül, Serdar Savaş Gül</i>	174-179
Surgical interventions for autogenous arteriovenous fistula aneurysms in hemodialysis patients Kadir Kaan Özsin, Umut Serhat Sanrı, Nail Kahraman, Faruk Toktaş, Şenol Yavuz	180-186
Can decrease in hand grip strength in carpal tunnel syndrome be explained by interosseous muscle and intermetacarpal space dimensions? <i>Fatma Dilek Gökharman, Selma Uysal Ramadan, Sonay Aydın, Pınar Nercis Koşar</i>	187-192
Is group diabetes education effective on hemoglobin A1c level? Güven Barış Cansu, Bengür Taşkıran, Göknur Yorulmaz, Hülya Doğan, Cevahir Dinçtürk	193-198
Dental students' perceptions on preclinical restorative dentistry course: Biruni University case Muhammet Kerim Ayar	199-204
Correlation between metabolic syndrome disorder and circadian rhythm of physically disabled individuals <i>Müge Arslan</i>	205-210
Clinical presentation of tuberculosis: a nine-year single-center experience Ahmet Cemal Pazarlı, Timur Ekiz, Mehmet Akif Abakay	211-214
Synchronous and antecedent malignancies in patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma Mehmet Çelik, Buket Yılmaz Bülbül, Semra Aytürk, Ahmet Küçükarda, Ebru Taştekin, Nuray Can, Funda Üstün, Yavuz Atakan Sezer, Sibel Güldiken	215-219
Is anemia in children with sleep disordered breathing actually a consequence of chronic disease? Fatih Alper Akcan, Yusuf Dündar, Hümeyra Bayram Akcan, Ahmet Uluat, Derya Cebeci, Mehmet Ali Sungur	220-226

Case Report

Primary cardiac B-cell lymphoma Alper Karakuş, Hasan Arı, Selma Arı, Sencer Çamcı, Ahmet Tütüncü	227-230
Neutropenic enterocolitis and colonic perforation in a patient with breast carcinoma treated with taxane- based chemotherapy: a case report and review of the literature <i>Aslıhan Demirel, Selçuk Kihtir, Gürkan Geceer, Safiye Koçulu, Esin Çevik</i>	231-234
Biceps tendon rupture diagnosed by physical examination and ultrasonography in the emergency department Betül Tiryaki Baştuğ, Berkay Subaşı, Pakize Gözde Gök, Kübra Parpucu, Eşref Genç	235-237
Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma: a rare condition with high proliferation Marzieh Karimi Khezri, M. Özgür Taşkapılıoğlu, Alper Türkkan, Ulviye Yalçınkaya, Ahmet Bekar	238-241
Peripartum type A dissection: a case report Umut Serhat Sanrı, Kadir Kaan Özsin, Faruk Toktaş, Şenol Yavuz	242-244
Re-expansion pulmonary edema after pleurocan catheterization: a case report İbrahim Mungan, Hayriye Cankar Dal, Derya Tatlısuluoğlu Ademoğlu, Büşra Tezcan, Sema Turan	245-247
Celiacomesenteric trunk: a rare case Cihat Tek, Sonay Aydın, Elif Ergün, Pınar Nercis Koşar	248-250
Quadriceps tendon rupture associated with anabolic steroids and growth hormone: a case report Engin Özakın, Cüneyt Çalışır, Muhammed Evvah Karakılıç, Nurdan Acar	251-253
Refractory status epilepticus responding to lidocaine: a case report Gökhan Özer	254-257
Charcot neuroarthropathy of the hand in a diabetic patient after upper extremity trauma <i>Fazıl Kulaklı, Canan Çulha, Seval Akdemir</i>	258-261
A rare complication related to H1N1 infection: Dilated cardiomyopathy Mehmet Türe, Ayfer Gözü Pirinççioğlu, Alper Akın, Hasan Balık, Seçkin İlter, Sercan Yücel Yanmaz	262-265



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

Review

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.347542

Cytokines - major molecular messengers orchestrate between inflammation and cancer

Shrihari T.G

Department of Oral Medicine, Oral Biology and Immunology, Krishna Devaraya College of Dental Sciences and Hospital, Bangalore, Karnataka, India

ABSTRACT

Inflammation is the defensive mechanism against physical or chemical or thermal or infectious agents. Acute inflammation is a protective mechanism against any noxious stimuli by various mediators such as cytokines, chemokines, enzymes, growth factors by inflammatory cells. If the inflammation is aggrevated chronically, smouldering inflammation results in release of inflammatory mediators such as cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, proteolytic enzymes, from innate and adaptive immune cells results in tumor initiation, tumor promotion and tumor progression. Cytokines are intercellular molecular messengers between immune cells and cancer cells, synthesized from immune cells and stromal cells activate transcription factors bring about tumor progression by cell proliferation, cell survival, angiogenesis, genomic instability, epithelial to mesenchymal transition, invasion and metastasis. This article briefs about the role of IL-1, TNF- α , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, TGF- β , and IL-17 cytokines in progression of cancer.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):140-144

Keywords: Interleukin-8, interleukin-10, TNF-a, TGF-β, STAT-3, NF-KB

Introduction

Most of all solid tumors have inflammatory cells and their mediators in their tumor microenvironment. External environmental factors play a very important role in cancer. Inflammatory mediators in tumor microenvironment promote tumor initiation, promotion and progression. Chronic inflammatory conditions induced tumor progression are ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease induced colorectal cancer, hepatitis B and C induced hepatocellular cancer, chronic periodontitis induced oral squamous cell carcinoma, oral potentially premalignant conditions (Lichen planus and oral submucous fibrosis) induced oral squamous cell carcinoma, prostatitis induced prostate cancer, hPV induced oropharyngeal carcinoma and cervical cancer, smoking induced lung carcinoma, gastric cancer associated with chronic gastritis (H. *Pylori*), esophageal cancer associated with Barret's esophagitis, gall bladder carcinoma associated with chronic cholecystitis, endometrial carcinoma associated with endometriosis. Chronic inflammation is considered as a seventh hallmark of cancer.

Interleukins are intercellular messenger molecules discovered in the 1970. Cytokines develop a specific immune response to a target antigen by

Address for correspondence:

Shrihari T.G, Assistant Professor, Krishna Devaraya College of Dental Sciences and Hospital, Department of Oral medicine, Oral Biology and Immunology, Bangalore-562157, Karnataka, India E-mail: drshrihariomr@gmail.com Received: October 28, 2017; Accepted: February 19, 2018; Published Online: March 19, 2018

Copyright © 2018 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy



Figure 1. Cytokines in inflammatory tumor microenvironment are IL-1, TNF- α , TGf- β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10 and IL-17.

communicating cells of the immune system [1, 2].

Interleukins are secreted by immune cells such as CD4 T helper cells, monocytes, macrophages and endothelial cells. They attach to a surface specific cell receptor, triggers a cascade of events in the target cell alters cell behavior. Interleukins also has immunomodulatory functions through maturation, migration, differentiation and adhesion of the cells of the immune system [3].

In inflammatory microenvironment recruit immune cells produce cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, activate transcription factors such as NF- κ B, STAT-3, recruit chemokines, cytokines, prostaglandins activate transcription factors such as NF- κ B, STAT-3, from cancer cells involved in cell proliferation, cell survival, angiogenesis, genomic instability, epithelial to mesenchymal transition, invasion and metastasis. Cytokines are involved in pro-inflammatory or antiinflammatory action depends on cytokine concentrations, expression of cytokine receptor content, state of activation of surrounding cells. They stimulate stromal and immune effector cells at tumor site and enhances cytotoxic effects of immune cells to tumor cells. Recent studies has shown that interleukins have major role in tumor driven molecular mechanism. Tumor as it progress and evolve, they evade by the immune system recognition by recruiting inflammatory cells secretes various cytokines in tumor microenvironment. which in turn stimulates biomarkers such as transcriptional factors involved in induction of EMT (Epithelial to mesenchymal transition) markers, anti-apoptotic molecules and cancer stem cells. Cytokines such as TNF- α , TGF- β , IL-1, IL-8, IL-10, IL-6and IL-17 creates a conducive inflammatory environment of tumor driven immunosuppression, tumor growth and metastasis [4-6] (Figure 1).

Cytokines in tumor microenvironment

Cytokines secreted by immune cells involved in tumor progression by promoting cell proliferation, angiogenesis, genomic instability, cell survival, immunosuppression, invasion and metastasis (Figure 2).

IL-1 is a pleotropic cytokine are of two subtypes IL-1 α and IL-1 β with encoding two separate genes have an identical biological activity through same receptor complex produce by variety of cells such as monocytes, macrophages, keratinocytes and endothelial cells activate T cells and B lymphocytes.



Figure 2. Cytokines secreted by immune cells involved in tumor progression by promoting cell proliferation, angiogenesis, genomic instability, cell survival, immunosuppression, invasion and metastasis.

IL-1 α is localized in cell membrane, cytosol and regulates intracellular microenvironment binds to IL-1R1 expressed in most cell types and responsible for IL-1 transduction. IL-1 β signal is located extracellularly binds to IL-R11 present on neutrophils, monocytes, B lymphocytes and decrease signal transduction of IL-1 produced by human cancer cells. IL-1 β activates NF-_KB a key transcriptional factor, which inturn induce expression of IL-8, TNF- α , VEGF, IL-6 and TGF-β promotes tumor progression in various human cancers. This protein acts through induction of prometastatic genes such as MMPs, angiogenic proteins and growth factors such as VEGF, IL-8, IL-6, TNF- α and TGF- β , further activates MAPK-AP-1, NF-_KB and P13/AKT signaling pathway, promote tumor growth and metastasis in several human tumors such as melanoma, head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, colon, lung and breast cancer [7-9].

IL-6 is a potent inflammatory cytokine, it is a key growth promoting and anti-apoptotic factor, produced mainly by macrophages, dendritic cells, and B lymphocytes as well as fibroblasts, epithelial cells and endothelial cells. IL-6 stimulates target cells via binding to IL-6R activates transcriptional factor STAT3 acts on malignant cells. It also increases VEGF expression involved in angiogenesis, cell proliferation, cell survival, invasion and epithelial to mesenchymal transition in head and neck cancer cells and increasing their metastatic potential in human cancers such as oral squamous cell carcinoma, gastric cancer and multiple myeloma [10-12].

IL-8 is a cytokine produced by macrophages, epithelial cells also known as neutrophil chemotactic factor induced by variety of stimuli are LPS, cytokines such as IL-1, TNF- α and bacterial or viral products. Transcriptional factor such as NF- κ B is an essential for IL-8 expression was dependent on hypoxia, cellular stress, nitric oxide (NO), acidosis, and a potent promoter of angiogenesis, aggressive growth and metastasis in many human cancers such as head and neck cancer, breast, cervical, prostate, colon, gastric, lung, melanoma, brain, mesothelioma, ovarian cancer and hematological malignancies such as AML, CLL and Hodgkin's lymphoma [13-16].

IL-10 is secreted by alternatively activated T cells phenotype (Th2 cells) acts on macrophages, T cells, B cells, monocytes, dendritic cells, granulocytes, and mast cells inhibits antigenic cell presentation, cell maturation and differentiation allowing evasion of immune surveillance by tumor cells and cytokine Shrihari T.G

production acts as immunosuppressive and antiinflammatory role. It inhibits the activation of transcription factor NF- κ B and stimulating STAT3 activation, there by inhibiting pro-inflammatory cytokine production such as TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-12. It has also shown to modulate apoptosis, angiogenesis suppression and pro-tumorigenic effect in cancers such as in B cell lymphoma prognosis is poor, promotes head and neck cancer and Burkitt's lymphoma [17-20].

TNF- α involved in chronic inflammatory diseases induced carcinogenesis by promoting angiogenesis, invasion, tumor progression have been demonstrated. It is produced by tumor and stromal cells or inflammatory cells such as macrophages, T cells, B cells and endothelial cells in tumor microenvironment, promotes cancer cell survival by induction of NF-_KB encoding genes dependent anti-apoptotic molecules such as BCL-2, BCL-XL, surviving, CFLIP, and TRAF1/2. TNF- α dependent tumor promotion based on direct oncogene activation and generation of genotoxic molecules such as reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS), induce mutations, DNA damage and facilitating tumorigenesis. Other actions of TNF-α include immunosuppression of T cell response, cytotoxic activity of macrophages, and promotion of angiogenesis by its ability to cause differentiation of myeloid progenitor cells in to endothelial cells in tumor microenvironment. Pro-tumoral activity of TNF-α mediated via TNFR1 receptor found on tumor and stromal cells, whereas, TNFR2 receptor found on leucocyte infiltrate, stimulating autocrine growth, acting via cross talk between EtK-VEGFR2. TNFalso promotes metastasis by inducing epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT) and found elevated in plasma of patients with advanced cancer, which helps in prognostic purpose in many cancers such as head and neck cancer, lung carcinoma, skin cancer, ovarian cancer [21-23].

TGF- β is a pleotropic immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory cytokine produced by tumor cells, stromal cells, including cancer associated fibroblasts and immune cells such as T cells and macrophages in tumor microenvironment. Paradoxical complex role of TGF- β in tumor is documented, in an early stage of cancer, it acts as a tumor suppressor, promoting apoptosis and inhibiting cell cycle progression through P21 up-regulation and MYC down-regulation. In later stages of tumor it enhances immunosuppression by converting effector T cells in to regulatory T cells (T

Table 1. Role of cytokines in tumor progression

Cytokines	Source	Action
IL-1	Monocytes	Angiogenesis
	Macrophages	Immune suppression
	Endothelial cells	Tumor progression
	Neutrophils	
TNF-α	Macrophages	Genetic mutation
	Mast cells	Immune suppression
	T and B cells	Angiogenesis
		Invasion and metastasis
IL-6	Dendritic cell	Cell proliferation
	Macrophages	Cell survival
	B-Iymphocytes	
IL-8	Macrophages	Angiogenesis
IL-10	Mast cell	Immune suppression
	Macrophages	Cell survival
	Monocytes	Cell proliferation
	Dendritic cells	
	Granulocytes	
	T and B cells	
TGF-β	T cells	Epithelial mesenchymal
	Carcinoma associated fibroblasts	Transition (EMT)
	Tumor cells	Immune suppression
	Macrophages	
IL-17	Macrophages	Immune suppression
	Mastr cells	Chronic inflammation
		Angiogenesis
		Tumor progression

reg), tumor invasion and metastasis by inducing epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) through Smad, Slug and snail transcription factors. TGF- β receptor mutation or deletion leading to poor prognosis in cancers such as oral squamous cell carcinoma, colorectal, gastric, prostate, non-small cell lung, breast, bladder cancer [24-26].

IL-17 is a pleiotropic, procarcinogenic cytokine is a subtype of CD4 T cells produced by CD4 Th17 cells, expressed by tumor associated macrophages involved in tumor progression, induced by IL-23 proinflammatory cytokine in tumor microenvironment. It is involved in promoting inflammation and angiogenesis by production of TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-1 β induced activation of STAT3 and NF-KB transcription factors, promotes tumor progression in human carcinomas such as oral squamous cell carcinoma, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, breast, colon, gastric, hepatocellular, melanoma, ovarian, pancreatic, prostate, renal cell, and small cell lung cancer [27-30] (Table1).

Conclusion and Future Perspective

Chronic inflammation promotes tumor initiation and progression by releasing inflammatory mediators such as cytokines (IL-1,IL-6, IL-10, TGF- β , IL-8 and TNF- α) from innate and adaptive immune cells. Cytokines are chemical mediators, which acts as a messenger between immune, cancer and stromal cells to bring about cell proliferation, cell survival, immunosuppression, genomic instability, angiogenesis, invasion and metastasis by activating transcriptional factors such as (NF- κ B, STAT3, HIF-1 α). It acts as a biological markers, therapeutic target and prognostic markers in cancers. So, thorough understanding of cytokines, their role, and interaction with cancer cells needed for future perpective. Understanding of interaction of cytokines with immune cells, stroma and cancer cells in tumor microenvironment, their signaling pathway, role in tumor progression, helps in future diagnostic, therapeutic and prognostic purpose.

Conflict of interest

The author disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The author disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank our institute colleagues for their support.

Abbreviations

HGF = hepatic growth factor, VEGF = vascular endothelial growth factor, MMP-9 = matrix metaloproteinases-9, NO = nitric oxide, ROS = reactive oxygen species, PDGF = platelet derived growth factor, EGF = epidermal growth factor, FGF = fibroblast growth factor, TNF-· = tumor necrosis factor-alfa, IFN- β = interferon-beta, IL-10 = interleukin 10, TGF- β = transforming growth factorbeta, PGE2 = prostaglandin E2, IDO = indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase, IL-2 = interleukin-2, IL-4 = interleukin-4, IL-6 = interleukin-6, IFN- γ = interferongamma, COX2 = cyclo-oxygenase 2, NF-KB = Neuclear factor kappa B, IL-17 = interleukin-17, CD4+Th17 = CD4+T helper lymphocyte 17, STAT3 = signal transducer and activator of transcription 3, bFGF = basic fibroblast growth factor, MMPS = matrix metallo proteinases, HIF-1 \cdot = hypoxiainducible factor-alfa. Treg cell = T regulatory cell, TAM = tumor associated macrophages, AP-1 = activator protein 1, EMT = epithelial mesenchymal transition, MAPK = mitogen-activated protein kinase, P13k = phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, IL-8 = interleukin-8, LPS = lipopolysaccharide, Th2 cell = Thelper 2 cell, IL-1 = interleukin-1

References

[1] Landskron G, De la Fuente M, Thuwajit P, Thuwajit C, Hermoso MA. Chronic inflammation and cytokines in the tumor microenvironment. J Immunol Res 2014;2014:149185.

[2] Amedei A, Prisco D, D' Elios MM. The use of cytokines and chemokines in the cancer immunotherapy. Recent Pat Anticancer Drug Discov 2013;8:126-42.

[3] Sadaf EZ. Role of inflammatory cytokines in inflammation and cancer. J Public Health Biological Sci 2013;2:173-82.

[4] Lee S, Margolin K. Cytokines in cancer immunotherapy. Cancers (Basel) 2011;3:3856-93.

[5] Anestakis D, Petanidis S, Kalyvas S, Nday CM, Tsave O, Kioseoglou E, et al. Mechanisms and applications of interleukins in cancer immunotherapy. Int J Mol Sci 2015;16:1691-710.

[6] Burkholder B, Huang RY, Burgess R, Luo S, Jones VS, Zhang W, et al. Tumor-induced perturbation of cytokines and immune cell networks. Biochim Biophys Acta 2014;1845:182-201.

[7] Hanahan D, Coussens LM. Accessories to the crime: functions of cells recruited to the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Cell 2012;21:309-22.

[8] Paltridge JL, Belle L, Khew-Goodall Y. The secretome in cancer progression. Biochi Biophys Acta 2013;1834:2233-41.

[9] Zhong Z, Sanchez-Lopez E, Karin M. Autophagy, inflammation, and immunity: a Troika governing cancer and its treatment. Cell 2016;166:288-98.

[10] Haabeth OA, Bogen B, Corthay A. A model for cancer suppressive inflammation. Oncoimmunology 2012;1:1146-56.

[11] Pages F, Galon J, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Tartour E, Sautes-Fridman C, Fridman WH. Immune infiltration in human tumors: a prognostic factor that should not be ignored. Oncogene 2010;29:1093-102.

[12] Schetter AJ, Heegaard NH, Harris CC. Inflammation and cancer: interweaving microRNA, free radical, cytokine and p53 pathways. Carcinogenesis 2010;31:37-49.

[13] Fridman WH, Pages F, Sautes-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumors: Impact on clinical outcome. Nat Rev Cancer 2012;12:298-396.

[14] Senovilla L, Vacchelli E, Galon J, Adjemian S, Eggermont A, Fridman WH, et al. Trial watch: Prognostic and predictive value of the immune infiltrate in cancer. Oncoimmunology 2012;1:1323-43.

[15] Shalapour S, Karin M. Immunity, inflammation, and cancer: an eternal fight between good and evil. J Clin Invest 2015;125:3347-55.

[16] Alvaliotis IL, Pateras IS, Papaioannou M, Glytsou C, Kontzoglou K, Johnson EO, et al. How do cytokines trigger genomic instability? J Biomed Biotechnol 2012;2012:536761.

[17] Vesely MD, Kershaw MH, Schreiber RD, Smith MJ. Natural innate and adaptive immunity to cancer. Annu Rev Immunol 2011;29:235-71. [18] Meulmeester E, Ten Dijke P. The dynamic roles of TGF- β in cancer. J Pathol 2011;223:205-18.

[19] Shrihari TG, Vasudevan V, Manjunath V, Devaraju D. Potential corelation between chronic periodontitis and cancer - an emerging concept. Gulf J Oncolog 2016;1:20-4.

[20] Korniluk A, Koper O, Kemona H, Dymicka-Piekarska V. From inflammation to cancer. Ir J Med Sci 2017;186:57-62.

[21] Carmeliet P, Jain RK. Molecular mechanisms and clinical applications of angiogenesis. Nature 2011;473:298-307.

[22] Tecchio C, Scapini P, Pizzolo G, Cassatella MA. On the cytokines produced by human neutrophils in tumors. Semin Cancer Biol 2013;23:159-70.

[23] Chai EZ, Siveen KS, Shanmugam MK, Arfuso F, Sethi G. Analysis of the intricate relationship between chronic inflammation and cancer. Biochem J 2015;468:1-15.

[24] Wilke CM, Kryczek I, Wei S, Zhao E, Wu K, Wang G, et al. Th17 cells in cancer; help or hindrance? Carcinogenesis 2011;32:643-9.

[25] Zhang L, Feng D, Yu LX, Tsung K, Norton JA. Preexisting antitumor immunity augments the antitumor effects of chemotherapy. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2013;62:1061-71.

[26] Chimal-Ramirez GK, Espinoza-Sanchez NA, Fuentes-Panama EM. Protumor activities of the immune response: insights in the mechanisms of immunological shift, oncotraining, and oncopromotion. J Oncol 2013;2013:835956.

[27] Marata M, Thanan R, Ma N, Kawanishi S. Role of nitrative and oxidative DNA damage in inflammation-related carcinogenesis. J Biomed Biotechnol 2012;2012:623019.

[28] Shrihari TG. Dual role of inflammatory mediators in cancer. Ecancermedicalscience 2017;11:721.

[29] Lippitz BE. Cytokine patterns in patients with cancer: a systematic review. Lancet Oncol 2013;14:218-28.

[30] Diakowska D. Cytokines association with clinical and pathological changes in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Dis Markers 2013;35:883-93.



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

Original Article

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.342109

Determination of minimum serum concentration to develop scaffold free micro-tissue

Ozan Karaman, Ziyşan Buse Yaralı

Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine Laboratory, Department of Biomedical Engineering, İzmir Katip Çelebi University, 35620 İzmir, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective. Formation of three-dimensional (3D) micro-tissues without scaffolds are widely used not only to define in vivo tissue formation mechanisms but also the development of different tissue-specific drugs. However, depending on high serum and growth factor concentrations, it would be hard to identify major effective biological cues on micro-tissue formation. The aim of the study is to determine the effect of different serum concentrations on Human Umbilicial Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVECs) micro-tissue formation. *Methods.* Micro-tissue of HUVEC line was formed by using 3D petri dish technique with medium containing 0%, 1%, 5% and 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS). On the 7th day after micro-tissue formation, live/dead cells analysis was conducted. Micrograph taken on days 1, 3, 5 and 7th of micro-tissue formation were determined by image analysis with ImageJ. Results. Sizes of micro-tissue formed with 0% FBS on day 1 and 3 determined as $277 \pm 12 \ \mu\text{m}$ and $279 \pm 20 \ \mu\text{m}$, respectively; however, especially on day 7 micro-tissue size significantly decreased to $229 \pm 6 \,\mu\text{m}$. When live/dead analysis results were examined, high cell viability was observed in 5% and 10% FBS concentration. Although micro-tissue like structures were observed in 0% and 1% FBS concentrations dead cell ratio considerably increased compared to 5% and 10% FBS concentration. Conclusions. It has been determined that 0% and 1% serum are appropriate for determining the efficacy of biomimetic peptides and different extracellular matrix proteins on micro-tissue formation parameters of HUVEC. High cell viability in micro-tissues was observed with 5% and 10% serum concentrations.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):145-151

Keywords: micro-tissue, three-dimensional cell culture, serum concentration

Introduction

Cell based *in vitro* evaluation techniques including drug diffusion, drug toxicity and release kinetics of controlled drug delivery constructs are substantial to identify the physiological processes and treatments of disease. Moreover, three-dimensional (3D) tissue formation characteristics of mainly vascularized tissues requires extensive exploration to investigate the characteristics of such tissue formation in micro scale [1]. The common issue in between understanding the tissue formation characteristics for regenerative

Address for correspondence:

Ozan Karaman, PhD., Assistant Professor of Biomedical Engineering, İzmir Katip Çelebi University, Faculty of Engineering and Architecture, Rm 148, 35620 İzmir, Turkey, E-mail: ozan.karaman@ikc.edu.tr, Tel: +90 (232) 329-3535/3765, Fax: +90 (232) 325-3360 Received: October 6, 2017; Accepted: December 2, 2017; Published Online: December 11, 2017

medicine and drug evaluations is the necessity of a designed structure that ideally mimics *in vivo* tissue constructs. Since all tissue formations occurs in 3D where cell-cell signaling, and cell-extracellular matrix interactions govern the tissue formation, it would be hard to estimate tissue formation characteristics and drug toxicity evaluations by two-dimensional (2D) culture methods. Therefore, development of 3D scaffold free human micro-tissues is a vital importance for pharmaceutical evaluations and tissue engineering [2, 3].

Regenerative medicine mostly relies on developing engineered 3D tissue constructs on predesigned scaffolds. However, due to the lack of essential biological cues in pre-designed scaffolds, tissue regeneration is negatively affected. To overcome this limitation, scaffold-free approach in which 3D micro-tissue is developed through cells own extracellular matrix has been widely used to ideally mimic in vivo tissue formation [4]. Comparing the conventional 3D scaffolding approach, self-assembly of cells into micro-tissue structures allows interactions among cells and extracellular matrix secretion without requirement of additional matrix material [5]. Scaffold-free approach can effectively overcome the limitations caused by scaffolding materials such as adequately mimicking the natural extracellular matrix, limited cell-cell communication, non-matching remodeling and degradation profile [6, 7].

Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells (HUVECs) are considered promising cell sources for their capacity to differentiate into endothelial cells and high proliferation rate. Vascularization is a key process in engineering of 3D thick micro-tissues structures to prevent cell death due to the limited diffusion capacity of oxygen and nutrients [8]. For instance, Dissanayaka et al. [9] successfully developed vascularized dental pulp scaffold-free 3D micro-tissue that ideally mimics the cellular microenvironment of dental pulp cells. Micro-tissue formation in micro levels generally requires rich protein and growth factor concentration. Serum as media supplements is the major source of proteins and growth factors. The most common type of serum used in scaffold-free micro-tissue formation is fetal bovine serum (FBS) [10, 11]. However, the media that contains high serum and growth factor concentrations, it would be hard to identify different parameters such as proteins, cell-cell interaction and biomimetic peptides that are functional on microtissue formation. In addition, in drug discovery studies serum-drug reaction might occur which inhibits exploring the effect of discovered drug molecules [12,

13]. Therefore, the aim of the study is to determine the effect of FBS concentrations on scaffold-free microtissue formation by using HUVECs. The effect of FBS concentration on scaffold-free micro-tissue formation was investigated by measuring the sizes of microtissues and live/dead cell assay. Determining the minimal FBS content that allows initial micro-tissue formation could potentially be used for vascular tissue engineering and drug discovery studies.

Methods

Cell Culture

HUVEC line passage five was taken from Ege University Bioengineering Department Tissue Engineering and Animal Cell Culture Laboratory and used in all experiments. HUVEC were cultured with EBM (Endothelium Cell Basal Medium, Lonza, Allendale. NJ, USA) medium which includes 10% FBS (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, USA), 1% penicilin-streptavidin, and 1% L-Glutamine (Genaxxon BioScience, Ulm, Germany). The media was changed every 2 days and cells were passaged when reached 80% confluency. Six micro-tissues were formed for each of 0%, 1%, 5% and 10% FBS experimental groups. Micrographs of six different micro-tissues were captured at day 1, 3, 5, and 7 by fluorescent microscopy. (CX41, Olympus, Germany) to analyze the average diameters of micro-tissues by using the ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA http:// www.rsb.info.nih.gov/ij).

Fabrication of 3D Cell Culture

Micro-tissues by using HUVECs were fabricated with 3D petri dish in 24 well plate (Sigma, MicroTissues, Inc, USA) (Figure 1A-D). 330 μ l agarose was added into autoclaved petri dishes by using aseptic technique in sterile cabin. Gelled agarose was cautiously put into 24 well plate. The agarose was incubated minimum 30 min with 500 μ l medium. After incubation, medium removed and HUVECs were added 12.000 cells in 75 μ l. After one hour once the cells precipitated due to gravity into the micro-wells, EBM was added with 500 μ l in different serum concentration.

Live and Dead Analysis

Double Staining Kit (Dojindo, Molecular Technologies, Inc, Japan) was used to show cell viability in micro-tissues. The medium was carefully



Figure 1. Fabrication of scaffold free micro-tissue. (a) 3D Micro-tissue fabrication plastic mould, (b) Mould filled with agarose, (c) 3D Petri dish of agarose gel separated from the mould, (d) Final 3D Petri dish, (e) Low $(3\times)$ and (f) high $(20\times)$ magnification of developed micro-tissues with 10% FBS containing media, (g) A representative micrograph of the LIVE/DEAD assay of micro-tissues with 10% FBS containing media. FBS = fetal bovine serum.

removed from the agarose and then washed 3 times with PBS. Stock solution was prepared by using 1 mmol/L solution A-green (Calcein-AM/DMSO) and 1.5 mmol/L solution B-red (PI (Propidium iodide) /purified water) in sterile PBS. After incubation for 15 min at 37°C in dark environment, the solution was removed. The micro-tissues were washed 5 times with PBS to prevent unspecific staining. The micrographs were taken by fluoresent microscope. Green dye represents living cells and red dye symbolizes dead cells. Both live and dead cell images were taken separately and then merged with CellSense Entry software (Olympus, Germany). Live&Dead assay was performed on three micro-tissues for each experimental group. Fluorescence pixel intensities for each group were measured by Image J and presented as mean fluorescence pixel intensity \pm Standard Error.

Statistical Analysis

All data were expressed as mean \pm standard error and were statistically analysed by one-way ANOVA (SPSS 12.0, SPSS GmbH, Germany) and the Student-Newman-Keuls method as a post hoc test. Significant differences between groups were determined at *p* values at least less than 0.05.

Results

The micro-tissues different with FBS concentration were developed by using 3D petri dish technique as explained in methods section (Figures 1A, 1B, 1C and 1D). The low and high magnifications micrographs of 3D micro-tissues developed after 7 days of culture with 10% FBS included media were presented in Figures 1E and 1F. As depicted from the figure, micro-tissue formation successfully occurred with the initial cell concentration of 12,000 cells in 75 μl. It was also observed that cell viability is quite high in micro-tissues formed with 10% FBS included media (Figure 1G).

Early micro-tissue formation response of the monodispersed cells in 0%, 1%, 5%, and 10% FBS concentrations are presented in Figures 2A, 2B, 2C, and 2D, respectively. The average diameters of micro-tissue like constructs for 0%, 1%, 5%, and 10% FBS at day 1 are $277.1 \pm 12.4 \mu m$, $287.6 \pm 16.1 \mu m$, $294.7 \pm 7.9 \mu m$, and $302.2 \pm 2.2 \mu m$, respectively. There was no statistically significant difference among the different FBS containing groups. Micro-tissue micrographs at day 7 for 0%, 1%, 5%, and 10% FBS concentrations are presented in Figures 3A, 3B, 3C, and 3D, respectively. The average diameters of micro-tissue like constructs for 0%, 1%, 5%, and 10% FBS



Figure 2. Micrographs of developed micro-tissues with 0% (a), 1% (b), 5% (c), and 10% (d) FBS containing media at day 1. FBS = fetal bovine serum. Scale bar represents 100 μ m size.

at day 1, 3, 5, and 7 are given in Figure 4. The average diameter at day 7 for 0%, 1%, 5%, and 10% FBS micro-tissue groups were measured as $229.4 \pm 12.4 \mu m$, $310.9 \pm 16.1 \mu m$, $332.4 \pm 7.9 \mu m$, $368.5 \pm 9.3 \mu m$,

respectively. It was observed that at day 5 and 7 the average diameter of the 10% FBS micro-tissue is significantly larger than 0% FBS (p < 0.001). Moreover, at day 5 and 7, 1% and 5% FBS micro-



Figure 3. Micrographs of developed micro-tissues with 0% (a), 1% (b), 5% (c), and 10% (d) FBS containing media at day 7. FBS = fetal bovine serum. Scale bar represents 100 μ m size..

tissue groups also formed significantly larger microtissues compared to 0% FBS group (p < 0.01). At day 3 the only significant difference was observed between 10% FBS group and 0% FBS group (p < 0.05). The results also indicated that the size of micro-tissues formed in 5% and 10% of FBS gradually increased from day 1 to day 7. However, the size of microtissues formed in 1% FBS group decreased from 5 days to 7 days. In addition, for 0% FBS group, the size of the micro-tissues continuously decreased from day 3 to day 7.

The fluorescent microscopy images showing the live and dead cells for experimental groups of 0%, 1%,



Figure 4. Effect of 0%, 1%, 5%, and 10% FBS containing media on the size of the micro-tissues at 1, 3, 5, and 7 day. FBS = fetal bovine serum, p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.001.

5%, and 10% FBS at day 7 were shown in Figures 5A, 5B, 5C, and 5D, respectively. Due to the thickness of micro-tissues, fluorescence microscopy images seem partially blurry. Mean fluorescence pixel intensity values for 0%, 1%, 5%, and 10% FBS groups were measured as green (G): 12.1 ± 3.2 , red (R): 27.9 ± 4.4 ; G: 27.9 ± 4.4 , R: 12.2 ± 2.9 ; G: 50.3 ± 5.6 , R: $4.2 \pm$ 1.4; G: 72.9 ± 9.2 , R: 3.3 ± 1.2 , respectively. The higher cell viability was observed in 10% FBS concentration. For instance, 10% FBS constructs revealed highest green intensity with limited red intensity. Decreasing the FBS concentration to 5% and 1%, red color intensity was increased significantly (p < 0.01). However, no significant difference was observed when serum concentration decreased from 10% to 5 %. Furthermore, 0% FBS micro-tissues showed highest red color intensity with lowest green intensity at day 7.

Discussion

Scaffolds usage for developing 3D micro-tissues generally fails to mimic the required functions of the natural ECM. Additionally, cell-scaffold interaction often inhibits cell-cell communications that has a major function on 3D tissue formation. Scaffold-free micro-tissue development studies have become a strong alternative to the use of synthetic scaffolds and mostly focus on understanding the mechanisms of in vivo like tissue formation to further investigate either discovered drugs or tissue engineering purposes [14]. Micro-tisseues that can be grown in serum-free or as less as possible serum supplemented media could be identical for eliciting the response of drugs or biomimetic peptides to the cell line. The reason of that drug molecules have high potential to interact with the protein structures that are in the content of serum. Besides, since it is not clearly defined whole type of proteins and their concentrations in serum, it would be even harder to predict which protein causes inhibition of drug molecules if micro-tissues are tissues are intended to use in drug or biomimetic peptides effectiveness tests [15]. It was previously shown that scaffold-free micro-tissue formation led self-assembly of cells into micro-tissue by secreting their own ECM without a synthetic scaffold. Scaffold-free microtissue formation mostly requires high protein concentration to self-assemble of the cells. The main protein source in cell culture media is FBS. FBS is defined as a natural cocktail that contains most of the required factors for micro-tissue formation. However, not fully characterized and batch-to-batch variation, biosafety aspects, and limited availability characteristics limit the usage of FBS in cell culture application [16]. Furthermore, due to the not fully characterized rich content of FBS, effect of individual parameters such as different extracellular matrix proteins, biomimetic peptides, and growth factors on micro-tissue formation cannot be determined if microtissue formation occurs in the presence of FBS. Therefore, the present study examined the effect of FBS concentration on scaffold-free micro tissue formation. Moreover, this study also showed the



Figure 5. Viability of cells within the micro-tissues for 0% (a), 1% (b), 5% (c), and 10% (d) FBS groups was examined on day 7 (green: LIVE cells, red: DEAD cells) (20×). Scale bar represents 100 μ m size. FBS = fetal bovine serum.

minimal required FBS concentration to develop scaffold-free micro-tissues and effect of FBS concentration on cell viability during micro-tissue formation.

The micro-tissue development was successfully performed by 3D petri dish protocol as explained in the methods section. Micro-molded agarose guides spontaneous self-assembly of HUVECs into 3D spheroids which also can be called microtisseues [17]. High FBS content 10% of culture media used as a positive control in this study. The micrographs shown in Figures 1E and F confirms in vitro 3D micro-tissue formation. As depicted from figure 1G, cell viability was quite high when 10% FBS concentration was used. Similarly, it was previously reported that 10% FBS usage in cell culture media resulted with spherical micro-tissue formation with high cell viability. Figure 2 represents the initial micro-tissue like formations on day 1 after the culture initiated. The average sizes of the constructs were quite close and no significant difference was observed among the 0%, 1%, 5% and 10% FBS groups. Such results can be explained as on day 1, HUVECs self-assembled into micro-tissue like constructs but the proliferation phase has not started. Since the initial cell numbers for each group was similar, it was meaningful to reach similar size of the constructs.

Micro-tissue size assessment with time data also confirms that at early time points FBS concentration was not a vital issue; however, at day 5 and 7 it was clearly observed that with 0% and 1% FBS groups showed decreased size of the micro-tissue. Although the micro-tissue formation completely disturbed after 3 days, early time points of the culture data revealed that initially micro-tissue like constructs were selfassembled even with 0% and 1% of FBS. Similar to our results, Dissanayaka et al. [9] observed significant increase on micro-tissue diameter from day 3 to day 7 when cultured in 10% FBS supplemented EGM media. One possible explanation for such trend could be the limited proliferation of cultured HUVECs with limited protein sources. Similarly, live/dead staining assay was also confirmed that 0% and 1% FBS groups demonstrated high number of dead cells in microtissues. As depicted from Figure 5, 5% and 10% FBS supported healthy micro-tissue formation with high ratio of live cells. These results were in agreement with Sanz-Nogués and O'Brien [18] where they indicated the requirement of using low FBS concentrations to understand the vascularization of endothelial cells even in 2D culture. Furthermore, Rouwkema and Khademhosseini [14] also suggested

that biological cues that guides the vascularization process in tissue engineered scaffolds needs to clearly identified to understand major factors in vascularization. Taken together, recent results clearly showed that HUVECs initiated micro-tissue like formation even with limited FBS concentration at early time points; however, proliferation was significantly affected from the absence of required proteins in the culture. Therefore, addition of the biological cues such as individual growth factors and bioactive peptide structures into the culture that does not include FBS to understand vascularization process of scaffold-free micro-tissues could guide the vascular tissue engineering society.

Conclusions

In summary, the present study described the effect of FBS concentration on in vitro development of scaffold-free micro-tissue. The results confirmed that micro-tissue formation and cellular viability are directly related to the FBS concentration. The concentration of required proteins in FBS play vital role in cell viability and growth of micro-tissue. Furthermore, since the aim of the study is to clarify the minimum FBS content supplemented media to grow micro-tissues, due to the successful development of micro-tissues in 0% and 1% FBS groups, such concentration could be identical for determining the efficacy of biomimetic peptides and different extracellular matrix proteins on micro-tissue formation parameters of HUVEC. High cell viability in microtissues was observed with 5% and 10% serum concentration.

Authorship declaration

All authors listed meet the authorship criteria according to the latest guidelines of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors, and all authors are in agreement with the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript. The authors alone are responsible for the content and writing of this article.

Ethical Statement

There are no animal experiments carried out for this article.

Acknowledgements

Authors acknowledge funding from BAP (Scientific Research Projects Fund of Izmir Katip Çelebi University) through the Research Projects 2017-TYL-FEBE-0044 and 2016-ÖDL-MÜMF-0008.

References

[1] Matsusaki M, Case CP, Akashi M. Three-dimensional cell culture technique and pathophysiology. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2014;74:95-103.

[2] Michelini E, Cevenini L, Mezzanotte L, Coppa A, Roda A. Cell-based assays: fuelling drug discovery. Anal Bioanal Chem 2010;398:227-38.

[3] Drewe J, Cai SX. Cell-based apoptosis assays in oncology drug discovery. Expert Opin Drug Discov 2010;5:583-96.

[4] Vogel V, Baneyx G. The tissue engineering puzzle: a molecular perspective. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2003;5:441-63.

[5] Rosa V, Zhang Z, Grande R, Nör J. Dental pulp tissue engineering in fulllength human root canals. J Dent Res 2013;92:970-5.

[6] Kelm JM, Fussenegger M. Microscale tissue engineering using gravityenforced cell assembly. Trends Biotechnol. 2004;22:195-202.

[7] Kelm JM, Djonov V, Ittner LM, Fluri D, Born W, Hoerstrup SP, et al. Design of custom-shaped vascularized tissues using microtissue spheroids as minimal building units. Tissue Eng 2006;12:2151-60.

[8] Rouwkema J, Rivron NC, van Blitterswijk CA. Vascularization in tissue engineering. Trends Biotechnol 2008;26:434-41.

[9] Dissanayaka W, Zhu L, Hargreaves K, Jin L, Zhang C. Scaffold-free prevascularized microtissue spheroids for pulp regeneration. J Dent Res 2014;93:1296-303.

[10] Mendicino M, Bailey AM, Wonnacott K, Puri RK, Bauer SR. MSC-based product characterization for clinical trials: an FDA perspective. Cell Stem Cell 2014;14:141-5.

[11] Karnieli O, Friedner OM, Allickson JG, Zhang N, Jung S, Fiorentini D, et al. A consensus introduction to serum replacements and serum-free media for cellular therapies. Cytotherapy 2017;19:155-69.

[12] Yu M, Bardia A, Aceto N, Bersani F, Madden MW, Donaldson MC, et al. Cancer therapy. Ex vivo culture of circulating breast tumor cells for individualized testing of drug susceptibility. Science 2014;345:216-20.

[13] Kim CS, Mout R, Zhao Y, Yeh Y-C, Tang R, Jeong Y, et al. Co-delivery of protein and small molecule therapeutics using nanoparticle-stabilized nanocapsules. Bioconjug Chem 2015;26:950-4.

[14] Rouwkema J, Khademhosseini A. Vascularization and angiogenesis in tissue engineering: beyond creating static networks. Trends Biotechnol 2016;34:733-45.

[15] Karaman O, Onak G, Demirci EA, Kahraman E. Integrin binding peptide promotes in vitro wound closure in the L929 mouse fibroblasts. Eur Res J 2017;3:207-13.

[16] Gstraunthaler G, Lindl T, van der Valk J. A plea to reduce or replace fetal bovine serum in cell culture media. Cytotechnology 2013;65:791-3.

[17] Napolitano AP, Dean DM, Man AJ, Youssef J, Ho DN, Rago AP, et al. Scaffold-free three-dimensional cell culture utilizing micromolded nonadhesive hydrogels. Biotechniques 2007;43:494-500.

[18] Sanz-Nogués C, O'Brien T. In vitro models for assessing therapeutic angiogenesis. Drug Discov Today 2016;21:1495-503.



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

Original Article

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.335550

The effect of *Arnebia purpurea* extract on the survival of random pattern skin flaps in rats

Erkan Orhan¹, Merve Yüzbaşıoğlu², Yağmur Reyyan Erol³, Erem Bilensoy⁴, Nazlı Erdoğar⁴, Lütfiye Ömür Demirezer², Ayşe Kuruüzüm-Uz²

¹Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Namık Kemal University School of Medicine, Tekirdağ, Turkey ²Department of Department of Pharmacognosy, Hacettepe University Faculty of Pharmacy, Ankara, Turkey ³Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Eskişehir State Hospital, Eskişehir, Turkey ⁴Department of Pharmaceutical Technology, Hacettepe University Faculty of Pharmacy, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. One of the important causes of flap losses is ischemia-reperfusion damage. Arnebia species are rich in naphthoquinone derivatives which known to have anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant effects. The aim of the present study was to investigate the effects of Arnebia purpurea extract on viability of the skin flaps. **Methods.** Eighteen Wistar rats were divided in three groups. Caudal-based 9×3 cm size skin flap was applied on dorsum of the all rats and following surgery, 2 cc of A. purpurea extract topically was applied to the group 1 and 2 cc of 0.2% Nitrofurazon cream topically was applied to the group 2, daily. The Group 3 only received flap surgery (control group). Seven days later, all subjects were euthanatized and necrosis rate in their flaps was calculated and compared to each other. **Results.** The necrosis rate was calculated as $20.25\% \pm 1.59\%$ in Group 1, $32.05\% \pm 2.23\%$ in the Group 2 and $37.33\% \pm 4.12\%$ in the Group 3. It was found that necrosis rate in the Group 1 was statistically significantly less than Groups 2 and 3 (p < 0.001) and that difference in necrosis rate between Group 2 and Group 3 was not statistically significant (p > 0.05). **Conclusion.** Necrosis of skin flaps was reduced through topical application of A. purpurea extract.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):152-156

Keywords: Arnebia purpurea, skin flaps, necrosis, naphthoquinones, plant extracts

Introduction

The flaps have been used for repair of tissue defects and partial or complete tissue loss still remains as an important problem despite technological advanced in time and advanced techniques. One of the important causes of flap losses is ischemia-reperfusion damage. Ischemia is a condition during which part of a certain tissue receives insufficient blood supply [1].

If ischemia lasts longer than the tissue tolerates then necrosis occurs. If reperfusion is achieved before necrosis occurs, several physiopathological events occur which are first reversible and then become irreversible as a consequence of continuing condition, leading to so-called ischemia-reperfusion (I-R) damage. Main reason for I-R damage is reactive

Address for correspondence:

Abdullah Erkan Orhan, MD., Assistant Professor, Namık Kemal University School of Medicine, Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, 59030 Tekirdağ, Turkey E-mail: eorhan@yahoo.com Fax: +90 282 2509928 Received: Averet 21, 2017; Assented, December 8, 2017; Published Online: December 22, 2017

Received: August 21, 2017; Accepted: December 8, 2017; Published Online: December 23, 2017

oxygen species and inflammation [2].

Many pharmacological agents such as sympatholytics, vasodilators, prostaglandin inhibitors, glucocorticoids, anti-coagulant, and free radical scavenging agents have been used experimentally to ischemia and I-R damage to the skin flaps and flap viability but no clinically usable method has been developed for this purpose so far [3, 4].

Chemicals found in nature have been used for therapeutic purposes since ancient times. Despite competition from other drug discovery methods, natural products are still providing their fair share of new clinical candidates and drugs. Natural products are still a significant source of new drugs, especially for anticancer, antimicrobial, and antihypertensive therapies [5].

Alkanna in Europe and North Africa, Lithospermum in far-east and Arnebia in Anatolia has been used for centuries in traditional medicine [6]. All of them are members of Boraginaceae family and roots of the plants in Boraginaceae family are rich in naphthoquinone [7]. Naphthoquinone are used by industry as drug and food dye [8]. Naphthoquinone derivatives, Shikonin (R-configuration) and its enantiomer alkannin (S-configuration) has been shown to have wide variety of biological properties including accelerated wound healing, anti-oxidant, anti-bacterial, anti-fungal, anti-viral, antiinflammatory anti-tumor effects [9-13]. , Previously we showed that the roots of Arnebia purpurea which is one of the Boraginaceae family member in Turkey contain high amounts of naphthoquinones [14]. Our hypothesis is the roots of A. purpurea which contain high amounts of naphthoquinones may reduce I-R damage on flap by anti-oxidant effects. In this study, we aimed to demonstrate the effects of A. purpurea's root extract on viability of the skin flaps.

Methods

Approval was taken for the present study from the University Local Ethics Committee for the Experimental Animals. The study was conducted in the Production and Research Laboratories for Experimental Animals of University. Eighteen female Wistar Albino rats weighting between 250 and 350 grams produced in the Production and Research Laboratories for Experimental Animals of University. There are no differences on weight measurements of animals in the groups. The rats were housed in appropriate cages at 20°C and under 12 hours of light and dark periods. The animals were kept in separate cages in order to keep them from harming to each other prior to the surgical procedure. All rats were fed on standard rat food and no water restriction was applied.

Preparation of the extract of A. purpurea Plant Material

The roots of *A. purpurea* were collected from Taşkent, Konya, Turkey. The plant was collected, identified and authenticated by Prof. Dr. H. D. and Dr. B. B (Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Gazi University). A voucher specimen (No 3765) has been deposited in Faculty of Science, Gazi University.

Preparation of Plant Extract

The dried and powdered roots of *A. purpurea* (300 g) were extracted with n-hexane (3×500 ml, 40° C). Each extract was collected and evoporated under reduced pressure at a temperature below 40° C to yield dark red viscous residue (*A. purpurea*, 8.5 g).

Preparation of Cold Cream Formulation

n-hexane extract from the root of A. purpurea, was used as 1% concentration which was dissolved in cold cream. The cream formulation was prepared briefly as follows; 12.5 g cetyl esters wax, 12.5 g white wax, 56 g mineral oil, 0.5 g sodium borate and 19 g purified water were accurately weighed to obtain about 100 g cold cream formulation. Cetyl esters wax and white wax were reduced to small pieces and melted on a steam bath. Mineral oil was added and the mixture was heated until the temperature reached 70 °C. 1 g active extract was then added to the oily phase and mixed. Sodium borate was dissolved in purified water, warmed to 70 °C and gradually added to the melted mixture. It was stirred rapidly and continuously until congelation as described in the USP United States of Pharmacopeia. For control group, same cold cream was prepared but 1 g Nitrofurazon (Furacin®) was added instead of A. purpurea extract.

Surgical Procedure

All surgical procedures were performed with intramuscular administration of 50 mg/kg ketamine-HCl (Alfamine®: Ege-VET) and 10 mg/kg xylazine HCl (Rompun®: Bayer) for anesthesia by the same surgeon under sterilized conditions. The rats were fixed in prone position after their back had been shaved. Surgical site was cleaned with 10% povidon iodine solution and covered sterilely. From their back, modified McFarlane flap included panniculus carnosus of 9×3 cm in size was removed and then flap was re-sutured with 4/0 nylon sutures [15].

The animals were divided in 3 groups so that each group contains 6 rats. Group 1 (*Arnebia purpurea* group): Following surgery 2 cc of *A. purpurea* cream was applied topically daily on the flap. Group 2 (Nitrofurazon group): Following surgery, 2 cc of 0.2% Nitrofurazon (Furacin®) cream was applied topically daily on the flap. Group 3 (control group): No substance was applied on the flap.

Evaluation of Flap Size

On the 7th day after the flap surgery all subjects were euthanized with high doses anesthesia. All flaps' photographs were taken from the same distance (60 cm) with a Sony DSC-F828 camera (Sony Corporation, Tokyo, Japan) by a different researcher who was blind about groups. The total area of necrosis was determined using the percentage of flap viability was calculated using the program Adobe Photoshop CS 5 (Adobe Systems, Inc., San Jose, CA). The necrotic area was marked on the software and the area was noted in pixels and then the percentage was calculated by a different researcher who was blind about groups [16].

Statistical Analysis

Data analysis was performed using the package program IBM SPSS Statistics 17.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). Normality of distribution of the continuous variables was tested using Shapiro-Wilk's test and homogeneity of the variances was tested using Levene's test. Definitive statistics were presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Significance of the difference in ratio of necrotic area to the total area between the groups was examined with one-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA). In the case of significant difference being detected in one-way ANOVA, multiple comparisons of the groups were performed using with Tukey's test. A *p* value less than 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

Results

Mean necrosis rate in Group 1 (*A. purpurea* group) was $20.25\% \pm 1.59\%$, in Group 2 (Nitrofurazon group) was $32.05\% \pm 2.23\%$ and in group 3 (control group) was $37.33\% \pm 4.12\%$ (Figures 1 and 2). Necrosis rate in the Group 1 (*A. purpurea* group) was statistically significantly less than Groups 2 (Nitrofurazon group) and Group 3 (control group) (p<0.001) and that difference in necrosis rate between Group 2 and Group 3 was not statistically significant (p=0.150) (Table 1).



Figure 1. Mean necrosis rate of groups. Necrosis rate in Group I (*Arnebia purpurea* group) was statistically significantly lower than the Group II (Nitrofurazon group) and Group III (control group) (p < 0.001) (post hoc Tukey's test)



Figure 2. View of necrosis of the flaps. a = Group 1 (*Arnebia purpurea* group), b = Group 2 (Nitrofurazon group) and c = Group 3 (control group).

Discussion

Previously we showed that the roots of *A*. *purpurea* involve naphthoquinones highly [14] and in the current study we think that because of antiinflammatory and anti-oxidant activity, naphthoquinone derivatives in the *A*. *purpurea* extract reduced I-R damage occurring in the flap so amount of necrosis was found to be statistically significantly lower in the groups receiving *A*. *purpurea*.

In the experimental model of caudal-based randomly patterned skin flap on back of the rats we used in the present study, no tissue loss occurred on the area close to the pedicle when the flap was removed because it had sufficient perfusion but irreversible tissue damage and necrosis occurred due to ischemia at the tip of flap away from the pedicle. In so-called transitional zone between these areas, ischemia occurred in early stage due to hyperadrenergic condition because of noradrenaline released from the sympathetic nerve endings intersected during flap removal but perfusion was regained in 12 to 24 hours after the hyperadrenergic condition ended. Reperfusion occurring after ischemic period causes ischemic-reperfusion damage [3].

Basic role in physiopathology of I-R damage is played by reactive oxygen species (ROS) During ischemia period, high amount of xanthine oxidasemediated ROS from endothelial cells and during

	Necrosis Rate (%)	
Group 1	20.25 ± 1.59	
Group 2	32.05 ± 2.23	
Group 3	37.33 ± 4.12	
p^{a}	< 0.001	
Group 1 - Group 2	$p < 0.001^{ m b}$	
Group 1 - Group 3	$p < 0.001^{\mathrm{b}}$	
Group 2 - Group 3	$n = 0.150^{b}$	

 Table 1. Mean necrosis rate of groups

Data are shown as mean \pm standard deviation. Group I = *Arnebia purpurea* group), Group II = Nitrofurazon group, Group III = control group, ^a one-way analysis of variance (One-way ANOVA), ^b post hoc Tukey's test

reperfusion period high amount of nicotine amide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidasemediated ROS from neutrophils generated in skin flap. ROS damage to DNA by oxidizing the nucleic acids, impair protein structure by oxidizing the amino acids, and cause lipid peroxidation by reacting with fatty acids [4, 6].

Shikonin/alkannin which are naphthoquinone derivatives, gives electron to the reactive oxygen radicals and make them more stable, reduces lipid peroxidation, increase amount of such anti-oxidant enzymes as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), and glutathione (GSH), prevents attraction of the neutrophils by reducing capillary permeability, and decreases neutrophil derived ROS release by inhibiting the NADPH oxidase enzyme in the neutrophils [6, 17] and through anti-oxidant activity occurring this way, shikonin/alkannin reduces I-R damage [17].

Rohrich et al. [18] defined an ideal pharmacological agent to be used to improve viability of the flap as being able to exert effects in the postoperative period, being easy to apply, reliable, cheap, having fully clarified mechanism of action, and protective effects against flap necrosis. Arnebia extracts have been used in traditional medicine for centuries and thus is reliable. Herbal products can be prepare as easy and cheap. As in traditional medicine, it was used in the present study topically and its topical use was shown to be effective.

Although we think that *A. purpurea* increases flap viability with antioxidant effect but as a limitation of our study, we didn't have any analysis about it so our study should be accepted as preliminary work and further studies on the mechanism of that flap protective effect are needed.

Conclusions

In conclusion, in this study we showed that with high naphthoquinones content, *A. purpurea* cream decreased randomly patterned flap necrosis.

Authorship declaration

All authors listed meet the authorship criteria according to the latest guidelines of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors, and all authors are in agreement with the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

Acknowledgements

We wish to thank Prof. Dr. Hayri Duman (Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Gazi University, Ankara, Turkey) and Assist. Prof. Dr. Bilgehan Bilgili (in memory of the deceased) for collecting and authenticating the plant material.

References

[1] Orhan E, Erol YR, Deren O, Altun S, Unal S, Erdoğan B. Efficacy of liposuction as a delay method for improving flap survival. Aesthetic Plast Surg 2016;40:931-7.

[2] Kalogeris T, Baines CP, Krenz M, Korthuis RJ. Cell biology of ischemia/reperfusion injury. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol 2012;298:229-317.

[3] de Lima Silva JJ, Guimaraes SB, da Silveira ER, de Vasconcelos PR, Lima GG, Torres SM, et al. Effects of Copaifera langsdorffii Desf. on ischemia-reperfusion of randomized skin flaps in rats. Aesthetic Plast Surg 2009;33:104-9.
[4] van den Heuvel MG, Buurman WA, Bast A, van der Hulst RR. Review: Ischaemia-reperfusion injury in flap surgery. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 2009;62:721-6.

[5] Butler MS. The role of natural product chemistry in drug discovery. J Nat Prod 2004;67:2141-53.

[6] Kourounakis AP, Assimopoulou AN, Papageorgiou VP, Gavalas A, Kourounakis PN. Alkannin and shikonin: effect on free radical processes and on inflammation-a preliminary pharmacochemical investigation. Arch Pharm (Weinheim) 2002;335:262-6.

[7] Kırımer N, Bozan B, Baser KHC. A new naphthaquinone from the roots of Arnebia densiflora. Fitoterapia 1995;66:499-500.

[8] Hu Y, Jiang Z, Leung KSY, Zhao Z. Simultaneous determination of naphtaquinone derivatives in Boraginaceous herbs by high-performance liquid chromatography. Anal Chim Acta 2006;577:26-31.

[9] Akkol EK, Koca U, Peşin I, Yilmazer D, Toker G, Yeşilada E. Exploring the wound healing activity of A. densiflora (Nordm.) Ledeb. by in vivo models. J Ethnopharmacol 2009;124:137-41.

[10] Parray JA, Hamid R, Kamili AN, Shameem N, Jan S, Ganai BA. Biological efficacy and radical scavenging potential of shikonin in Arnebia benthamii (Wall ex. G Don) Johnston. Ind Crops Prod 2015;74:434-39.

[11] Singh LK, Maheshwari DK, Shukla S. Antibacterial effect of butyryl alkannin from Arnebia euchroma against vancomycin-resistant pathogens of Enterococcus faecalis causing urinary tract infections. Nat Prod Res 2015; 29:2299-301.

[12] Zhang ZL, Fan HY, Yang MY, Zhang ZK, Liu K. Therapeutic effect of a hydroxynaphthoquinone fraction on dextran sulfate sodium-induced ulcerative colitis. World J Gastroenterol 2014;20:15310-8.

[13] Jang SY, Jang EH, Jeong SY, Kim J-H. Shikonin inhibits the growth of human prostate cancer cells via modulation of the androgen receptor. Int J Oncol 2014;44:1455-60.

[14] Yuzbasioglu M, Kuruuzum-Uz A, Guvenalp Z, Simon A, Toth G, Harput US, et al. Cytotoxic compounds from endemic Arnebia purpurea. Nat Prod Commun 2015;10:595-6.

[15] Acartürk TO, Dinçyürek H, Dağlıoğlu K. Delay by staged elevation of flaps and importance of inclusion of the perforator artery. J Hand Microsurg 2015;7:1-5.

[16] Uysal AC, Mizuno H, Tobita M, Ogawa R, Hyakusoku H. The effect of adipose-derived stem cells on ischemia-reperfusion injury: immunohistochemical and ultrastructural evaluation. Plast Reconstr Surg 2009;124:804-15.

[17] Wang ZH, Liu T, Gan L, Wang T, Yuan X, Zhang B, et al. Shikonin protects mouse brain against cerebral ischemia/reperfusion injury through its antioxidant activity. Eur J Pharmacol 2010;643:211-7.

[18] Rohrich RJ, Cherry GW, Spira M. Enhancement of skin-flap survival using nitroglycerin ointment. Plast Reconstr Surg 1984;73:943-8.



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

Original Article

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.349418

Effectiveness of trospium chloride and doxazosin mesylate combination in neurogenic bladder patients with spinal cord injury

Fazıl Kulakh¹, Kurtuluş Köklü², Murat Ersöz², Zuhal Özişler², Canan Çulha², Sumru Özel²

¹Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Giresun University School of Medicine, Giresun, Turkey ²Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Ankara Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective. The aim of this study was to compare the effects of trospium chloride (TCL) and TCL + doxazosin (DXZ) combination to bladder capacity and residual urine volume (RUV) in spinal cord injury (SCI) patients with neurogenic bladder. **Methods**. The study included 120 patients with SCI. Urodynamic data of patients were reviewed retrospectively. Changes in maximum cystometric capacity (MCC) as well as RUV were determined in patients using 60-90 mg/day TCL (Group 1, n = 98) or 60-90 mg/day TCL + 4-6 mg/day DXZ (Group 2, n = 22). **Results**. There was statistically significant increase in both MCC and RUV values in both groups. There was no statistical difference in MCC and RUV values in Group 1 and Group 2 (p=0.111 and p=0.664, respectively). There was a significant weak negative correlation between duration of injury and MCC values (r = 0,185; p=0.043), meaning as the duration of injury increased, MCC decreased. There was no statistically significant correlation between medication usage duration with MCC and RUV (r = -0.129; p=0.159 and r = -0.68; p=0.462, respectively). **Conclusions**. Anticholinergic treatment is currently the mainstay conservative treatment of neurogenic detrusor overactivity. The impact of alfa blockers on neurogenic bladder has been less well evaluated. We consider that, adding DXZ to TCL has no additional benefit to increase bladder capacity and reduce RUV. Further studies are needed to determine the location of DXZ treatment in SCI patients with neurogenic bladder.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):157-161

Keywords: spinal cord injury, neurogenic bladder, doksazosin mesylate, trospium chloride

Introduction

In suprasacral spinal cord injuries (SCI), the sacral and pontine micturition centers are separated, and reflex voiding is initiated by an involuntary detrusor contraction rather than relaxation of the external urethral sphincter. Urologic complications are associated with increasing bladder pressures [1]. Neurogenic bladder (NB), which occurs in 70-84% of patients with SCI, is a high-risk factor for renal dysfunction and at the same time reduces quality of life [2, 3]. Therefore, NB treatment should be

Address for correspondence:

Fazıl Kulaklı, MD., Assistant Professor, Giresun University School of Medicine, Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Giresun, Turkey E-mail: drfz146@gmail.com

Received: November 5, 2017; Accepted: December 14, 2017; Published Online: December 20, 2017

managed appropriately in order to improve quality of life and preserve renal function. The 2006 Consortium for Spinal Cord Medicine Clinical Practice Guidelines on Bladder Management has identified three main goals for the management of bladder treatment in patients with SCI. Preservation of the upper urinary minimization of lower urinary tract. tract complications, and compatibility with the patient's lifestyle [4]. Treatment of NB if not managed appropriately, life threatening complications may occur such as vesicoureteral reflux, urinary tract infections, nephrolithiasis, hydronephrosis and renal failure. Conservative treatment is the first choice in almost all cases and will continue to be the primary choice in the majority of NB patients. Anticholinergics are the first-line choice for treating neurogenic detrusor overactivity. The mode of action of anticholinergic drugs is not clear. However, it is believed that drugs reduce detrusor overactivity and block muscarinic receptors, resulting in resistance to parasympathetic stimulation. This action results in improved bladder compliance and reduced symptoms of overactive bladder [5]. Alpha adrenergic receptors have been identified in the proximal urethra, prostate, and bladder neck. Alpha-blockers have been found to lower urethral resistance and improve voiding. Alphablockers seem to be effective for decreasing bladder outlet resistance, residual urine volume (RUV), and autonomic dysreflexia [4]. Doxazosin (DXZ) is an alpha-1 adrenergic blocker and contributes to the treatment of NB due to SCI by performing the above effects. Trospium chloride (TCL), is a quaternary amine with a low oil-to-water partition coefficient, poor absorption from the gastrointestinal tract with low bioavailability and poor central nervous system penetration [6]. The aim of this study was to compare the effects of TCL and TCL + DXZ combination to bladder capacity and RUV in SCI patients with NB.

Methods

One hundred and twenty patients (94 male, 26 female) who were on rehabilitation program in our hospital with the diagnosis of SCI with NB were studied retrospectively. After retrospective screening, patients at spinal shock period; patients who underwent urodynamic study before; patients with previous lower urinary system disease, individuals with NB due to other causes (diabetes mellitus, previous stroke or brain injury, other neurologic

158

diseases etc.), patients with SCI out of lesion level, brain injury and pelvic trauma accompanying to SCI and previously used pharmacological agents for the urinary bladder such as anticholinergics, alphablockers, baclofen and injections were not included in the study. The study protocol was approved by the ethical committee of our institution. Patients were assessed based on the results of two consecutive urodynamic tests with a time interval of no more than 2 months. The patients were divided into two groups using only TCL 60-90 mg/day (Group 1, n = 98) and TCL 60-90 mg/day + DXZ 4-6 mg/day (Group 2, n =22). Changes in maximum cystometric capacity (MCC) as well as RUV of patients were determined in both groups. For urodynamic testing, a computerassisted urodynamic unit (Libra + MMS, Enschede, The Netherlands) was used in all patients. The bladder was filled and the intravesical pressure was recorded via a sterile transurethral double-lumened 8 F catheter. Sterile saline solution at body temperature was used as a filling medium, and the bladder was filled at a rate of 50 ml/min. MCC was defined as a patient experienced sensation that would normally lead to immediate evacuation of the bladder, the volume at the time as intravesical pressure was above 40 cmH20 and the volume at the time as the beginning of voiding without control [7].

Statistical Analysis

The statistical analysis was performed using SPSS-15.0 and level of statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05. Descriptive statistics, paired-samples t test, Pearson correlation test and independent-samples t test were used.

Results

Mean age of the patients was 34.95 ± 13.61 years, mean duration of injury was 13.17 ± 30.49 months and medication usage duration was 2.57 ± 1.93 months. In Table 1, demographic properties of the patients and in Table 2, both groups' MCC and RUV levels were shown. There was no significant difference between groups in terms of duration of injury, age and medication usage duration. There was statistically significant increase in both MCC and RUV values in both groups. There was no statistical difference in MCC and RUV in Group 1 and Group 2 (MCC: 148 ml vs. 83 ml; p = 0.111 and RUV: 141 ml vs. 122 ml; p = 0.664). There was a significant weak negative

Chara	acteristics	Group 1 (n = 98)	Group 2 (n = 22)	р
Age (year)		34.5 ± 13.3	36.6 ± 14.93	0.510
Sex	Female	23 (23.5%)	3 (13.6%)	0.420
	Male	75 (76.5%)	19 (86.4%)	
Neurological	Cervical	10 (10.2%)	1 (4.5%)	0.371
level	Thoracic	66 (67.3%)	13 (59.1%)	
	Lumbar	22 (22.5%)	8 (36.4%)	
Etiology	Gun injury	9 (9.2%)	1 (4.5%)	0.108
	Traffic accident	39 (39.8%)	5 (22.7%)	
	Falling	36 (36.7%)	8 (36.4%)	
	Others	14 (14.3%)	8 (36.4%)	
Duration of inju	ry (month)	12.95 ± 3.39	16.50 ± 35.73	0.633

Table 1. Characteristics of the groups

Data are shown as mean \pm standard deviation or number (percent).

correlation between duration of injury and MCC values before treatment in both groups (r = 0.185; p=0.043), meaning as the duration of injury increased, MCC decreased. There was no meaningful correlation between medication usage duration with MCC and RUV in both groups (r = -0.129; p = 0.159 and r=-0.68; p = 0.462, respectively).

Discussion

Neurogenic lower urinary tract dysfunction (NLUTD) is an important cause of morbidity and mortality among SCI patients [8]. The condition is known to be life threatening if not properly managed. There are three main goals for the management of bladder treatment in patients with SCI. Preservation of the upper urinary tract, minimization of lower urinary tract complications, and compatibility with the patient's lifestyle [4]. Urodynamic testing will be necessary in many patients to gain more complete diagnosis of how the neurogenic dysfunction has changed the function of different components in the lower urinary tract and their interaction [9]. Drugs are

often used in patients with neurogenic bladder. They aim at decreasing detrusor activity, increasing bladder capacity and/or increasing/decreasing bladder outlet resistance [9]. Anticholinergic treatment is the firstline therapy for neurogenic detrusor overactivity. This treatment works by blocking cholinergic transmission at muscarinic receptors. Anticholinergic agents have similar efficacy; however, they have different side effect and tolerability profiles that depend on their muscarinic receptor selectivity and the rate of drug distribution. Several studies have shown that anticholinergic treatment increases bladder capacity, reduces bladder pressure, and improves compliance and quality of life [10]. TCL is a quaternary ammonium derivative with mainly antimuscarinic actions, its effectiveness and safety was confirmed by meta-analysis. It does not break the blood-brain barrier. Central nervous system side effects are therefore not expected [9]. Alpha-blockers are a nonsurgical method to treat detrusor sphincter dyssynergia and low bladder pressure during voiding. Alpha adrenergic receptors have been identified in the proximal urethra, prostate, and bladder neck. Alpha adrenergic blockers have been found to lower urethral

Table 2. MCC and RUV comparison in both medication groups

	Before Treatment	After Treatment	р
Group 1 (n = 98)			•
MCC (ml)	244.32 ± 144.83	393.30 ± 206.38	0.000
RUV (ml)	191.52 ± 148.40	332.8 ± 238.17	0.000
Group 2 ($n = 22$)			
MCC (ml)	271.90 ± 135.66	355.31 ± 127.09	0.001
RUV (ml)	155.00 ± 118.60	277.13 ± 187.84	0.005

Data are shown as mean \pm standard deviation. MCC = maximum cystometric capasity, RUV = residual urine volume

resistance and improve voiding. Though earlier adrenergic blockers were less urologic-specific, they were commonly used for medical treatment of lower urinary tract dysfunction in individuals with SCI [11]. More specific adrenergic blockers (against alpha 1-A adrenergic receptors) are now being used to treat lower urinary tract dysfunction associated with high urethral resistance in individuals with SCI [12]. Understanding the risks, benefits, and contraindications of the different alpha-blockers will help the individual with SCI make an informed decision on the type of bladder management to be tried [4]. In 1994, Swierzerwski et al. [13] studied the effect of terazosin on bladder compliance in 12 spinal cord injured patients with poor bladder compliance and they found that improvement in compliance was statistically and clinically significant. After this result, they suggested that terazosin may have an effect on alpha receptors in the detrusor muscle or central effects and that improved compliance is not due to decreased outlet resistance [13]. In addition, in 1996, Yasuda et al. [14] studied a placebo controlled double blind trial with 136 patients with NB. They gave to patients' placebo, 30 mg or 60 mg urapadil (an alpha blocker) for 4 weeks and they found that the highest dose group showed a statistically significant decrease in urodynamic detrusor overactivity. Our study basically designed with the possible beneficial effects of alpha blockers on the NB in the direction of the abovementioned mechanisms and studies. In our study TCL was used as an anticholinergic agent and DXZ as an alpha-blocker. Patients were divided into 2 groups as TCL 60-90 mg/day users and TCL 60-90 mg/day + DXZ 4-6 mg/day users. By separating these groups, we aimed to investigate whether DXZ may have any therapeutic effect on MCC and RUV values in addition to TCL in the direction of the abovementioned alpha-blocker action mechanisms. At the end of our study, we found a significant increase both MCC and RUV values in both groups after treatment. However, despite the increase in MCC and RUV values, there was no statistical difference between Group 1 and Group 2 in terms of these values. In 1991, Stöhrer et al. [15] studied the urodynamic effects of TCL on SCI patients with NB and they found that TCL improved MCC. In accordance with the study of the Stöhrer et al. [15], we found a significant increase in MCC in both groups. So, we agree with Stöhrer et al. [15] that TCL has increased the MCC values. However, Groen et al. [2] suggested that alpha blockers seem to be effective for decreasing bladder outlet resistance, RUV and autonomic dysreflexia in

neurourological patients, but we did not find a significant decrease in RUV values in Group 2. Although theoretically sharing the proposal with alpha blockers in Groen *et al.*'s study [2], we have not observed any improvement in the RUV values in our study. Administration of anticholinergic agent simultaneously may embower the RUV decreasing effect of alpha blocker in our study. However, we believe that our study is important as it gives information about anticholinergic and alpha blocker combination therapy in SCI patients with neurogenic bladder.

The Limitations of the Study

The rates of bladder filling during the urodynamic test of the patients included in the study were 50 ml / min. in our retrospective study. Although this filling rate is the upper limit of medium fill cystometry, it may provoke detrusor overactivity in SCI patients with overactive detrusors. Choosing individualized filling rate (body weight-kg / 4) would be more suitable.

Conclusions

In this study we have detected that, adding DXZ to TCL had no additional benefit to increase bladder capacity and reduce RUV. Further studies are needed to determine the location of DXZ treatment in SCI patients with NB.

Authorship declaration

All authors listed meet the authorship criteria according to the latest guidelines of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors, and all authors are in agreement with the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Weld KJ, Graney MJ, Dmochowski RR. Clinical significance of detrusor sphincter dyssynergia type in patients with post-traumatic spinal cord injury. Urology 2000;56:565-8.

^[2] Groen J, Pannek J, Castro Diaz D, Del Popolo G, Gross T, Hamid R, et al. Summary of European Association of Urology (EAU) Guidelines on Neuro-Urology. Eur Urol 2016;69:324-33.

[3] Manack A, Motsko SP, Haag-Molkenteller C, Dmochowski RR, Goehring EL Jr, Nguyen-Khoa BA, et al. Epidemiology and healthcare utilization of neurogenic bladder patients in a US claims database. Neurourol Urodyn 2011;30:395-401.
[4] Consortium for Spinal Cord Medicine. Bladder management for adults with

spinal cord injury: a clinical practice guideline for health-care providers. J Spinal Cord Med 2006;29:527-73. [5] Madhuvrata P, Singh M, Hasafa Z, Abdel-Fattah M. Anticholinergic drugs for

adult neurogenic detrusor overactivity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Urol 2012;62:816-30.

[6] Singh-Franco D, Machado C, Tuteja S, Zapantis A. Trospium chloride for the treatment of overactive bladder with urge incontinence. Clin Ther 2005;27:511-30.

[7] Abrams P, Cardozo L, Fall M, Griffiths D, Rosier P, Ulmsten U, et al; Standardisation Sub-Committee Of The International Continence Society. The Standardisation of terminology in lower urinary tract function: report From the standardisation sub-committee of the International Continence Society. Urology 2003;61:37-49.

[8] Lidal IB, Snekkevik H, Aamodt G, Hjeltnes N, Biering-Sørensen F, Stanghelle JK. Mortality after spinal cord injury in Norway. J Rehabil Med 2007;39:145-51.
[9] Wyndaele JJ. Conservative treatment of patients with neurogenic bladder. Eur

Urol Suppl 2008;7:557-65.

[10] Waleed AT, Raouf S. Neurogenic bladder in spinal cord injury patient. Res Rep Urol 2015;7:85-99.

[11] Abrams, P, Amarenco G, Bakke A, Buczyński A, Castro-Diaz D, Harrison S, et al; European Tamsulosin Neurogenic Lower Urinary Tract Dysfunction Study Group. Tamsulosin: efficacy and safety in patients with neurogenic lower urinary tract dysfunction due to suprasacral spinal cord injury. J Urol 2003;170:1242-51.

[12] Abrams P, Shah P, Stone A, Choas R. Bladder outflow obstruction treated with phenoxybenzamine. Br J Urol 1982;54:527-30.

[13] Swierzewski SJ 3rd, Gormley EA, Belville WD, Sweetser PM, Wan J, McGuire EJ. The effect of terazosin on bladder function in the spinal cord injured patient. J Urol 1994;151:951-4.

[14] Yasuda K, Yamanishi T, Kawabe K, Ohshima H, Morita T. The effect of urapidil on neurogenic bladder: A placebo controlled double-blind study. J Urol 1996;156:1125-30.

[15] Stöhrer M, Bauer P, Giannetti BM, Richter R, Burgdörfer H, Mürtz G. Effect of trospium chloride on urodynamic parameters in patients with detrusor hyperreflexia due to spinal cord injuries. A multicentre placebo controlled doubleblind trial. Urol Int 1991;47:138-43.



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

Original Article

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.366170

Open tibial pilon fractures: treatment with ankle-spanning Ilizarov fixator

Ercan Şahin¹, Mahmut Kalem²

¹Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Bülent Ecevit University School of Medicine, Zonguldak, Turkey ²Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. The aim of this retrospective study was to report the treatment results obtained with the anklespanning Ilizarov fixator technique in the treatment of complex OTA/AO type 43C3 open tibial pilon fractures. *Methods.* A total of 14 patients with open OTA/AO type 43C3 tibial pilon fractures were evaluated. The demographics and fracture characteristics, preoperative and postoperative radiological evaluations, duration of follow-up (months), time to union (months) and complications were recorded. After collection of operative data, patients were invited for functional and radiological outcome evaluation. American Orthopaedic Foot and Ankle Society (AOFAS) scores and range of movement (ROM) of the ankle joint were investigated. Also radiologically the ankle osteoarthritis level according to the Bargon et al. criteria was noted. *Results.* The mean age of the patients was 48.7 years (range, 26-72 years). The mean follow-up period was 32 months (range, 25-46 months). The clinical and radiological time to union was mean 6.5 months (range, 5-11 months). On the postoperative ankle CT images, the separation within the ankle was measured as < 2mm in all patients and in 3 patients, stepping was measured as > 2mm. Following removal of the external fixator, dorsiflexion was measured as mean 15.5° (range, 0°-23°) and plantar flexion as mean 26.14° (range, 13°-36°). The mean AOFAS was 80.35 (range, 56-92). *Conclusion.* Satisfactory results can be obtained with the Ilizarov external fixator passing the ankle in the permanent treatment of AO-43C3 type open tibial pilon fractures.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):162-167

Keywords: pilon fracture, open fracture, Ilizarov, external fixation

Introduction

Intra-articular fractures of the distal tibia (pilon fractures) generally occur as a result of torsional movement combined with axial forces. They constitute 3%-10% of tibial fractures and 1% of all lower extremity fractures [1]. As there is thin soft tissue coverage on the tibia and when there is concomitant severe soft tissue damage, especially in complex OTA/AO type 43C3 fractures, difficulties in treatment are experienced [2, 3].

According to the soft tissue injury, there are various treatment options such as staged management with primary external fixator followed by open reduction and internal fixation, early open reduction and internal fixation, plate application with minimally invasive approachesandusing external fixators with minimally invasive reduction and fixation techniquesfordefinitive treatment [4-6]. In the current treatment of pilon fractures with concomitant soft

Address for correspondence:

Ercan Şahin, MD., Bülent Ecevit University School of Medicine, Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, 67100 Zonguldak, Turkey E-mail: dr_erc_sah@yahoo.com.tr Phone: +903722613055

Received: December 14, 2017; Accepted: December 27, 2017; Published Online: December 28, 2017

Copyright © 2018 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy

tissue damage, the treatment option of external fixation with or without minimally invasive techniques is often selected because it creates fewer complications such as deep or superficial wound infection, osteomyelitis or amputation [7-9].

The aim of this study was to report the treatment results obtained with the ankle-spanning Ilizarov fixator technique in the treatment of complex OTA/AO type 43C3 open tibial pilon fractures.

Methods

This retrospective study was carried out by approval and supervision of Local Ethical Committee. Using the hospital data system, the radiographs and information forms of 113 patients who underwent surgery for tibial fractures between January 2009 and December 2015 were investigated. A total of 34 patients aged > 16 years had an acute, unilateral, open distal tibial intra-articular fracture extending to the metaphysis (OTA/AO type 43C3 tibial pilon fracture) were analyzed (Figure 1a). After exclusion of 5 patients with less than 2 years follow-up, 7 patients preoperative or postoperative whose ankle tomography images were not available and 8 patients who were treated with a technique other than anklespanning Ilizarov fixator technique, a total of 14 patients were included in the study for evaluation.

Demographic data including age, gender and mechanism of injury (fall from height, traffic accident, mining accident, and others) were recorded. From the emergency department examination forms and operation notes, open fractures were classified according to the Gustillo and Anderson [10]. The size of gap (measured on the preoperative and postoperative axial CT images, mm) and the size of step (measured on the preoperative and postoperative sagittal CT images, mm) between two largest fracture fragments (with using Centricity PACS-IW software, General Electric healthcare) (Figure 1b, 1c), presence/type of fibula fixation (plate, K-wire), duration of follow-up (months), time to union (months) and complications (pin site infection, malunion, osteomyelitis) were recorded. After collection of operative data, patients were invited (with phone call) for functional and radiological outcome evaluation at least one year postoperatively. At this final follow-up examination, functional evaluation using American Orthopaedic Foot and Ankle Society (AOFAS) scores and range of movement (ROM) of the ankle joint were investigated. Also radiologically the ankle osteoarthritis level according to the Bargon et al. [11] criteria was noted.



Figure 1. A 29-year-old miner (Case 4) with Gustillo and Anderson type 3a, OTA/AO-43C3 tibial pilon fracture. Lateral radiograph of the left ankle showing metaphyseal comminution (a), preoperative axial CT image of the ankle showing the gap between two largest fracture fragments (b), preoperative sagittal CT image of the ankle (c), postoperative AP radiograph after application of the ankle-spanning Ilizarov fixator (d), AP radiograph of the tibia 4 months after fixation (e), AP and lateral radiographs of the tibia six months after injury. The frame was removed. The patient was free of pain over the fracture line, with no complaints during weight-bearing. Radiological union was delayed (f and g) and active dorsiflexion of the ankle was about 0° (h).

Surgical Technique

The operations were performed by the same orthopedic surgeon. Within 8 hours of admission to the emergency department, the patients were prepared for the surgery. The frame was constructed before beginning of the surgery in the operating room. The ring sizes are selected according to the circumference of the limb allowing about two finger widths to the skin. The first two rings were arranged for placing proximal to the fracture and the third ring was arranged for placing just proximal to the ankle joint. The 3 rings were connected to each other with 4 threaded rods. With the patient in supine position, following wound debridement with saline, soft tissue was closed. Firstly the fibula was fixed closely with 2 intramedullary K-wire or openly with a 1/3 tubular plate to maintain alignment. The preconstructed Ilizarov frame was applied to the limb and fixed with wires and 5 mm Schanz screws to the tibia under fluoroscopic control. The fracture reduction of the ankle was tried to achieve closely with olive wires and ligamentotaxis and the frame was used an indirect reduction device also. The ring, which was placed just proximal to the ankle joint, was connected laterally to calcaneus with a Schanz screw (Figure 1d).

Postoperative Follow-up

Prophylactic antibiotherapy was administered to all patients for two days. The leg was elevated to decrease soft tissue swelling. Pin and wound care was done with iodine. Following the reduction of the leg edema, the patients were mobilized, but not allowed to weight bear until the 6th week postoperatively. At 6th week the Schanz screw was removed from the calcaneus and full weight-bearing was permitted with ankle exercises (Figure 1e). Clinical and radiological follow-ups were repeated every 3 weeks until union was achieved. In patients with no pain in the fracture line during the follow-up examinations and findings of union in at least 3 cortices on direct radiographs, the fixator was removed and a short-leg circular plaster cast was applied. Weight-bearing was continued with the plaster cast, which was removed after 1 month. Statistical data were expressed by the mean and range values or number and percent (Figure 1f, 1g).

Results

A total of 14 patients (9 males, 5 females) with

AO-43C3 type open tibial pilon fractures were evaluated. The mean age of the patients was 48.7 years (range, 26-72 years). According to the Gustillo and Anderson classification, 4 fractures were type 3a, 3 were type 2 and 7 were type 1 open fractures. The mechanism of injury was a fall from height in 3 cases, a traffic accident in 7 and a mining accident in 3. The mean follow-up period was 32 months (range, 25-46 months). All the patients had a concomitant fibula fracture and while fixation with plate or K-wire was applied to 9 patients, fixation was not applied in 5 cases. Bone union was obtained in all patients. The clinical and radiological time to union was mean 6.5 months (range, 5-11 months) (Table 1).

In 12 (85.7%) patients there was large separation of > 2 mm and in 10 (71.4%) patients there was large stepping of > 2 mm on preoperative axial and sagittal CT images. On the postoperative ankle CT images, the separation within the ankle was measured as < 2 mm in all patients and in 3 patients, stepping was measured as > 2 mm.

Pin site infection was observed in 5 (35%) of the 14 patients and all recovered with oral antibiotic treatment. The wires were removed in 2 patients. No deep tissue infection or osteomyelitis was observed in any patient. Malunion was seen in 2 (14%) patients. Valgus angulation of approximately 11° was seen in 1 patient and posterior angulation of approximately 15° in 1 patient. No additional surgery was performed on either patient.

Following removal of the external fixator, dorsiflexion was measured as mean 15.5° (range, $0^{\circ}-23^{\circ}$) and plantar flexion as mean 26.14° (range, $13^{\circ}-36^{\circ}$). At the final follow-up examination, the mean AOFAS was 80.35 (range, 56-92).

On the ankle radiographs taken at the final followup examination, arthrosis was evaluated as grade 4 in 1 patient, grade 3 in 2 patients, grade 2 in 5 patients and grade 1 in 6 patients.

Discussion

In the treatment of high-energy pilon fractures, although the use of an Ilizarov fixator passing the ankle joint has advantages such as providing indirect reduction with ligamentotaxis, allowing the fixation of intra-articular fragments with very small incisions, no need for soft tissue dissection and allowing the possibility of stable and permanent fixation, there can also be said to be the disadvantage of discomfort for

Table 1. Data of the patients

Number	Age/sex	Mechanism of injury	Open fracture type*	Presence/type of fibula fixation	Follow- up (months)	Ankle movement (dorsiflexion/ plantar flexion)	AOFAS	Union time (months)	Ankle osteoarthritis level ^{**}	Complication
1	47/m	fall from height	1	plate	28	7/16°	65	6	4	Pin-track infection.
2	49/m	other	3a	plate	32	9/14°	56	11	3	Pin-track infection.
3	68/m	traffic accident	1	none	41	18/24°	86	5	1	malunion
4	29/m	mining accident	3a	K wire	26	0/13°	76	9	2	Pin-track infection.
5	49/m	traffic accident	1	plate	46	22/32°	92	5	1	none
6	43/m	mining accident	2	plate	25	21/34°	90	5	1	none
7	38/f	traffic accident	1	none	27	19/28°	84	6	2	none
8	58/f	fall from height	1	K wire	25	21/36°	92	5	1	none
9	26/m	traffic accident	2	none	33	17/27°	78	6	2	Pin-track infection.
10	38/f	traffic accident	3a	K wire	29	10/25°	70	6	3	malunion
11	55/m	fall from height	3a	plate	42	11/23°	74	10	2	Pin-track infection.
12	67/f	traffic accident	1	none	44	18/28°	82	7	2	none
13	72/f	traffic accident	1	none	25	23/32°	90	5	1	none
14	43/m	mining accident	2	plate	25	21/34°	90	5	1	none

*According to the Gustillo-Anderson Classification, **According to the Bargon *et al.* [11] criteria. (Grade 1: no osteophytes, no joint space narrowing; Grade 2: small osteophytes, no joint space narrowing; Grade 3: moderate osteophytes, joint space narrowing; Grade 4: large osteophytes, severe joint space narrowing)

the patient [12, 13]. Due to the frequent occurrence of complications such as wound problems, infection and osteomyelitis in high-energy open pilon fractures, anIlizarovexternal fixation method was selected in the permanent treatment of the patients in this study [14-16].

Although there are few studies that have reported the joint reduction quality following surgery of highenergy pilon fractures, in a study of 30 patients treated with Ilizarov external fixator, Osman *et al.* [17] reported that acceptable reduction was obtained in 46.6% and poor reduction in 20%. In another study of 17 patients, Kapoor *et al.* [13] reported that in 4 patients with AO-43C3 type open tibial pilon fractures, acceptable joint reduction was obtained with Ilizarov external fixator passing the joint. In the current study, although the patient number was greater, while small separation of < 2mm was achieved in all, stepping in the joint of >2 mm could not be prevented in 3 patients.

Prospective randomized studies which have compared internal fixation and external fixation in high-energy pilon fractures have reported that significantly fewer complications were seen in patients applied with external fixation [14, 18, 19]. Following treatment made with Ilizarov external fixator in 21 cases of complex tibial pilon fracture, 9 of which were open fractures, Vidyadhara and Sharath [20] reported that superficial pin site infection developed in 7 patients and deep pin site infection in 1, but no information was given about whether or not these were patients with open fractures. Okcu and Aktuglu [9] compared 44 patients with AO-43C3 type tibial pilon fractures treated with Ilizarov external fixator passing and not passing the ankle joint. It was reported that 12 patients had an open fracture and no osteomyelitis developed in any patient without differentiation of open and closed fractures, malunion developed in 10 patients and pincer toe developed in 6 patients [9]. In the current study, no osteomyelitis was observed, but there was pin site infection in 5 patients and malunion in 2.

Ankle dorsiflexion movement > 10° is usually sufficient for walking [21]. Kapoor *et al.* [13] reported that of 17 patients with high-energy pilon fractures treated with Ilizarov external fixator passing the ankle, 75% had ankle dorsiflexion of > 10° , dorsiflexion was 0° in 2 patients, plantar flexion was > 30° in 11 patients and < 20° in 1. With a mean functional score of 79.8, 4 patients with C3 fractures were reported as acceptable. In the current study, the mean dorsiflexion was measured as 15.5° (range, 0° -23°) and plantar flexion as mean 26.14° (range, 13°-36°) and the mean AOFAS was 80.35 (range, 56-92). The ROM values and functional scores of the patients in the current study are consistent with literature. Bone et al. [22] stated that ankle ROM remaining at an acceptable levelafter Ilizarov external fixator treatment was associated with the distraction made to the joint by the fixator during treatment causing tension in the ligaments and prevents shortening in the ligaments. In 30 patients with high-energy tibialpilon fractures treated with Ilizarov external fixator by Osman et al. [17], arthrosis developed in the joint in 11 patients, but no information was given about the grade of arthrosis. Firat et al. [23] compared the Ilizarov external fixator techniques of fixed to the ankle and jointed at the ankle in 34 patients operated on for tibial pilon fracture. Post-traumatic arthrosis was reported in 31.3% of the patients with Ilizarov external fixator jointed at the ankle and in 55.5% of the patients with the Ilizarov external fixator fixed at the ankle. Again, no information was given about the degree of arthrosis. Wyrsch et al. [14] treated 20 of 38 patients with pilon fractures with external fixator combined with internal fixation using a minimal incision and while no osteoarthritic change was determined in only 1 patient, osteoarthritic changes were observed at a mild level in 6 patients, at an evident level in 8 and at a severe level in 4. Similarly, Guo et al. [24] applied external fixator combined with internal fixation with a minimal incision to 26 patients with Rüedi-Allgöwer type 3 fractures and reported osteoarthritic changes in all the patients. Calori et al. [1] reported that the osteoarthritic changes that developed following highenergy pilon fractures were associated with the cartilage damage that was created during the trauma and arthrosis could develop despite anatomic joint reconstruction obtained radiographically. Elsoe et al. [23] indicated that 35% of their patients had osteoarthritis at the ankle joint following a distal intraarticular fracture 12 months after frame removal. In the current study, osteoarthritic changes of varying degrees were seen in all patients and were graded.

The Limitations of the Study

Limitations of this study can be said to be that it was retrospective, that despite a sufficient number of patients with pilon fractures, a small number of patients had open AO-43C3 type fracture, and because there was no comparison with any other treatment option, there was insufficient statistical evaluation.

Conclusions

Although several techniques have been compared in the treatment of high-energy pilon fractures, there is no standard surgical technique that is applied. The results of this study have demonstrated that satisfactory results can be obtained with the Ilizarov external fixator passing the ankle in the permanent treatment of AO-43C3 type open tibial pilon fractures.

Authorship declaration

All authors listed meet the authorship criteria according to the latest guidelines of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors, and all authors are in agreement with the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Calori GM, Tagliabue L, Mazza E, de Bellis U, Pierannunzii L, Marelli BM, et al. Tibial pilon fractures: which method of treatment? Injury 2010;41:1183-90.

[2] Krettek C, Bachmann S. Pilon-Frakturen. Chirurg 2015;86:87-104.

[3] Mauffrey C, Vasario G, Battiston B, Lewis C, Beazley J, Seligson D. Tibial pilon fractures: a review of incidence, diagnosis, treatment,

and complications. Acta Orthop Belg 2011;77:432-40. [4] Sirkin M, Sanders R, DiPasquale T, Herscovici D Jr. A staged

protocol for soft tissue management in the treatment of complex pilon fractures. J Orthop Trauma 2004;18:S32-S38.

[5] White TO, Guy P, Cooke CJ, Kennedy SA, Droll KP, Blachut PA, et al. The results of early primary open reduction and internal fixation for treatment of OTA 43.C-type tibial pilon fractures: a cohort study. J Orthop Trauma 2010;24:757-63.

[6] Joveniaux P, Ohl X, Harisboure A, Berrichi A, Labatut L, Simon P, et al. Distal tibia fractures: management and complications of 101 cases. Int Orthop 2010;34:583-8.

[7] Teeny SM, Wiss DA. Open reduction and internal fixation of tibial plafond fractures: variables contributing to poor results and complications. Clin Orthop 1993;292:108-17.

[8] Tornetta P 3rd, Weiner L, Bergman M, Watnik N, Steuer J, Kelley M, et al. Pilon fractures: treatment with combined internal and external fixation. J Orthop Trauma 1993;6:489-96.

[9] Okcu G, Aktuglu K. Intra-articular fractures of the tibial plafond. A comparison of the results using articulated and ring external fixators. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2004;86:868-75.

[10] Gustilo RB, Anderson JT. Prevention of infection in the treatment of one thousand and twenty-five open fractures of long bones: retrospective and prospective analyses. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1976;58:453-8.

[11] Bargon G. Röntgenmorphologische Gradeinteilung der posttraumatischen Arthrose im oberen Sprunggelenk. HefteUnfallheilkd 1978;133:28-34.

[12] Beals TC. Application of ring fixators in complex foot and ankle trauma. Orthop Clin North Am 2001;32:205-14.

[13] Kapoor SK, Kataria H, Patra SR, Boruah T. Capsuloligamentotaxis and definitive fixation by an ankle-spanning Ilizarov fixator in highenergy pilon fractures. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2010;92:1100-6.

[14] Wyrsch B, McFerran MA, McAndrew M, Limbird TJ, Harper MC, Johnson KD, et al. Operative treatment of fractures of the tibial plafond. A randomized, prospective study. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1996;78:1646-57.

[15] Marsh JL, Bonar S, Nepola JV, Decoster TA, Hurwitz SR. Use of an articulated external fixator for fractures of the tibial plafond. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1995;77:1498-509.

[16] McDonald MG, Burgess RC, Bolano LE, Nicholls PJ. Ilizarov treatment of pilon fractures. Clin Orthop 1996;325:232-8.

[17] Osman W, Alaya Z, Kaziz H, Hassini L, Braiki M, Naouar N, et al. Treatment of high-energy pilon fractures using the ILIZAROV treatment. Pan Afr Med J 2017;27:199.

[18] Pugh KJ, Wolinsky PR, McAndrew MP, Johnson KD. Tibial pilon fractures: a comparison of treatment methods. J Trauma 1999;47:937-41.

[19] Watson JT, Moed BR, Karges DE, Cramer KE. Treatment protocol based on severity of soft tissue injury. Clin Orthop 2000;375:78-90.

[20] Vidyadhara S, Sharath K. Ilizarov treatment of complex tibial pilon fractures. Int Orthop 2006;30:113-7.

[21] Brumback RJ, McGarvey WC. Fractures of the tibial plafond: evolving treatment concepts for the pilon fracture. Orthop Clin North Am 1995;26:273-85.

[22] Bone L, Stegemann P, McNamara K, Seibel R. External fixation of severely comminuted and open tibial pilon fractures. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1993;292:101-7.

[23] Fırat A, Tecimel O, Işık C, Ozdemir M, Oçgüder A, Bozkurt M. [Ilizarov external fixator in the management of tibial pilon fractures: ankle hinged vs ankle fixed frame]. Eklem Hastalik Cerrahisi 2013;24:133-8. [Article in Turkish]

[24] Guo Y, Tong L, Li S, Liu Z. External fixation combined with limited internal fixation versus open reduction internal fixation for treating Ruedi-Allgower type III pilon fractures. Med Sci Monit 2015;21:1662-7.

[25] Elsoe R, Larsen P, Petruskevicius J, Kold S. Complex tibial fractures are associated with lower social classes and predict early exit from employment and worse patient-reported QOL: a prospective observational study of 46 complex tibial fractures treated with a ring fixator. Strategies Trauma Limb Reconstr 2017 Nov 4. doi: 10.1007/s11751-017-0301-y.



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

Original Article

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.328117

Intradiscal electrothermal therapy for chronic discogenic low back pain: a comparison of two heating protocols

Korgün Ökmen¹, Burcu Metin Ökmen²

¹Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey ²Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research

²Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. This study aims to evaluate the effect of intradiscal electrothermal therapy (IDET) applied in patients with chronic low back pain using two heating protocols. *Methods.* In this study, data of 50 patients who were exposed to percutaneous IDET using two heating protocols were retrospectively analyzed. The patients were divided into two groups: in Group 1 (n=25), maximum 750C catheter tipping was used, while in Group 2 (n=25), maximum 900C catheter tipping was performing. Pre-treatment (M0) and post-treatment results at 3 (M3), 6 (M6), 12 (M12), and 18 months (M18) were evaluated using the visual analogue acale (VAS), Oswestry disability index (ODI), and short form-36 (SF-36) scores. *Results.* There was no statistically significant difference in demografic characteristics and M0 VAS, ODI values and SF-36 dimensions of the patients between the groups (p > 0.05). It was found that there were statistically significant improvement than baseline values in the M3, M6, M12, and M18 VAS, ODI, and SF-36 pain values were found statistically significant in the positive direction in Group 2 (p < 0.05). *Conclusion.* Similar successful results were obtained in our study involving two different heating procedures up to 12 months of administering IDET treatment. But at the 18th month the 900C IDET seems to be more effective in improving the pain scores.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):168-173

Keywords: chronic low back pain, intradiscal electrothermal therapy, intradiscal treatment

Introduction

A herniated disc is caused when the nucleus pulposus (NP) breaches the annulus fibrosus (AF). Low back and leg pain, and lumbar disc disease (LDD) develop as a result of degenerative disc herniation [1]. On the other hand, 40% of chronic low back pain has been reported to be due to discogenic pain [1, 2]. Many treatment methods have been reported in the treatment of LDD, including medical (i.e., non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs), physical medicine and rehabilitation (PMR), and, if indicated, surgery and minimal invasive interventions (i.e., epidural therapy, intradiscal interventions) can be

Address for correspondence:

Korgün Ökmen, MD., University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Mimar Sinan mah. Emniyet Cad., 16130 Bursa, Turkey E-mail: korgunokmen @ gmail.com Phone: +90224 295 50 00, Fax: +90224 295 54 97 Received: July 12, 2017; Accepted: November 20, 2017; Published Online: December 5, 2017
applied [1]. Currently, percutaneous modalities including intradiscal electrothermal therapy (IDET), light amplification by stimulated emission of radiation (LASER), radiofrequency (RF), and pulsed RF techniques are frequently in use [3-5].

Intradiscal electrothermal therapy was first used by Sall&Sall [6] in 1997. The standard procedure is as follows: after inserting the intradiscal catheter with the flexible tip at the posterior annulus, the tip temperature is elevated from 65°C to 90°C over 12.5 minutes, and the procedure is maintained at this temperature for four minutes. The temperature of AF is elevated to 60°C to 65°C using this procedure. The possible mechanism for IDET involves thermocoagulation of unmyelinated nerve fibers and stabilization of collagens in the annular fracture through shrinking of nociceptors [7]. Several studies have reported the short-term (12-month) and long-term (24-month) success of this treatment modality, while some others have shown no efficacy of this procedure [8-10]. On the other hand, literature reviews and meta-analyses of meticulously selected studies among patients with positive discography and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings have demonstrated that the procedure can be effective and safe [10, 11]. Although rare, certain permanent or temporal neural injuries due to heat effect have been also reported following IDET as a minimal invasive procedure [12, 13].

We could not find a study comparing different catheter tip temperatures in patients who applied IDET in the literature. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the effect of IDET applied at targeted catheter tip temperatures of 75°C and 90°C in patients with chronic low back pain (CLBP) associated with LDD.

Methods

This study was planned as retrospective and controlled. The study protocol was approved by the local Ethics Committee (The decision number: 2011-KAEK-25 2016/08-02). A public hospital records of a total of 260 patients who were admitted to neurosurgery, algology, and PMR outpatient clinics between January 2012 and January 2015, and who underwent percutaneous intradiscal intervention were retrospectively analyzed. Inclusion criteria were as follows: the presence of low back pain unresponsive to medical or PMR therapies for more than six months, presence of a negative straight-leg raise test, normal neurological examination findings, positive

discography as assessed by higher visual analogue scale (VAS) scores (> 50% with discography), absence of nerve root compression on lumbar MRI, less than 50% decrease in the disc height, and \leq 3 mm disc protrusion with a VAS score of >5.

Exclusion criterias were as follows: extruded or sequestrated discs, two or more pathological discs, moderate or severe spinal stenosis, systemic infection, history of or current disc infection, surgical site infection, lower extremity radiculopathy, and systemic opioid use.

Fifty patients who met the inclusion criteria during follow-up were examined into two groups: Group 1 included the patients who underwent 75° C IDET (n=25), and Group 2 included the patients who underwent 90°C IDET (n=25).

The level where the procedure was to be performed in the prone position was identified with Carm fluoroscopy. After site preparation, local anesthesia was given. The needle in an appropriate length was, then, inserted 8 to 12 cm laterally in the midline at the appropriate disc level using the tunnelvision technique. The needle site was confirmed in the anteroposterior and lateral positions. The intradiscal catheter directed with 17G (SpineCATH® NeuroTherm, Wilmington, MA, USA) was placed in the posterior annulus of the symptomatic disc. After initiating the 65°C heating protocol, an increase of 1°C was made within 30 seconds. Approximately five minutes after the beginning of the procedure, a stable temperature of 75°C was achieved and the procedure was terminated at this temperature at 16 minutes. In Group 2, a temperature of 90°C was achieved over 12.5 minutes with a standard procedure. The procedure was terminated at this temperature at 16 minutes.1 mL physiological saline + antibiotic (cefazolin) mixture was injected into the disc following the procedure. Both heating protocols were applied by the same expert investigator. The patients did not know which heating procedure they were treated. The routine controls of the patients were performed in physical therapy outpatient clinics. Before treatment (M0) and after treatment results at three (M3), six (M6), 12 (M12), and 18 months (M18) were evaluated using the VAS, Oswestry disability Index (ODI), and short form-36 (SF-36) scores by an another blind investigator who did not attempt the intradiscal electrothermal therapy in routine controls. Pain intensity was measured using 0-10 cm VAS (0 =no pain, 10 = intolerable pain) [14]. ODI is used to assess the level of functional disability. It is a selfadministered questionnaire and is consisting of 10 questions about activities of daily living scored between 0 and 5. Final result is calculated as patient's score/ maximum score X 100. The total score is between 0 and 50 [15].

The SF-36 is also a self-administered questionnaire which gives information on positive or negative health status of the individual. This scale evaluates the eight dimensions for the past four weeks [16].

The patients were asked whether they had received any other treatment when they came for control visit and were allowed to use paracetamol for pain.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical calculations were performed by using the SPSS 22.0 program. When the study data were evaluated, the Fisher Exact test was used to compare gender and the Pearson chi square (52) test was used in the comparison of the qualitative variables, in addition to descriptive statistical methods (frequency, percentage, mean and standard deviation). Shapiro-Wilk test were used to assess for conformity to normal distribution. When normally distribution was found, student's t test was used for comparisons between groups. When variables were found nonnormally distributed, Mann Whitney U test was used for comparisons between groups and Wilcoxon test was used for intragroup analysis. Friedman's test was used for multiple time point comparisons. Where significant differences have been detected, LSD and Tukey's HSD tests were used to identify the time point/s responsible for such differences. Significance

level was set at p=0.05.

Results

Of 50 patients, 20 were males and 30 were females. The median age for group 1 was 58 (range: 48 to 70) years and for group 2 was 59 (range: 36 to 70) years. When the demographic characteristics of the patients are examined, there was no statistically significant difference in terms of age, gender, body mass index (BMI), duration of disease and level of the disc between the groups (p>0.05) (Table 1). Additionally, there was also no statistically significant difference between groups in M0 VAS, ODI values and SF-36 dimensions of the patients (p>0.05) (Tables 2 and 3).

When the values of M3, M6, M12 and M18 VAS and ODI subcomponents are compared with M0 values, statistically significant improvement was found in all groups according to M0 values in both groups (p<0.05) (Table 2).

Between the groups, there was no statistically significant difference in the M3, M6 and M12 VAS and SF-36 subcomponent values (p>0.05), while the M18 VAS and SF-36 pain values were found statistically significant in the positive direction in Group 2 (p<0.05). When the values of M3, M6, M12 and M18 in ODI and SF-36 values other than pain subcomponent were compared, no statistically significant difference was found between the two groups (p>0.05) (Table 3).

Three patients in Group 2 reported pain-related discomfort during the procedure, however, pain was

	Group 1	Group 2	*	
	(n = 25)	(n = 25)	р	
Age (year)	58 (48-70)	59 (36-70)	0.800	
Gender				
Female	14 (56%)	16 (64%)		
Male	11 (44%)	9 (36%)	0.773	
Body Mass Index $(1 - x^2)$	29.59 ± 4.48	29.83 ± 3.63	0.691	
(kg/m) Duration of pain (month)	13.4 ± 4.07	14.84 ± 4.96	0.335	
Level of disc				
L4-L5	19 (76%)	20 (75%)		
L5-S1	6 (24%)	5 (25%)	0.735	

 Table 1. Comparison of the demographic characteristics of the patients.

Data are shown as mean±standard deviation, or median (min–max) or number (percent). Group $1 = 75^{\circ}$ C IDET (intradiscal electrothermal therapy), Group $2 = 90^{\circ}$ C IDET, * Comparison between groups

Table 2.	Comparison	of the M0	and M3, N	46, M12	, M18	VAS an	d ODI	values	of study	and c	ontro
groups.											

		M0	M3	M6	M12	M18	<i>p</i> **
VAS	Group 1	6 (3-9)	2 (0-6)	2 (0-5)	2 (0-3)	3 (0-7)	< 0.001
	Group 2	6 (5-8)	3 (0-5)	3 (0-4)	2 (0-5)	2 (0-6)	< 0.001
	p^{*}	0.563	0.402	0.128	0.439	0.018	
ODI	Group 1	38 (26-50)	24 (8-48)	18 (6-36)	12 (6-20)	12 (0-28)	< 0.001
	Group 2	40 (32-45)	24 (20-38)	19 (12-36)	10 (6-24)	10 (6-24)	< 0.001
	p^{*}	0.334	0.408	0.328	0.067	0.321	

Data are shown as median (min-max). Group $1 = 75^{\circ}$ C IDET (intradiscal electrothermal therapy), Group $2 = 90^{\circ}$ C IDET, VAS = visual analog scale, ODI = Oswestry disability index, M0 = month 0, M3 = month 3, M6 = month 6, M12 = month 12, M18 = month 18, * Comparison between groups, ** Comparison within groups (M0 between others)

not enough to warrant the termination of the procedure. None of the patients had permanent or temporal complications. No additional analgesics, PMR, or any other intervention was given to the patients during follow-up.

In the present study, to reduce the risk of thermal injury, we applied IDET by using 2 different catheter tips (75°C and 90°C) and compared the results of M0, M3, M6, M12, and M18 using the VAS, ODI, and SF-36. We reported a statistically significant improvement in both groups at the end of the M12. However, we demonstrated a statistically significant improvement in the VAS and SF-36 pain scores at M18 in patients

Discussion

SF-36	M0	M3	M6	M12	M18	<i>p</i> **
Physical Function						
Group 1	45 (35-55)	65 (50-80)	70 (50-80)	65 (45-80)	60 (40-75)	< 0.001
Group 2	45 (35-60)	60 (45-75)	60 (45-75)	60 (45-75)	60 (45-80)	< 0.001
<i>p</i> *	0.334	0.150	0.063	0.145	0.353	
Physical Role						
Group 1	25 (10-50)	40 (25-55)	50 (25-75)	37.5 (12.5-55)	37.5 (12.5-60)	< 0.001
Group 2	25 (12.5-37.5)	50 (25-75)	50 (25-75)	37.5 (12.5-60)	37.5 (12.5-60)	< 0.001
<i>p</i> *	0.975	0.068	0.322	0.387	0.730	
Pain						
Group 1	35 (22.5-55)	62 (50-70)	55 (35-81)	45(35-81)	67(22.5-70)	< 0.001
Group 2	22.5 (16.30-	55 (22.5-70)	67 (22.5-70)	35 (22.5-70)	45 (22-70)	< 0.001
p^*	70)	0.421	0.155	0.095	0.003	
	0.175					
General Health						
Group 1	35 (20-55)	65 (50-70)	60 (40-70)	60 (40-70)	50 (35-70)	< 0.001
Group 2	22.5 (16.30-	60 (35-70)	65 (40-70)	60 (35-70)	60 (35-70)	< 0.001
p^*	70)	0.155	0.441	0.858	0.353	
	0.175					
Vitality						
Group 1	35 (25-55)	60 (25-80)	60 (50-80)	65 (25-80)	55 (50-75)	< 0.001
Group 2	35 (25-60)	60 (50-75)	60 (50-75)	65 (50-80)	55 (25-70)	< 0.001
p*	0.690	0.192	0.138	0.707	0.920	
Social Function						
Group 1	37.5 (25-62.5)	62.5 (25-75)	62.5 (25-75)	62.5 (25-75)	62.5 (25-75)	< 0.001
Group 2	37.5 (25-50)	50 (25-75)	62.5 (25-75)	50 (25-75)	50 (25-75)	< 0.001
p*	0.908	0.309	0.992	0.385	0.056	
Emotional Role						
Group 1	33 (16.3-50)	50 (16.3-75)	50 (16.3-75)	50 (16,3-50)	50 (16.3-50)	< 0.001
Group 2	33 (16.3-50)	33 (16.3-50)	33 (16.3-50)	50 (16.3-75)	50 (16.3-50)	< 0.001
<i>p</i> *	0.418	0.567	0.406	0.791	0.837	
Mental Health						
Group 1	44 (25-55)	62 (52-71)	62 (52-71)	62 (52-71)	55 (52-80)	< 0.001
Group2	35 (25-52)	60 (35-80)	60 (40-80)	55 (35-80)	60 (52-75)	< 0.001
<i>p</i> *	0.141	0.487	0.852	0.531	0.611	

Table 3. Comparison of the M0 and M3, M6, M12, M18 SF-36 values of study and control groups.

Data are shown as median (min-max). Group $1 = 75^{\circ}$ C IDET (intradiscal electrothermal therapy), Group $2 = 90^{\circ}$ C IDET, SF-36 = short form 36, M0 = month 0, M3 = month 3, M6 = month 6, M12 = month 12, M18 = month 18, * Comparison between groups, ** Comparison within groups (M0 between others) who were exposed to 90° C, compared to those who were exposed to heat temperature of 75° C.

With the increased use of IDET in patients with CLBP, increased complication rates have been reported in the literature. Manchikanti et al. [17] evaluated complications of 3,500 patients and reported that complications were often associated with technical problems and with heat. Complications associated with heat are cauda equina syndrome due to nerve injury, temporary or permanent long-term low back and leg pain, and vertebral osteonecrosis [17]. The results of this study showed that, unlike seen with the spinal cord, nerve roots and dorsal ganglion were not found in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF); hence, they were not protected from heat temperatures of more than 45°C. A meta-analysis analyzing 17 IDET studies demonstrated that this treatment modality was relatively effective and safe with a complication rate of 0.8% (0.2 to 1.4%) [11]. The insertion of a catheter is also critical in terms of the risk of complications. Konno et al. [18] demonstrated that 70°C exposure for five minutes was sufficient to create nerve damage and that there was a possibility of injury, when the catheter was wrongly inserted. In our study, we did not encounter any complications in both groups. This may be due to the fact that our patient count was low or we did not displace the catheter wrongly.

Furthermore, human cadaver studies have investigated the mechanism of the effect of IDET and evaluated its effect on the disc and surrounding tissues [19-21]. In the studies conducted by Wegener et al. [19] in 10 human L4-L5 cadaver vertebral discs, discs with bulging and fissure were excluded. During the measurements of IDET treatment administered to the discs which were considered healthy, the annulus temperature was measured to be 45°C, although the posterior annulus acted as a heat barrier, and a possibility of thermal injury was considered. However, one of the two risks of the study was the inability of proper insertion of the catheter; the second was the possibility of different heat distributions and variability on damaged discs involved in the study [19]. In another study, heat temperature surrounding the catheter was evaluated and a temperature of 60°C to 650C was obtained, when the catheter was localized at a distance of 2 mm, whereas a temperature of 45°C was reported for a distance of 9 to 14 mm [20]. Kleinstueck et al. [21] including 12 human cadaver specimens demonstrated that a catheter placed at a distance of 1 to 2 mm could yield collagenous denaturation and reported that the success of treatment could be attributed to other causes. On the other hand,

the main limitations of cadaver studies include the lack of the effect of CSF flow and surrounding tissue structures of the platform used for the procedure [19-21].

In a study conducted by Derby et al. [22] different procedures of administering IDET were investigated to identify the duration of heating catheter tips at different temperatures during the administration of IDET. A total of 35 patients were evaluated in a treatment procedure involving one or two catheters. Although good results were reported at high temperatures in this retrospective study including 25 patients at eight months, its 16-month follow-up results revealed that the treatment was not effective at high temperatures [22]. The interesting results of our study was, however, the fact that, although the degree of benefit for VAS and SF-36 pain subgroup scores at a catheter tip temperature of 75°C which decreased 12 months after treatment, we did not observe any statistically significant difference in the other measurable variables between the two groups.

Furthermore, although favorable conditions prevailed in the group which received a maximum heat temperature of 90°C, the decline in benefit after 12 months of 75°C heating can be attributed to the inability of adequately or permanently maintaining the posterior annulus nerve damage. The affinity of centrifugal growth of the annular nerve fibers was suggested to be due to pain, which also supports our findings [23]. In a study investigating the effect of heat on the nerve tissue, short-term exposure at heat temperatures of 40°C to 45°C were reported to induce certain damages; however, the damage was reported to be manageable and non-fatal [24]. The physiological effects of the exposures at these temperatures include an increased cellular metabolism, inactivation of enzymes, increased permeability, and increased blood flow [24]. Another factor during recovery was the degree of collagenous shrinking [25]. The catheter tip temperatures used in both groups of our study seem to have attained a degree of providing collagenous shrinking at the nucleus. For this reason, we think that there is no statistically significant difference between the groups in functional recovery in both groups.

The Limitations of the Study

There are some limitations to this study. Small sample size and retrospective design of the study can be regarded as the limitations.

Conclusions

Similar successful results were obtained in our study involving two different heating procedures up to 12 months of administering IDET treatment. But at the 18th month the 900C IDET seems to be more effective in improving the pain scores.

Authorship declaration

All authors listed meet the authorship criteria according to the latest guidelines of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors, and all authors are in agreement with the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Erdine S. Ağrı .Nobel Medical Publishers, 3rd ed. Istanbul, Nobel Medical Publishers 2007, chapter 52,:427-34.

[2] Schwartzer AC, Aprill CN, Derby R, Fortin J, Kine G, Bogduk N. The prevelance and clinical features of internal disc disruption in patients with chronic low back pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 1995;20:1878-83.

[3] Freedman BA, Cohen SP, Kuklo TR, Lehman RA, Larkin P, Giuliani JR. Intradiscal electrothermal therapy (IDET) for chronic low back pain in active-duty soldiers: 2-year follow-up. Spine J 2003;3:502-9.

[4] Ren L,Guo H, Zhang T, Han Z, Zhang L, Zeng Y. Efficacy evaluation of percutaneous laser disc decompression in the treatment of lumbar disc herniation. Photomed Laser Surg 2013;31:174-8.

[5] Fukui S, Nitta K, Iwashita N, Tomie H, Nosaka S, Rohof O. Intradiscal pulsed radiofrequency for chronic lumbar discogenic low back pain Intradiscal: a one year prospective outcome study using discoblock for diagnosis. Pain Physician 2013;16:E435-42.

[6] Saal JA, Saal JS, Ashley J. Targeted intradiscal thermal therapy: preliminary feasibility results; Presented at the anual meeting of the international society for the study of the lumbar spine; June 2-6, 1997; Singapore.

[7] Saal JS, Saal JA. Management of chronic discogenic low back pain

with a thermal intradiscal catheter. A preliminary report. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2000;25:382-8.

[8] Saal JA, Saal JS. Intradiscal electrothermal treatment for chronic discogenic low back pain. A prospective outcome study with a minimum 1-year follow-up. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2000;25:2622-7.

[9] Assietti R, Morosi M, Migliaccio G, Meani L, Block JE. Treatment of discogenic low back pain with Intradiscal Electrothermal Therapy (IDET): 24 months follow-up in 50 consecutive patients. Acta Neurochir Suppl 2011;108:103-5.

[10] Andersson GB, Mekhail NA, Block JE. Treatment of intractable discogenic low back pain. A systematic review of spinal fusion and IDET. Pain Physician. 2006;9:237-48.

[11] Appleby D, Andersson G, Totta M. Meta-analysis of the efficacy and safety of intradiscal electrothermal therapy (IDET). Pain Med 2006;7:308-16.

[12] Ackerman WE. Cauda eguina syndrome after intradiscal electrothermal therapy. Reg Anaesth Pain Med 2002;27:622.

[13] Scholl BM, Theiss SM, Lopez-Ben R, Kraft M. Vertebral osteonecrosis related to intradiscal electrothermal therapy. A case report. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2003;28:E161-4.

[14] Huskisson EC. Measurement of pain. Lancet 1974;2:1127-31.

[15] Yakut E, Düger T, Oksüz C, Yörükan S, Ureten K, Turan D, et al. Validation of the Turkish version of the Oswestry Disability Index for patients with low back pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2004;29:581-5.

[16] Koçyiğit H, Aydemir Ö, Fişek G, Ölmez N, Memiş A. Kısa Form-36'nın Türkçe Versiyonunun Güvenilirliği ve Geçerliliği. İlaç ve Tedavi Dergisi 1999;12:102-6.

[17] Manchikanti L, Datta S, Derby R, Helm S. Intradiscal electrothermal therapy treatment for back pain. Pain Manag 2011;1:41-51.

[18] Konno S, Olmarker K, Byrod G, Nordborg C, Strömqvist B, Rydevik B. The European Spine Society AcroMed Prize 1994. Acute thermal nerve root injury. Eur Spine J 1994;3:299-302.

[19] Wegener B, Rieskamp K, Büttner A, Habiyambere V, von Schultze-Pellangahr C, Schaffer V, et al. Experimental evaluation of the risk of extradiscal thermal damage in intradiscal electrothermal therapy (IDET). Pain Physician 2012;15:E99-E106.

[20] Bono CM, Iki K, Jalota A, Dawson K, Garfin SR. Temperatures within the lumbar disc and endplates during intradiscal electrothermal therapy: formulation of a predictive temperature map in relation to distance from the catheter. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2004; 29:1124-9; discussion 1130-1.

[21] Kleinstueck FS, Diederich CJ, Nau WH, Puttlitz CM, Smith JA, Bradford DS, et al. Temperature and thermal dose distributions during intradiscal electrothermal therapy in the cadaveric lumbar spine. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2003;28:1700-8.

[22] Derby R, Seo KS, Kazala K, Chen YC, Lee SH, Kim BJ. A factor analysis of lumbar intradiscal electrothermal annuloplasty outcomes. Spine J 2005;5:256-61.

[23] Coppes MH, Marani E, Thomeer RT, Groen GJ. Innervation of "painful" lumbar discs. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 1997;22: 2342-50.

[24] Engin K. Biological rationale and clinical experience with hyperthermia. Control Clin Trials 1996;17:316-42.

[25] Bogduk N, Lau P, Govind J, Karasek M. Intradiscal electrothermal therapy. Tech Reg Anesth Pain Manage 2005;9:25-34.



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

Original Article

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.305961

The incidence of musculoskeletal system occupational diseases among tuberculosis laboratory workers

Tuğba Gül¹, Serdar Savaş Gül²

¹Directorate of Public Health, Ministry of Health, Ankara, Turkey ²Department of Nuclear Medicine, Gaziosmanpaşa University School of Medicine, Tokat, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective. Health care workers are exposed to various kinds of professional risks like needle stick injuries, lower back and back problems, allergies, violence and stress. Health care workers in tuberculosis laboratory are exposed to both infection and musculoskeletal system occupational disease risks because of using Class II, Type B biological safety cabinets and laboratory vortex equipment. This study was carried out to determine incidence rates and causes of the musculoskeletal system occupational diseases among health care workers in tuberculosis laboratories of two State hospitals in Ankara. Methods. Study population was composed of 16 laboratory workers in tuberculosis laboratories of two State hospitals in Ankara. Data was collected using a questionnaire. *Results.* Thirteen (81.2%) laboratory workers were male and three (18.8%) were female. The mean age of the subjects was 40.1 ± 7.0 years and average duration of occupation of subjects was 208.3 ± 11.6 month. According to the data, of the 16 personnel, 10 (62.5%) had occupational disease. Incidence rates of occupational diseases were as follows; 62.5% shoulder pain, 25.0% wrist pain and 18.8% elbow pain. Duration of their occupation was significantly associated with elbow pain (p = 0.037). There was a significant relationship between hand and wrist pain and smoking (p = 0.042). Seventy-five per cent of laboratory workers did not think they had enough information on occupational diseases, and 68.8% of them wanted to have information about occupational diseases. Conclusions The most prevalent occupational diseases among the tuberculosis laboratory workers in our sample were shoulder, elbow and wrist pains. Duration of occupation and smoking were associated with the incidence of occupational diseases.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):174-179

Keywords: Tuberculosis laboratory, musculoskeletal system, occupational diseases

Introduction

Musculoskeletal system diseases (MSDs) are "work-related" diseases or conditions in muscleskeletal system as described by International Occupational Health and Safety Committee. "Workrelated" term has been used by World Health Organization for describing scientific cause of a

Address for correspondence:

Copyright © 2018 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy

Serdar Savaş Gül, MD., Assistant Professor, Gaziosmanpaşa University School of Medicine, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Tokat, Turkey E-mail: gopnukleertip@gmail.com

Received: April 13, 2017; Accepted: December 5, 2017; Published Online: December 8, 2017

multifactor condition arising from the effect of two factors such as performing a work and working environment. MSDs develop as a result of repetitive motions such as twisting, stretching, gripping, holding, pressing and reaching, which lead to damage in tendons, muscles, nerves and other soft tissues [1]. Occupational disease-related MSDs arise as a result of damaging effect of repetitive physical motions on tendons, muscles, nerves and other soft tissues. The main complaint is pain in upper extremities, neck, shoulder, hand wrists and lower back. Etiological factors are bad postures and motions, excess load on muscles during work, speed, duration and repetitive characters of work, excess labor during motion, vibration, heat and use of tools with poor ergonomics. Thirty five million health workers worldwide constitute 12% of all working population [2]. Job accidents and occupational diseases are among the major problems of working life. According to work safety studies, 98% of work accidents are preventable. For the prevention of occupational diseases and job accidents, continuous health checks have been introduced for workers [3]. MSDs are common among health workers. It has been reported that MSDs have considerable effects on life quality, reduce working life, increase work limitation and necessitate changing the work of individual. It could lead to economic problems for individual and for society at large. A study revealed that MSDs affect lower back region most in health workers [4]. Incidence of the condition in upper extremity has been reported to be 16.2% for wrists/hands, 12.6% for shoulder and 7.1% for elbow. In addition to occupational risks exposed by workers in other sectors, health workers are subject to some extra risks unique to their work. These additional risk factors show a wide spectrum involving needle stick injuries, back and lower back problems, latex allergy, violence and stress. Hospital laboratories involve many hazards for health workers. Biological hazards are leading ones due to working with highly concentrated pathogens.

Tuberculosis laboratory is known as dangerous laboratory group and the primary aim of tuberculosis laboratories is to detect infectious pulmonary tuberculosis cases, to follow-up treatment and posttreatment patients. Tuberculosis laboratory is required to have at least one biosafety cabinets for culture and drug sensitivity studied. In addition to personal protective equipment, aerosol-forming processes (pipetting, vortexing, mixing, agitation, transferring) must be done in biosafety cabinets and specially designed centrifuges should be used for centrifugation.

Biological analysis laboratories such as a tuberculosis laboratory have health concerns due to presence of chemicals and medical apparatus and to ergonomic problems (inappropriate postures, heavy loads) in addition to concerns arising from pathogens. Biosafety cabins in the tuberculosis laboratory often cause musculoskeletal disorders.

Tuberculosis laboratory workers are exposed not only to bacteriological risks but also to MSDs. In the literature, there are not enough studies about this subject in tuberculosis laboratory workers. In the present study, MSDs, frequently diagnosed in workers of tuberculosis laboratories but rarely considered as occupational disease, and their reasons were studied.

Methods

Formal request was made to Public Health Laboratories of Ankara Public Health Directorate and in tuberculosis laboratory of Atatürk Training and Research Hospital for Chest Diseases and Surgery for visits to departments before the study, and permission was granted. Tuberculosis laboratory workers to participate in the study were informed in advance and interviews were made with ones willing to participate. Sixteen laboratory technicians working in tuberculosis laboratory constituted the study population. No sampling was made and all sixteen workers comprising the whole population was studied. Data were collected by a single investigator through faceto-face interviews and observation techniques. Data collection tool / questionnaire form of the study was conducted on a total of tuberculosis laboratory workers in order to determine what they know about MSDs.

Duty of a technician working in a tuberculosis laboratory is to search for the presence of Mycobacterium tuberculosis bacillus in material (pleura, sputum, tissue, urine, feces, etc.) sent to laboratory. In tuberculosis laboratory, following procedures are applied for each materials in Class II, Type B biological safety cabinet (air flow is from the room where user is located towards inside the cabinet so that user safety is ensured): a certain amount of sodium hydroxide is added into each material coming to laboratory in a container with a special lid and then lid is closed. Fifteen minutes later, material is mixed using vortex machine (a tool used for mixing laboratory tubes) for 1-2 minutes, buffer solution is added to adjust pH and the tube is centrifuged for 15



Figure 1. Working images of health personnel in tuberculosis laboratory by Class II, Type B safety cabinet and vortex machine.

minutes. Then materials are inoculated in Lowenstein Jensen medium and stained. All these processes are conducted by laboratory worker holding material with his/her hands and raising arms about shoulder level (Figure 1).

Questionnaire forms including questions categorized in six main groups about what MSDs which especially due to vibration, repetitive motion and poor posture disturbance are and what they should be careful about were directed to health workers and were completed by face-to-face method. Questionnaire technique was used in which crosssectional and descriptive questionnaire was employed to collect data for the study. Based on the information in literature, questionnaire forms having 15 questions were prepared. Tuberculosis laboratory employees were asked questions about musculoskeletal disorders which especially due to vibration, repetitive motion and poor posture disturbance. The form contained questions about variables such as age, gender, marital status, clinic in which the technician was employed, duration and type of work, smoking, pain character in

the upper extremity area, medical treatment status as well as questions measuring the level of information about MSDs as occupational disease. Information was gathered from participants about whether they were hospitalized due to upper extremity complaints, whether they changed their works, whether they experienced pain in last week, month or year, whether the pain affect their work/family life, whether they visited a physician/physiotherapist, whether they used pain killers and whether they underwent an operation because of these complaints. The relationship between the duration of work and MSDs was investigated.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed as frequency and percentage distribution using SPSS 18.0 statistical analysis software. Pearson Chi-Square, Fisher's Exact Test, Kruskal Wallis Test, Continuity Correction Test and Mann-Whitney U Test were used in analyses. Two sided p value was used in all analyses and p < 0.05 was considered significant.

No.	Gender	Marital status	Duration of work (month)	Smoking	Shoulder pain	Elbow pain	Hand /hand wrist pain	Medical treatment
1	F	Married	120	Never	No	No	No	No
2	F	Married	252	Gave up	No	No	No	No
3	F	Married	352	Gave up	Yes	Yes	Yes	Medicine
4	F	Single	240	Smoking	Yes	No	Yes	No
5	Μ	Single	73	Never	No	No	No	No
6	Μ	Single	300	Smoking	Yes	No	No	No
7	F	Married	288	Never	Yes	No	No	Physiotherapy and medicine
8	F	Married	249	Gave up	Yes	No	No	No
9	F	Married	278	Never	Yes	No	No	No
10	F	Single	312	Gave up	Yes	Yes	Yes	Physiotherapy and medicine
11	F	Married	30	Never	Yes	No	No	No
12	F	Married	22	Smoking	Yes	No	No	No
13	F	Married	36	Never	No	No	No	No
14	F	Married	264	Smoking	Yes	Yes	Yes	Physiotherapy and medicine
15	М	Single	278	Never	No	No	No	No
16	F	Single	240	Smoking	No	No	No	No

Table 1. Demographic data of laboratory workers.

F = female, M = male

Results

Thirteen (81.2%) of the 16 tuberculosis laboratory workers were women and three (18.8%) were men. Average age was 40.1 ± 7.0 years and average duration of occupation was 208.3 ± 11.6 months. In terms of smoking, nine workers (56.25%) never smoked and seven (43.7%) were actually smoking or had smoked in the past and gave up. Demographic data about participants were given in Table 1.

Results showed that 10 out of 16 workers (62.5%) had MSDs. Occupational diseases detected among tuberculosis laboratories were shoulder pain (62.50%), hand wrist pain (25.00%) and elbow pain (18.75%) (Figure 2). There was a significant correlation between the duration in occupation and elbow pain (p = 0.037) (Figure 3.). Another significant correlation was found between smoking and elbow pain (p = 0.049) (Figure 4).



Figure 2. Incidence rate of musculoskeletal system diseases.



Figure 3. Relationship between duration of work and musculoskeletal system diseases among laboratory workers.

One person diagnosed with MSDs was treated with drug treatment (6.25%) and three with drug treatment plus physiotherapy (18.75%). No laboratory worker had history of surgery due to MSDs.



Figure 4. Relationship between smoking and musculoskeletal system diseases among laboratory workers.

Seventy-five of the laboratory workers considered themselves lacking sufficient amount of knowledge about occupational disease (Figure 5). Of all laboratory workers, 68.8% wanted to have detailed information about MSDs (Figure 6).



Figure 5. Percentage of laboratory workers who considered themselves informed enough about occupational diseases.



Figure 6. Percentage of laboratory workers who wanted to get detailed information about occupational diseases.

Discussion

MSDs are among the most significant problems of working life [5]. MSDs involve muscles, tendons, ligaments, joints, peripheral nerves and blood vessels, and could lead to inflammatory and degenerative conditions causing pain in the involved area [6]. MSDs-related risk factors are physical, social and personal [7]. Main complaint is pain in upper extremities, neck, shoulder, hand wrists and lower back [8]. In our study, tuberculosis laboratory workers were found to have upper extremity-related diseases than other extremity-related diseases.

MSDs could have potential adverse impacts on both individuals and institutions. Its relationship with physical and mental health of work force has been studied in various investigations. In a study conducted on 410 office workers, reported musculoskeletal impairment incidence in the upper extremities was 27.5%, followed by impairment in shoulder (18.1%), hand/hand wrist symptom (13.9%) and impairment in elbow (5.3%) [9]. A study carried out on nurses revealed that 69% of the nurses suffered from back pain, 46% from shoulder pain, 54% from neck pain and these complaints were shown to be related to working area [10]. In the present study, 62.5% of health personnel working in tuberculosis laboratory had shoulder pain, 25.0% had hand wrist pain and 18.75% had elbow pain.

Health workers have risk for MSDs. Especially nurses rank third after heavy industry workers and heavy vehicle drivers to suffer from back pain due to their occupation. Health workers other than nurses such as dentists, physiotherapists and caregivers also have high risk for back pain. Smith *et al.* [11] have reported that musculoskeletal system pains are most common in shoulder, waist, neck and lower back regions in Japanese nurses. It was determined in the present study that laboratory workers had higher rates of upper extremity diseases because of having to work with Class II, Type B Biosafety cabinets.

There are mechanical risks in tuberculosis laboratory because of use of machines, laboratory tools and pressure containers such as autoclave. Centrifuges are machines working by high-speed spinning and could cause problems due to chemicals and wearing of metal over time. Mounting centrifuges on uneven surfaces could lead to vibration and falling. Working in a narrow area could cause a hot and noisy working environment. Our literature survey showed that MSDs were studied among health workers, specifically in nurses; however, there was no report in literature on MSDs among tuberculosis laboratory workers to our best knowledge [9, 10]. Workers in tuberculosis laboratories were exposed to risks that could lead to MSDs by working in Class II, Type B biosafety cabinets, in microscope studies, during separation of specimen on counters and working with monitors. We found that the risk of getting MSDs was high when working in the Type B biosafety cabinet.

Works requiring repetitive motions are tiring for employees. Health workers cannot entirely relax during the short breaks between duties. Although repetitive motions demand minimum power, efforts needed to continue these motions over time increase regularly. When the activity is continued without break despite the accumulated fatigue [12]. Workers exposed to vibration may have complaints about weakness and pain in hands and arms. Muscle fatigue could lead to injuries in some people. Since the health problems due to vibration, an inevitable fact of working life, arenotevident right after the start of exposure, vibration is not considered as a dangerous risk factor [13]. In our study, tuberculosis laboratory workers were found to have excessive fatigue, depression and loss of work power. Hand/hand wrist pain due to use of vortex machine has been frequent among the subjects of the present study. In addition, a positive association was found between smoking and hand/hand wrist pain.

There are some difficulties in recording occupational diseases in Turkey. Since background for the conditions of occupational diseases are difficult to determine, they may sometimes go unnoticed. A occupational disease can be apparent only after a long incubation period and lead to permanent damage. Despite their high incidence rates, MSDs are rarely reported as occupational diseases. Total number of reported cases of occupational diseases in Ankara Province was 6 in 2013, 9 in 2014 and 46 in 2015. According to 2016 hospital admission data of Gaziosmanpaşa University, Health, Research and Practice Hospital, 104 patients (44 male, 60 female; average age 56.6±11.7) had frozen shoulder, rotator cuff tendon injury and shoulder lesion diagnoses, but no patient had these diagnoses as occupational disease. Similarly, despite the presence of MSD diagnoses among tuberculosis laboratory health personnel, they were not reported as occupational disease.

The most important aspect of occupational diseases is that they are 100% preventable. When checking methods are appropriately used and necessary risk management practices are implemented, occupational diseases could be eliminated in businesses.

The Limitations of the Study

Study population was small because only tuberculosis laboratory workers were included. Since this was a questionnaire study, MSD diagnoses were not supported by laboratory tests and physical examination other than major and minor findings. Therefore, other pathologies that could not be excluded only by anamnesis should also be considered.

Conclusions

In conclusion, it should be kept in mind that MSDs could appear as occupational diseases among tuberculosis laboratory workers. It is thought that improved physical working conditions, orderly implementation of periodic health checks and administering appropriate treatment to workers who had diagnosis for occupational diseases could lower the negative effects of MSDs due to occupational exposure. In addition, it could be useful to organize physical exercise programs to strengthen body muscles such as waist, shoulder and neck muscles for all health workers and to teach them working in appropriate posture to eliminate and prevent MSDs.

Authorship declaration

All authors listed meet the authorship criteria according to the latest guidelines of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors, and all authors are in agreement with the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

Acknowledgements

This article was presented orally at the 2017 workshop in Antalya within the scope of the European Strategic Program on Research in Information Technology (ESPRIT) project.

We would like to thank laboratory technician Nilüfer Cülcüloğlu from Tuberculosis Laboratory of Atatürk Training and Research Hospital for Chest Diseases and Surgery for inspiring us about the study and Associate Professor Zekiye Hasbek from Nuclear Medicine Department of Cumhuriyet University School of Medicine for her assistance in statistical analyses.

References

[1] Cohen AL, Gjessing CC, Fine LJ, Bernard BP, McGlothin JD. Elements of Ergonomics: A Primer Based on Workplace Evaluations of Musculoskeletal Disorders. DHHS (NIOSH) Publication. 1997:97-117.

[2] Wilburn SQ, Eijkemans G. Preventing needle stick injuries among healthcare workers: WHO-ICN collaboration. Int J Occup Environ Health 2004;10:451-6.
[3] Erdogan E. Ozdemir MC. Assessment of occupational safety and health law

in Turkish industrial relations. Acad J Interdisciplinary Studies 2013;2:703-11. [4] Tinubu BMS, Mbada CE, Oyeyemi AL, Fabunmi AA. Work-telated musculoskeletal disorders among nurses in Ibadan, south-west Nigeria: a crosssectional survey. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders 2010;11:1-8.

[5] Warming S, Precht DH, Suadicani P, Ebbehoj NE. Musculoskeletal complaint among nurses related to patient handling tasks and psychosocial factors-Based on logbook registrations. Appl Ergon 2009;40:569-76.

[6] Punnett L, Wegman DH. Work-related musculoskeletal disorders: the epidemiologic evidence and the debate. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 2004;14:13-23.
[7] Harcombe H, McBride D, Derrett S, Gray A. Physical and psychosocial risk factors for musculoskeletal disorders in New Zealand nurses, postal workers and office workers. Inj Prev 2010;16:96-100.

[8] Frymoyer JW, Cats-Baril WL. An overview of the incidences and costs of low back pain. OrthopClin North Am 1991;22:263-71.

[9] Alavi SS, Makarem J, Abbasi M, Rahimi A, Mehrdad R. Association between upper extremity musculoskeletal disorders and mental health status in office workers. Work 2016;27;55:3-11.

[10] Tezel A. Musculoskeletal complaints among a group of Turkish nurses. Int J Neurosci 2005;115:871-80.

[11] Smith DR, Mihashi M, Adachi Y, Koga H, Ishitake T. A detailed analysis of musculoskeletal disorder risk factors among Japanese nurses. J Safety Res 2006;37:195-200.

[12] Chang FL, Sun YM, Chuang KH, Hsu DJ. Work fatigue and physiological symptoms in different occupations of high-elevation construction workers. Applied Ergonomics 2009;40:591-6.

[13] Ikeda K, Ishizuka H, Sawada A, Urishiyama K. Vibration acceleration magnitudes of hand-held tools and workpieces. Ind Health 1998;36:197-208.



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

Original Article

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.422085

Surgical interventions for autogenous arteriovenous fistula aneurysms in hemodialysis patients

Kadir Kaan Özsin®, Umut Serhat Sanrı®, Nail Kahraman®, Faruk Toktaş®, Şenol Yavuz®

Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. The aim of this study was to emphasize the importance of surgical intervention perfotmed before development of arteriovenous fistula (AVF) aneurysm complications. **Methods.** The patients were categorized into two groups: Patients undergoing elective surgery for autogenous AVF aneurysm were defined as elective group (Group 1), whereas those who underwent emergency surgery due to ruptured aneurysmal fistulas were defined as emergency group (Group 2). All elective cases were evaluated by doppler ultrasonography before surgery. All patients had temporary hemodialysis catheters. In the patients with salvaged fistulas, the fistulas was rested for 1 week. A new fistula was created in patients with not salvaged fistula. **Results.** A total of 31 patients (54.8% male, mean age: 41.2 ± 14.7 years) were in Group 1 and 7 patients (57.1% male, mean age: 53 ± 9.4 years) were in Group 2. Significant difference was observed between two groups in terms of fistula preservation. Salvaged fistulas were significantly higher in the Group 1 than Group 2 (p = 0.003). In Kaplan-Meier curves, cumulative primary AVF patency rates at 1, 3 and 6 months were 96.3%, 81.5%, and 77.8% in Group 1 and 66.7%, 66.7%, and 66.7% in Group 2, respectively (log-rank; p = 0.536). **Conclusions.** Consultation of these cases with a cardiovascular surgeon before they reach the rupture stage is an important condition for both the patency of the fistula and the vital risk of the patient.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):180-186

Keywords: Arteriovenous fistula aneurysms, salvage treatment, hemodialysis

Introduction

Haemodialysis via an autogenous arteriovenous fistula (AVF) is the most frequently used treatment for end-stage renal failure worldwide [1]. Development of aneurysmal dilatation of the AVF is an important complication which occurs in 5-6% of the cases and has a significant risk of rupture [2]. Aneurysms are associated with multiple complications that increase

the risk of life-threatening fistula bleeding, fistula loss, and even patient death [3]. In addition, aneurysms can cause tissue necrosis and erosion and local infection.

Pseudo-aneurysms can be caused by anastomotic leakage or may occur later as a complication of infection. However, true AVF aneurysms are occurs as a result of repeated intervention for vascular access to

Address for correspondence:

Kadir Kaan Özsin, MD., University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bursa, Turkey E-mail: kkozsin@gmail.com

Received: May 8, 2018; Accepted: May 21, 2018; Published Online: May 26, 2018

multiple small fibrous scars in the vessel wall, which may expand over time and may result in localized aneurysmal regions. Aneurysmal dilation also may occur in non-needled areas and the highflow though the vessel can cause in abnormal shear stress, which promotes outward remodeling and gradual dilation with grossly increased calibre of the vessel [4].

The aim of this study was to emphasize the importance of intervention performed before development of AVF aneurysm complications.

Methods

Patients

This retrospective observational study includes patients with end-stage renal failure who underwent surgery due to autogenous AVF aneurysms between 2014 and 2018 at Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Turkey. The study was approved by institutional review committee.

All data retrieved from the hospital's medical files analyzed retrospectively. All data were recorded as age, gender, comorbidities (Hypertension, diabetes mellitus, coronary artery disease), type of AVF and duration of AVF. The patients were categorized into two groups: Patients undergoing elective surgery for autogenous AVF aneurysm were defined as elective group (Group 1), whereas those who underwent emergency surgery due to ruptured aneurysmal fistulas were defined as emergency group (Group 2). All elective cases were evaluated by doppler ultrasonography before surgery. All patients had temporary hemodialysis catheters. In the patients with salvaged fistulas, the fistulas was rested for 1 week. A new fistula was created in patients with not salvaged fistula.

Surgery

While all emergent procedures were carried out under general anaesthesia, elective procedures were carried out under local anaesthesia accompanied with sedation. Our priority was to stop the bleeding in emergency ruptured cases. The aneurysm sac was isolated from surrounding tissue to reach to the root of the aneurysm and then to the afferent and efferent arteries (Figure 1). Aneurysmal sacs were opened, after resecting the sacs, in cases with thrombus, thrombectomy was performed. Then appropriate graft materials were interposed between related artery and the previously dissected vein or between arterialized veins. Plication was performed in the presence of the suitable aneurysmal sac (Figures 2a and 2b).

Postoperative Evaluation

Postoperative fistula evaluation was done at 1st, 3rd, and 6th months. The follow-up continued until death or no further communication was possible to the patient. In such cases, data from the last visit were used. AVF patency was assessed by physical examination for the presence of a palpable thrill. In the absence of a palpable thrill and pulse, it was evaluated as failure. When presence of a palpable



Figure 1. Aneurysm sac isolated from surrounding tissue.



Figure 2. Graft interposition view after aneurysmectomy (a) and aneurysm plication view (b).

pulse, doppler USG was performed and blood flow measured. Those below the flow rate of 200 ml/min were considered as a failured AVF.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis data were analyzed with the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (IBM SPSS Statistic Inc. version 21.0, Chicago, IL, USA). Continuous and ordinal variables were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation and nominal variables were expressed as frequency and percentage. Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and Shapiro-Wilk tests of normality were used to identify distribution of variables. Chi Square test and Fisher's Exact test were used to compare two groups for nominal variables. Student-t test was used to compare two groups for continuous variables normal distribution. Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare two groups for continuous variables without normal distribution. Long-term results were analyzed by Kaplan Meier curves, and differences in subgroups were assessed by the log-rank test. For all

tests, a p value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

A total of 31 patients (54.8% male, mean age: 41.2 \pm 14.7years) were in Group 1 and 7 patients (57.1%) male, mean age: 53 ± 9.4 years) were in Group 2. The demographic and clinical properties of the subjects are summarized in Table 1. Both groups were generally similar in regards to demographic properties. The size of aneurysm was 52.3 ± 14.5 mm in Group 1 and 68.6 \pm 17.5 mm in Group 2. In terms of size of aneurysm there was statistically significant difference between two groups. (p = 0.014) (Table 1).

The reasons of the operations are shown in table 2 and the most common cause was skin thinning or ulceration (81.6 %). Some of treated aneurysms have shown in Figure 3a, 3b and 3c. All of the aneurysms operated were true aneurysms.

Table 1. Demographic features of the pa	litents		
Variables	Group 1	Group 2	<i>p</i> value
	(n = 31)	(n=7)	
Age (years)	41.2 ± 14.7	53 ± 9.4	0.051*
Gender, n (male %)	17 (54.8)	4 (57.1)	0.912 #
Hypertension, n, %	19 (61.3)	6 (85.7)	0.219 #
Diabetes Mellitus, n, %	16 (51.6)	2 (28.6)	0.270 [#]
History of CAD, n, %	9 (29)	2 (28.6)	$0.981^{\#}$
Type of AVF			0.728 $^{\#}$
Brachiocephalic, n, %	20 (64.5)	5 (71.4)	
Radiocephalic, n, %	11 (35.5)	2 (28.6)	
Size of Aneurysm (mm) (min-max)	$52.3 \pm 14.5 \ (35-100)$	$68.6 \pm 17.5 \ (45-100)$	0.014 ^b
Duration of AVF (years)	6 ± 2.6	7.9 ± 2.5	0.102*

able 1 Demographic features of the natients

Group 1= elective surgery, Group 2 = emergent surgery, CAD = Coronary Artery Disease, AVF = Arteriovenous Fistula, [#] Pearson Chi- Square, *Student's *t* test, ^b Mann Whitney Test

Tublear indications of aneurysin for treatment				
Causes of Surgery	n = 38			
Skin thinning or ulceration, n (%)	31 (81.6)			
Expanded aneurysm, n (%)	27 (71.1)			
Rupture, n (%)	7 (18.4)			
Pain with aneurysm, n (%)	4 (10.5)			
Failure with thrombosis, n (%)	5 (13.2)			

 Table2. Indications of aneurysm for treatment



Figure 3. AVF aneurysm (a), AVF aneursym with skin thinning and ulceration (b), and ruptured AVF aneurysm (c).

The comparison of post-intervention fistulas status are shown in Table 3. Significant difference was observed between two groups in terms of fistula preservation. Salvaged fistulas were significantly higher in the Group 1 than Group (p = 0.003 [Pearson Chi-Square] and p = 0.013 [Fisher's Exact Test]) (Table 3). There was worse fistula rescue in Group 2. A total of 31 (81.6%) fistulas were salvaged. Three

Table 3.	Post-inter	vention	fistulas	status
----------	------------	---------	----------	--------

	Group 1	Group 2	p value
	(n = 31)	(n = 7)	
Salvaged AVF, n, %	28 (90.3)	3 (42.9)	[#] 0.003
			^a 0.013
Not Salvaged AVF, n, %	3 (9.7)	4 (57.1)	[#] 0.003
			^a 0.013

[#] Pearson Chi- Square, ^a Fisher's Exact Test, AVF = Arteriovenous Fistula



Figure 4. Kaplan-Meier curves; cumulative primary patency rates for six months.

fistulas in the elective group could not salvaged due to axillary or subclavian vein thrombosis. In twentyfive (80.6%) cases we performed aneurysm excision and repair with graft interposition. Aneurysm plication was applied to others.

The 6-month follow-up was completed in all patients. In Kaplan-Meier curves, cumulative primary AVF patency rates at 1, 3 and 6 months were 96.3%, 81.5%, and 77.8% in Group 1 and 66.7%, 66.7%, and 66.7% in Group 2, respectively (log-rank; p = 0.536) (Figure 4). In total, 7 (22.6%) AVF failure observed in the follow-up period.

Discussion

For patients with renal insufficiency, hemodialysis is an inevitable lifelong requirement until the renal transplant, and deprivation of the patient's vascular access pathway can be life-threatening. Many late complications, such as thrombosis, venous hypertension, aneurysm formation, hemorrhage, vascular steal syndrome, stenosis, and heart failure may occur following arteriovenous fistula surgery [5]. The treatment of the fistula complications should treat the problem and maintain the fistula function. In this study, we analyse the follow ups and the results of AVFs that we intervened due to aneurysm formation. In our study, we determined the preservation rate of the AVFs as 90.3% in electively operated group and as 42.9% in emergency operated group due to rupture (p = 0.003) (Table 3).

When aneurysm and tortuosity occur in AVF, cannulation may become difficult and flow might be unreachable due to thrombus formation in the aneurysm. Other sequelae of aneurysm's degeneration is corruption of the overlying skin that associated with risks of bleeding and infection [6]. In our study, as in other studies, skin thinning and ulceration were the most common reason for surgical intervention [7-10]. Cutaneous atrophy may lead to ulceration and associated catastrophic haemorrhage which requiring emergency ligation of the fistula [11]. By the reason of life threatening bleeding due to rupture, we had to ligature 4 (57.1%) of the fistulas that we had performed emergency surgery. But this rate remained

at 9.7% in elective cases and we saved 90.3% of the fistulas. In literature, we could not find fistula salvage rates in surgery for ruptured AVF compare with nonruptured AVF aneurysms. In some of them, fistula preservation rates were given as 95% [12] and 88% [13] but elective and emergency surgery situation were not discriminated. For this reason, we think that our study will be useful for the literature. During skin thinning or ulceration stage AVF aneurysms is more inclined to bleeding. Rupture may become inevitable if this situation accompanied by an increase in the size of the aneurysm. In our study, the size of AVF aneurysms ($68.6 \pm 17.5 \text{ mm}$) which operated due to rupture was large as statistically significant (p = 0.014) (Table 1). NKF-DOQI guidelines state that intervention on a fistula should be performed in the presence of aneurysm formation and the aneurysmal segment should not be cannulated [3]. The treatment of focal fistula aneurysms has traditionally include aneurysm materials resection of the and interpositioning bypass by using prosthetic graft. Previously reported techniques for treatment of AFV pseudoaneurysms and aneurysms have included the use of self-expanding stent grafts [14], prosthetic graft exoprosthesis reinforcement [8], use of Tubularized CorMatrix [15], aneurysmorrhaphy [12], and partial aneurysmectomy with native reconstruction [9, 16] or prosthetic interposition [17]. Patel et al. [18], reported that they performed resection of the aneurysm, followed with graft interpositioning or primary repair and no fistulas were compromised or lost as a result of the procedure. Georgiadis et al. [19], in a study which they performed aneursym excision and graft interposition with PTFE graft, reported that patency rates of the repaired AVF as nearly 70%. Patency ratios of different techniques have been reported in previous studies. In our study, we performed aneurysm excision and repair with graft interposition in 25 (80.6%) patients and applied aneurysm plication in 6 (19.4%) patients. Cumulative primary AVF patency rates of our procedures was 77.8 %. Our patency rates are similar to the literature.

In this study, we focused on the management of AVF aneurysms.AVF aneurysm is definitely a condition to be treated. There are many surgical procedures and approaches in the literature. In all of these applications, it is important to ensure the patency of AVF. Timing of intervention is the most important point to maintaining the continuity of the fistula,

according to us. Because, as we have seen, fistula rescue rates in ruptured AVF aneurysms are obviously less than in elective surgery. As a result of our study, we think that AVF preservation is at the second plan in the presence of life threatening bleeding in an aneurysm rupture.

Conclusions

In conclusion, consultation of these cases with a cardiovascular surgeon before they reach the rupture stage is an important condition for both the patency of the fistula and the vital risk of the patient. It is important to educate the hemodialysis team about fistula use and follow-up. Especially it should be explained that venous punctures applied to the same region may cause serious complications in the future and early surgical treatment may protect the fistula. This tells us that the surgeon, nephrologist and dialysis nurse should be in cooperate.

Informed consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patients for publication of images.

Author Contributions

Consept-Design: KKÖ, USS; Data collection: NK, KKÖ, FT; Analysis: KKÖ, FT; Literature search: KKÖ, NK; Writing: KKÖ, USS, ŞY; Critical review: ŞY.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Rahman A, Özsin KK. [Upper extremity autogenous arteriovenous fistulas for hemodialysis]. Turkish J Vasc Surg 2007;16:19-24. [Article in Turkish]

[2] Bachleda P, Utikal P, Zadrazil J, Grosmanova T. Aneurysm as a complication of arteriovenous anastomoses for hemodialysis. Rozhl Chir 1998;77:541-4.

[3] National Kidney Foundation: Clinical practice guidelines for vascular access. Am J Kidney Dis 2006;48:176-247.

[4] Mudoni A, Cornacchiari M, Gallieni M, Guastoni C, McGrogan D,

Logias F, et al. Aneurysms and pseudoaneurysms in dialysis access. Clin Kidney J 2015;8:363-7.

[5] Belli S, Yabanoglu H, Aydogan C, Parlakgumus A, Yildirim S, Haberal M. Surgical interventions for late complications of arteriovenous fistulas. Int Surg 2014;99:467-74.

[6] Quinn RR, Lamping DL, Lok CE, Meyer RA, Hiller JA, Lee J, et al. The vascular access questionnaire: assessing patient-reported views of vascular access. J Vasc Access 2008;9:122-8.

[7] Al-Thani H, El-Menyar A, Al-Thani N, Asim M, Hussein A, Sadek A. Characteristics, management, and outcomes of surgically treated arteriovenous fistula aneurysm in patients on regular hemodialysis. Ann Vasc Surg 2017;41:46-55.

[8] Berard X, Brizzi V, Mayeux S, Sassoust G, Biscay D, Ducasse E, et al. Salvage treatment for venous aneurysm complicating vascular access arteriovenous fistula: use of an exoprosthesis to reinforce the vein after aneurysmorrhaphy. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2010;40:100-106.

[9] Almehmi A, Wang S. Partial aneurysmectomy is effective in managing aneurysm-associated complications of arteriovenous fistulae for hemodialysis: case series and literature review. Semin Dial 2012;25:357-64.

[10] Chang J, Prema J, Pedersen R, Li Y, Lieb M, Patel K, et al. GIA-Aneurysmorrhaphy and dermal detachment: a novel technique to repair arteriovenous fistula aneurysms. Ann Vasc Surg 2016;33:126-30.

[11] Watson KR, Gallagher M, Ross R, Severn A, Nagy J, Cochrane L, et al. The aneurysmal arteriovenous fistula–morphological study and assessment of clinical implications. A pilot study. Vascular 2015;23:498-503.

[12] Vo T, Tumbaga G, Aka P, Behseresht J, Hsu J, Tayarrah M. Staple

aneurysmorrhaphy to salvage autogenous arteriovenous fistulas with aneurysm-related complications. J Vasc Surg 2015;61:457-62.

[13] Powell A, Wooster M, Carroll M, Cardentey-Oliva D, Cavanagh-Voss S, Armstrong P, et al. Long-segment plication technique for arteriovenous fistulae threatened by diffuse aneurysmal degeneration: short-term results. Ann Vasc Surg 2015;29:1327-31.

[14] Shah AS, Valdes J, Charlton-Ouw KM, Chen Z, Coogan SM, Amer HM, et al. Endovascular treatment of hemodialysis Access pseudoaneuryms. J Vasc Surg 2012;55:1058-62.

[15] DuBose JJ, Azizzadeh A. Utilization of a tubularized CorMatrix extracellular matrix for repair of an arteriovenous fistula aneurysm. Ann Vasc Surg 2015;29:1-4.

[16] Hossny A. Partial aneurysmectomy for salvage of autogenous arteriovenous fistula with complicated venous aneurysms. J Vasc Surg 2014;59:1073-7.

[17] Mewhort HE, Turnbull JD, Meijndert HC, Ngu JM, Fedak PW. Epicardial infarct repair with basic fibroblast growth factor enhanced CorMatrix-ECM biomaterial attenuates postischemic cardiac remodeling. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014;147:1650-9.

[18] Patel MS, Street T, Davies MG, Peden EK, Naoum JJ. Evaluating and treating venous outflow stenoses is necessary for the successful open surgical treatment of arteriovenous fistula aneurysms. J Vasc Surg 2015;61:444-8.

[19] Georgiadis GS, Lazarides MK, Panagoutsos SA, Kantartzi KM, Lambidis CD, Staramos DN, et al. Surgical revision of complicated false and true vascular access-related aneurysms. J Vasc Surg 2008;47:1284-91.



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

Original Article

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.342224

Can decrease in hand grip strength in carpal tunnel syndrome be explained by interosseous muscle and intermetacarpal space dimensions?

Fatma Dilek Gökharman¹, Selma Uysal Ramadan², Sonay Aydın¹, Pınar Nercis Koşar¹

¹Department of Radiology, Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey ²Department of Radiology, Keçiören Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. To investigate the correlation of the grip strength with sonographic measurement of interosseous muscle (IOM) and intermetacarpal space (IMS) of the hands in carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS) patients. **Methods.** A total of 96 hands of 48 female patients constituted the study group. Of those, 36 hands of 18 patients (mean age: 50.2 ± 9 years) had CTS confirmed by electro-diagnostic tests. Sixty hands of 30 healthy volunteers (mean age: 45.2 ± 9.7 years) constituted the control group. Grip strength was assessed by Jamar hand dynamometer. IOM and IMS dimensions for all hands were measured sonographically at three levels (2^{nd} , 3^{rd} and 4^{th} intermetacarpal; palmar side for IMS, dorsal side for IOM) by the same radiologist. Spearman and Mann Whitney U tests were used for statistical analysis. **Results.** The median hand grip strength was determined as 11.3 kg (min-max = 7.2-18.1 kg) in the CTS group and 19.5 kg (min-max = 7.8-30.5 kg) in the control group, with a statistical difference between the two groups (p < 0.03). In both groups, there was a positive correlation between the IOM-IMS dimensions and grip strength (p < 0.05). Sonographically, IOM-IMS measurements in CTS group were significantly lower than control group (p < 0.01). **Conclusion.** To our knowledge, this is the first study evaluating the correlation of grip strength and the sonographic IOM-IMS measurements in CTS patients. The muscular atrophy, which is generally a finding of advanced disease, may be revealed by sonographical measurements earlier than the physical examination findings.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):187-192

Keywords: hand grip strength, carpal tunnel syndrome, interosseous muscle, intermetacarpal space dimensions, ultrasound

Introduction

Carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS) is an entrapment neuropathy that causes impairment and decrease in hand grip strength as well as paresthesia, which is more frequent at nights, and malfunction in the hand

[1].

The thenar- hypothenar muscle groups and interosseous muscle (IOM) and lumbrical muscle groups together form the intrinsic muscles of the hand.

Address for correspondence:

Sonay Aydın, MD., Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Department of Radiology, Ankara, Turkey E-mail: sonaydin89@hotmail.com Received: October 7, 2017; Accepted: November 28, 2017; Published Online: December 13, 2017

IOM groups are divided into ventral and dorsal parts. There are 4 muscles on the dorsal side and 3 muscles on the ventral side. They originate from the adjacent metacarpal proximal head and attach to the base of the proximal phalanx. While dorsal IOMs abduct; ventral IOMs adduct [2, 3]. Dorsal IOMs are sonographically detectable through metacarpal interspaces from the dorsum of the hand. IOMs are observed between metacarpals as a smooth contour in a hypo-echoic structure [4]. It is known that CTS symptoms develop due to compression of the median nerve. In addition to sensory symptoms, as motor fibers are also affected, hand grip strength decreases. This is one of the most important symptoms of the disease and is associated with muscle weakness. Visible muscle atrophies are mostly located in the thenar part of the hand and are observed in advanced and severe pathology [5, 6]. with Predicting muscle strength decrease sonographically detectable parameters such as intermetacarpal space (IMS) and IOM is an important step for treatment planning in the early phase [7, 8].

Ultrasound is a useful imaging method in examining CTS. In fully developed cases, a classic triad of palmar bowing of the flexor retinaculum, distal flattening of the nerve, enlargement of the nerve proximal to the flexor retinaculum is seen. Enlargement of the nerve is stated as the most sensitive and specific criterion [9]. Hand muscle ultrasound, as being non-invasive and real-time, is a useful technique to visualize normal and pathological muscles. Neuromuscular disorders, like CTS, cause structural changes in muscles that can be visualized with ultrasound: atrophy can be objectified by measuring muscle thickness, while infiltration of fat and fibrous tissue increase muscle echo intensity [10]. The aim of this study was to examine whether decreased hand grip strength in CTS patients is associated with interosseous muscle thickness and intermetacarpal space dimensions.

Methods

The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of our hospital. The study is performed between January-August 2016. We excluded 3 patients' due to the surgery history in one hand, 2 patients are excluded because of left hand dominance and 12 patients are excluded secondarily to having diabetes mellitus.

Hence, 96 hands from 48 female participants were

included in the study. All the participants were righthand dominant, and they did not have any systemic diseases.

The patient group consisted of 36 hands of 18 participants previously diagnosed with EMG as CTS. In the physical examination, none of the patients in the CTS group had thenar atrophy. The control group was formed of 60 hands of 30 healthy volunteers and 5 hands detected as normal on EMG from the CTS patient group. For each hand, hand grip strength was measured with a Jamar dynamometer (Lafayette instrument, USA, 2004) in kilograms. To standardize the results, the hand grip strength test was conducted in the same position for each patient (shoulder in full adduction and elbow at 90°) (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Photograph showing hand grip strength measurement with Jamar dynamometer.

During the US examination, the patients were examined in a sitting position on the gurney with their hands on their knees. The fingers were spaced in the anatomical position and the dorsal and volar faces were scanned respectively (Figure 2). All patients were scanned by a radiologist with 25 years of musclebone sonography experience, using a B-mod US (SDU-2200; Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan)

with an 8-10 MHz linear probe.



Figure 2. Photograph showing patients' position for ultrasound scan

With US, IOM groups were examined on the dorsal side in the 2nd, 3rd and 4th metacarpal spaces and the adjacent bone shaft (Figure 3). On the volar aspect, the IMSs were quantified in the 2nd, 3rd and 4th metacarpal spaces of the adjacent metacarpal distal head. On the obtained images of IMS measurements,

measurements were made on the radial aspect of the lumbrical muscle planes (Figure 4). For each region, 3 vertical measurements were taken in the anteroposterior and transverse planes and the mean values for each were recorded.



Figure 4. Intermetacarpal space, area between arrows.

To homogenize the sample, the groups were matched for age and gender, including patients with right hand dominance and excluding trauma/surgery history.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics software (version 21.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois, USA). The conformity of the data to normal distribution was evaluated with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Numerical variables with normal



Figure 3. Sonographic pictures indicating interosseous muscle thickness measurement technique.

Decrease in hand grip strength in carpal tunnel syndrome

distribution were stated as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) and those not with normal distribution were stated as median values (min.-max.). Categorical variables were shown as number (n) and percentage (%). In both groups, the relationship between hand grip and US measurements was examined with Spearman correlation analysis. To compare the CTS and control groups in terms of hand grip strength and US measurements, the Mann Whitney-U test was applied.

Results

The mean age of control group was 50.2 ± 9 years and the mean age of CTS group was 45.2 ± 9.7 years. The median hand grip strength was determined as 11.3 kg (min-max = 7.2-18.1 kg) in the CTS group, and 19.5 kg (min-max = 7.8-30.5 kg) in the control group. The IMS and IOM values for both groups are presented in Tables 1 and 2. There was a significant difference between the CTS group and the control group in terms of hand grip strength (28,103 vs. 41,005; p < 0.01). In this study, the normal values for the dimensions of IMS in the anteroposterior and transverse axes were obtained. There was determined to be a correlation between these values and hand grip strength (p<0.01).

The IOM and IMS values of the CTS group were significantly lower than those of the control group (p<0.01). There was a statistically significant relationship between hand grip strength and IOM /MS values (r = 0.255-0.479, p < 0.01) in the control group. No such relationship was detected in the CTS group (Tables 1 and 2).

Discussion

CTS is the most frequent neuropathy of the upper limb caused by compression of the median nerve in the wrist [9]. Especially following long-term functional hand use, numbness, tingling and burning sensations are experienced in the thumb, index finger, middle finger, and radial half of the ring finger Motor symptoms such as weakness in the strength of the fingers, clumsiness and difficulty in daily life activities cause an impairment in life quality. Typically, the

Table 1. Intermetacarpal space (IMS) measurements of carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS) and control groups

IMS WIDTH	Control	CTS	<i>p</i> value
1 IMS			
Transvers	10.17 ± 1.10	10.12 ± 1.16	<i>p</i> < 0.01
Longitudinal	5.50 ± 0.70	5.45 ± 0.81	p < 0.01
2 IMS			-
Transvers	8.62 ± 0.84	8.55 ± 1.04	<i>p</i> < 0.01
Longitudinal	5.58 ± 0.72	6.00 ± 0.92	p < 0.01
3 IMS			-
Transvers	9.15 ± 1.16	9.05 ± 1.11	<i>p</i> < 0.01
Longitudinal	4.77 ± 0.76	4.66 ± 0.71	p < 0.01

Data are shown as mean \pm stansard deviation. CTS = carpal tunnel syndrome, IMS = intermetacarpal spaces

The first of the second of the	Table 2. Inter	rosseous muscles	thicknesses	of carpal	tunnel s	yndrome an	d control	groups
--	----------------	------------------	-------------	-----------	----------	------------	-----------	--------

IOM WIDTH	Control	CTS	<i>p</i> value
2 IOM			
Transvers	9.07 ± 1.04	9.00 ± 1.06	<i>p</i> < 0.01
Longitudinal	10.28 ± 9.25	9.33 ± 1.14	p < 0.01
3 IOM			
Transvers	7.41 ± 0.92	7.28 ± 0.86	<i>p</i> < 0.01
Longitudinal	9.67 ± 1.51	8.95 ± 1.02	<i>p</i> < 0.01
4 IOM			
Transvers	8.37 ± 0.90	8.35 ± 0.95	<i>p</i> < 0.01
Longitudinal	9.40 ± 0.96	7.92 ± 0.84	<i>p</i> < 0.01

Data are shown as mean \pm stansard deviation. CTS = carpal tunnel syndrome, IOM = interosseous muscles.

dominant hand is affected [11, 12]. Anatomical variations (narrow tunnel, persistent median artery), nerve compression susceptibility (diabetes mellitus, systemic neuropathy), systemic and endocrine diseases (pregnancy, amyloidal, hypothyroidism) or space-occupying lesions in the tunnel are some of the predisposing factors [5].

No gross anatomical abnormality is observed in the median nerve in the early phases of CTS, but within the process, demyelization and fibro sclerosis develop. In the chronic period permanent, sensory and motor function losses occur. Atrophy is typically located in the thenar muscles ("ape hand" deformity). Although not innerved by the median nerve, atrophy also occurs in IOM muscles innerved by the ulnar nerve [13, 14].

In the literature, it is stated that atrophy and structural changes of hand muscles can be detected successfully by US [10, 15]. However, we cannot find a comprehensive study about the possible relationships between sonographic IOM/IMS measurements and hand grip strength. Seeing this gap in the literature; we primarily intend to detect possible relationships between hand grip strength and IOM/IMS measurements.

In this study, an examination was made of the alterations in the dimensions of the intrinsic muscles of hand that are not innervated by the median nerve before a visible thenar atrophy emerged. It was also aimed to determine the association between changes in dimension and loss of hand grip strength. In a review of literature review, no study was found which examined IOM dimensions sonographically and related them with loss of muscle strength. In the control group, there was a statistically significant relationship between IOM dimensions and muscle strength; as IOM dimensions increased, hand grip strength also increased. In the CTS patients, the IOM dimensions were significantly reduced but there was no significant relationship between the decrease in muscle strength and IOM dimensions. This is an unexpected finding. The small sample size of CTS patients can cause this result, but it is also possible that the decrease in hand grip strength becomes detectable after the muscle atrophy comes to some certain degree. Further prospective studies are needed to ensure this hypothesis.

In the literature review, no study was found which evaluated IMS sonographically, and investigated the normal dimensions of IMS and the relationship between these dimensions and grip. The current study can be considered to contribute to literature in these respects.

In the control group, a significant relationship was observed between IMS dimensions and grip strength and in CTS patients, the IMS dimensions were found to be significantly reduced compared to the control group. However, no significant relationship was determined between muscle strength decrease and IMS dimensions in the CTS patients. The small sample size of CTS patients might be the explanation for this result, but we think that it is also possible that the decrease in hand grip strength becomes detectable after the muscle atrophy comes to some certain degree. Further prospective studies are needed to ensure this hypothesis.

Detecting a significant difference between CTS and control groups in sonographically detected IMS and IOM values revealed that these parameters can/should be used for detecting the atrophy and loss of hand grip strength in CTS patients. Even though the muscle strength decrease in the CTS patients was not directly associated with the IOM and IMS dimension decrease in this study, we strongly believe that, this could be attributed to the small sample size. Likewise, the millimetric measurement values and closeness of quantitative measurements may also have resulted in an inability to detect an existing statistically significant relationship. And also, we think that further prospective studies following the change in IOM/IMS measurements with repetitive examinations can show the relationship in some stage of CTS.

The Limitations of the Study

This study has some limitations. The limited number of patients obscured statistical evaluation and relational determination in the CTS group. As all measurements were conducted by the same radiologist, inter-rater variability was not applicable. The results may have differed if conducted by a less experienced researcher, as the radiologist who took a leading role in the present study had 25 years of experience in the field. As the study sample was homogenized for age and gender, a very limited population data was analyzed.

Conclusions

In conclusion, IOM and IMS values are found to be related with hand grip strength and this relationship can be easily detected using proper sonographic methods. This can definitely help clinicians to plan or direct treatment. Further studies investigating IOM and IMS on different pathologies affecting hand grip strength and hand muscles and investigations on larger samples will enrich the information about these parameters and would provide more evidence to support the current results.

Authorship declaration

All authors listed meet the authorship criteria according to the latest guidelines of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors, and all authors are in agreement with the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Gerritsen AA, de Krom MC, Struijs MA, Scholten RJ, de Vet HC, Bouter LM. Conservative treatment options for carpal tunnel syndrome: a systematic review of randomised controlled trials. J Neurol 2002;249:272-80.

[2] Palti R, Vigler M. Anatomy and function of lumbrical muscles. Hand Clin 2012;28:13-7.

[3] Eladoumikdachi F, Valkov PL, Thomas J, Netscher DT. Anatomy of the intrinsic hand muscles revisited: part II. Lumbricals. Plast Reconstr Surg 2002;110:1225-31.

[4] Ramadan SU, Yiğit H, Gökharman D, Tunçbilek I, Dolgun NA, Kosar P, et al. Can renal dimensions and the main renal artery diameter indicate the presence of an accessory renal artery? A 64-slice CT study. Diagn Interv Radiol 2011;17:266-71.

[5] Chammas M. Carpal tunnel syndrome. Chir Main 2014;33:75-94.

[6] Young VL, Logan SE, Fernando B, Grasse P, Seaton M, Young AE. Grip strength before and after carpal tunnel decompression. South Med J 1992;85:897-900.

[7] Chammas M, Boretto J, Burmann LM, Ramos RM, Neto FS, Silva JB. Carpal tunnel syndrome - Part II (treatment). Rev Bras Ortop 2014;49:437-45.

[8] Miller TT, Reinus WR. Nerve entrapment syndromes of the elbow, forearm, and wrist. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2010;195:585-94.

[9] Wong SM, Griffith JF, Hui AC, Lo SK, Fu M, Wong KS. Carpal tunnel syndrome: diagnostic usefulness of sonography. Radiology 2004;232:93-9.

[10] Arts IM, Pillen S, Schelhaas HJ, Overeem S, Zwarts MJ. Normal values for quantitative muscle ultrasonography in adults. Muscle Nerve 2010;41:32-41.

[11] Presazzi A, Bortolotto C, Zacchino M, Madonia L, Draghi F. Carpal tunnel: Normal anatomy, anatomical variants and ultrasound technique. J Ultrasound 2011;14:40-6.

[12] Dong Q, Jacobson JA, Jamadar DA, Gandikota G, Brandon C, Morag Y, et al. Entrapment neuropathies in the upper and lower limbs: anatomy and MRI features. Radiol Res Pract 2012;2012:230679.

[13] Vlad V, Micu M, Porta F, Radunovic G, Nestorova R, Petranova T, et al. Ultrasound of the hand and wrist in rheumatology. Med Ultrason 2012;14:42-8.

[14] Chammas M, Boretto J, Burmann LM, Ramos RM, Dos Santos Neto FC, Silva JB. Carpal tunnel syndrome - Part I (anatomy, physiology, etiology and diagnosis). Rev Bras Ortop 2014;49:429-36.

[15] Simon NG, Ralph JW, Lomen-Hoerth C, Poncelet AN, Vucic S, Kiernan MC, et al. Quantitative ultrasound of denervated hand muscles. Muscle Nerve 2015;52:221-30.



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

Original Article

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.341094

Is group diabetes education effective on hemoglobin A1c level?

Güven Barış Cansu¹, Bengür Taşkıran¹, Göknur Yorulmaz², Hülya Doğan¹, Cevahir Dinçtürk³

¹Department of Endocrinology, Yunus Emre State Hospital, Eskişehir, Turkey ²Department of Endocrinology and Metabolic Disorders, Osmangazi University School of Medicine, Eskişehir, Turkey ³Department of Endocrinology, Eskişehir State Hospital, Eskişehir, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. Diabetes education decreases hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) level by 1% in patients with diabetes mellitus. In addition, education delays development or progression of complications by improving psychosocial, clinical, and behavioural aspects of diabetes mellitus, improves quality of life, modifies life style behaviours including healthy eating and regular exercise. In this study, we aimed to evaluate efficacy of diabetes group education programme called diabetes school on glycemic control by comparing HbA1c levels of patients with diabetes mellitus measured before and after education. Methods. Electronic medical records of patients with DM who were registered to diabetes school executed by endocrine units of two hospitals between 2015 and 2017 were retrospectively evaluated. Diabetes school programme was composed of 90 minutes sessions a week for 4 consecutive weeks. Education sessions were executed in a didactic and interactive pattern. *Results*. The attendees (n = 65) had signicantly lower HbA1c levels after the education programme (before 9.09 \pm 2.46%, after 7.88 \pm 1.90%; p = 0.001) than the non-attendees (n = 41) (before 8.96 \pm 2.35%, after 8.35 \pm 2.00%; p = 0.091). Insulin users had significantly higher baseline HbA1c values and benefited more than noninsulin users (p < 0.0001). Conclusions: The diabetes school education programme has positive impact on glycemic control in patients with diabetes mellitus. A large team may lessen the burden of education sessions on health specialists. The school executed by a team consisting of specialists may reach a larger number of patients while the patients get the opportunity to repeat the sessions anytime they need.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):193-198

Key Words: diabetes education, hemoglobin A1c, diabetes school, group education

Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic disease which may be associated with serious comorbidities and the prevalence is progressively increasing worldwide [1]. In Turkey, the prevalence of DM increased dramatically from 7.2% to 13.7% according to the Turkish diabetes epidemiology (TURDEP) studies in 1998 and 2010 [2, 3]. Diabetes treatment is governed by glycosylated hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) level, as the most important indicator of glycemic control. Target level is determined by age, associated comorbidities, and life expectancy [4]. Despite novel oral and injectable agents, increased awareness of

Address for correspondence:

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2018 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy

Bengür Taşkıran, MD., Yunus Emre State Hospital, Department of Endocrinology, Salih Bozok Cad. No 23, Tepebaşı, Eskişehir, Turkey E-mail: bengurtaskiran@yahoo.com.tr Fax: +90 222 335 20 41

Received: October 2, 2017; Accepted: November 30, 2017; Published Online: December 5, 2017

insulinisation, and diabetes education, 50-70% of the patients still do not achieve target levels worldwide as well as in Turkey [3, 5]. Annual cost of DM, related comorbidities, and complications reached 10 billion Turkish liras according to the official insurance agency, Sosyal Güvenlik Kurumu [6].

Education influence health outcomes and the use of health services in patients with DM. Everyday the patients have to make decisions on nutrition, physical activity, and medications [7]. Furthermore, they have to manage DM related comorbidities such as hypertension and dyslipidemia and complications and make necessary arrangements [1]. There are insufficient data favouring either individual or group education regarding outcomes of DM [7]. The main issue is to find out the most effective method of education, that behavioural change, self management, and psychosocial outcomes benefit most [7].

The patients should receive diabetes education at the time of initial diagnosis, according to personal needs, and as diabetes therapy becomes more complicated [1]. In Turkey about 500 certified nurses provide diabetes education (Turkish Diabetes Nurse Association data). Growing population, increased DM prevalence, heavy outpatient burden, and short duration of outpatient visits lead to insufficient education. Transfer of intense information during short visits cause difficulties in comprehension and memorization. Health facilities provide different methods of education including individual and group education and diabetes school, a type of structured group education steered by Health Ministry.

In order to standardize diabetes education and guide health professionals in charge, Turkish Public Health Agency published Guide for Educators of Patients with Diabetes in colloboration with experts, organizations, and associations [8]. Education method and content advised in the guide is based on International Diabetes Education Standards published by International Diabetes Federation (IDF) [9].

In this study, we aimed to evaluate the effect of diabetes school education on glycemic control by comparing HbA1c levels measured before and within 6 months after completion of education.

Methods

Electronic medical records of 236 subjects, who attended diabetes school education programme executed by endocrinology units of Eskişehir Yunus Emre and Eskischir State Hospitals between 2015 and 2017, were evaluated retrospectively. Although the main target population of education was patients with a diagnosis of DM, any other people including those with prediabetes and care-givers and relatives of patients with DM were also allowed for participation. Therefore only subjects over age 18 with a diagnosis of either type 1 or type DM for at least one year were selected. The school programme consisted of weekly executed 90 minute sessions for 4 consecutive weeks. The participants who attended at least 3 sessions were given certificates. One hundred six patients, who had HbA1c measurement within 3 months before and after the programme, were included to the study. They were categorized into 2 groups as attendees (n = 65) who completed the programme and as non-attendees (n =41) who failed to do so.

The first session began with information given by an endocrinologist about definition of DM, subtypes of DM, signs and symptoms, and pathophysiological mechanisms. A certified dietitian informed about nutrition in DM. In the second session an endocrinologist described antidiabetic drugs and management of hypoglycemia. The session continued with information given by a neurologist regarding neurological complications. Third session began with information given by a specialist in sport medicine about the importance of regular exercise and exercise types. Information about insulin therapy, injection technique, and foot care was given by certified diabetes nurses. In the last session, a nephrologist described the role of kidney in diabetes, effect of diabetes on kidney function, and diabetic kidney disease. An ophthalmologist gave information about eye diseases frequently encountered in DM with special attention to retinopathy, prevention, and management of these disorders. The school programme completed after information regarding self monitoring of blood glucose and tips for life with diabetes was given by diabetes nurses. In all sessions, information was transferred in a didactic fashion along with visual supportive materials. The attendants were allowed to express themselves freely and ask questions during and after sessions.

HbA1c levels measured by HPLC within 3 months before and 6 months after diabetes school were compared along with age, gender, diabetes duration, treatment modality, and diabetic complications in patients with DM who completed at least 3 sessions of education.

Statistical Analysis

Table 1. The sociodemographic and clinical features and laboratory data according to attendance to the school					
	Attendees (n = 65)	Non-attendees (n = 41)	р		
Gender (F/M)	37/28	27/14	0.418		
DM type $(1/2)$	4/61	NA			
Age	56.56 ± 10.63 (25-80)	56.17 ± 13.57 (21-76)	0.878		
DM duration (years)	11.7 (1-36)	NA			
Treatment (n)					
OAD	25				
OAD+insulin	31	NA			
OAD+exenatide	1				
Insulin only	8				
Hypertension	29	NA			
HbA1c (%), before education	9.09 ± 2.46	8.96 ± 2.35	0.795		
HbA1c (%), after education	7.88 ± 1.90	8.35 ± 2.00	0.228		
Data are shown mean + standard deviation (or range) or number $F = female M = male DM = diabetes mellitus N$					

Data are shown mean \pm standard deviation (or range) or number. F = female, M male, DM not available, OAD = oral antidiabetic drug, HbA1c = hemoglobin A1c

Normally distributed data (HbA1c and age) are shown as mean ± SD. Non-normally distributed data (duration of DM) is expressed as mean. Student t test was used for HbA1c and age in group analysis. For comparison of HbA1c measurements before and after the school programme, Wilcoxon signed ranks test was used for group analysis. General linear model for repeated measures was used for subgroup analysis (gender, insulin use). A p value less than 0.05 was assumed as statistically significant.

Results

The electonic database of 65 patients out 236 subjects, who completed at least 3 sessions after registration, was evaluated. The mean number of subjects who attended each session was 33. The sociodemographic and clinical features and laboratory data are shown in Table 1.

Data regarding retinopathy was present in 44%, diabetic kidney disease in 41%, and neuropathy in 40% of the attendees. Therefore the rates of retinopathy (n = 11, 16%), diabetic kidney disease (n = 8, %12), and neuropathy (n = 12, \%18) low.

When HbA1c levels before and after the education programme were compared, the attendees had signicantly lower values (p = 0.001) than the nonattendees (p = 0.091). The attendees who had baseline HbA1c level over 8% (n = 38) showed greater reduction (before $10.75 \pm 1.79\%$, after $8.71 \pm 2.04\%$) than those with lower values (n = 27; before 6.75 \pm 0.77, after $6.70 \pm 0.71\%$ (p < 0.0001) although they had similar age and duration of DM.







Figure 2. HbA1c levels before and after education according to insulin use

Both gender had significantly lower HbA1c values after completion of education, although female patients benefited nonsignificantly more than male counterparts (Figure 1). Insulin users had significantly higher baseline HbA1c values and benefited more than non-insulin users (Figure 2). Gender distribution and age were similar in both groups.

Discussion

Diabetes education is an indispensable component of management of DM as emphasized in various guidelines [9, 10-12]. Diabetes education can decrease HbA1c level by 1% in patients with type 2 DM [10]. In the literature decrease in HbA1c varies between 0.6 to 2.5% [7, 13, 14]. Beyond absolute values, statistical analysis showed variable results, for example while in one study 0.6% decrease in HbA1c was statistically significant, in another study 1.49% decrease in HbA1c was nonsignificant [15, 16]. One possible explanation might be the heterogenity of the studies regarding education content, duration of education and diabetes, modality of treatment, and HbA1c value before education. HbA1c close to the target level before education and progressive nature of the disease further complicates the evaluation of efficacy [17]. In this study we showed a statistically significant decrement of 1.21% in HbA1c which supports positive impact of diabetes school as a group education model on short term glycemic control.

Studies comparing the effect of group versus individual education on glycemic control yielded various results, some showed superior and some showed similar efficacy [11, 12, 15-18]. A metaanalysis showed significant decrease in HbA1c at 4-6 month and 1 year after education (mean: 1.4% and 0.8%, respectively) [13]. If education continued on annual basis, benefit on glycemic control sustained at 2 years of education (HbA1c 1% lower than baseline value) [13]. Significantly lower HbA1c was observed even at the end of 5th year in Trento group education model [20]. In another meta-analysis based on Cochrane database, HbA1c was reduced by 0.1% after individual education and 0.03% after group education over a span of 12-18 months [7]. Subgroup analysis yielded significant decrease in patients with baseline HbA1c higher than 8%. We also found that the patients with HbA1c value over 8% benefited diabetes school programme significantly more than those with $8\% \ge$. This finding may be due to higher motivation of patients to find a solution to uncontolled DM.

However it is well known that efficacy of antidiabetic therapy is greater with higher HbA1c. Also patients with poor glycemic control frequently use insulin therapy and insulin is the most efficient mode of therapy in terms if HbA1c decrease. Therefore medical therapy not only before education programme but also after the programme should be taken into consideration in order to reach a definite conclusion about the role of education in HbA1c levels above 8%.

There are a few studies dealing with diabetes education in Turkey. In a study of 291 patients, HbA1c within 3 months before and after individual or group education was compared. HbA1c level did not decrease significantly (before $8.91 \pm 2.34\%$, after 9.00 \pm 4.44%) [21]. This study was executed in 5 centers from one city. The number of educators was 161 and most of them were not certified educators. When the educators were interrogated about the content of their education, it was found that only 29-70% of main topics of necessary information was given. Questionable sufficiency of the educators, non standardized education, and absence of HbA1c sampling time after education preclude us to reach a clear conclusion. Another study involving 25 patients, 40 minute sessions of individual education was conducted for 3 consecutive weeks. HbA1c decreased by 2.0% 8 weeks after completion of programme [22]. In another study consisting of two groups consisting 25 patients each, the attendees received weekly education sessions from one expert educator for 10 consecutive weeks. At 6 month following programme, HbA1c decreased by 1.2% while 0.4% decrease was observed in control group [23]. Our study share similar features with the two latter studies. We suggest that consistency in the structure and content of education programme may contribute to the success. We believe that standardization of diabetes school education programme nationwide along with improved techniques are the determinant of success.

In another study, education was given to 53 patients on insulin therapy individually at initial and in group at 1st and 3rd months [24]. Each group consisted 5 person and interactive modality was applied. At the end of 6th month, 16% decrease in HbA1c was observed in the intervention group and 2% increase was detected in the control group who did not complete education programme. In our study we obtained similar results and insulin users benefited education programme more than non insulin users (-1.82%, 14.7% decrease vs -0.29%, 1.83% decrease). These results suggest repetitive education and office visits contribute to the success of insulin therapy as an

effective treatment modality.

The main aim of diabetes education either in individual or group pattern is to achieve behavioural outcome after learning process [10, 15]. It is hard to accomplish and maintain behavioural change and the patients frequently cannot retrieve information learned earlier [11, 18, 25]. In our study we retrospectively evaluated only short term (6 months duration after education) effect of education on glycemic control. Since we did not take surveys of diabetes attitude, diabetes care profile, empowerment, and knowledge about DM, we cannot comment on psychosocial, clinical, and behavioural outcomes of diabetes school.

The advantages of group diabetes education are avoiding the overwhelming effect of continuously repetitive nature of individual education on health professionals and providing education for more people at one time [25]. Interactivitycontributes to positive dynamics [25].

A number of education models, which have similar content but vary in learning technique, duration, and frequency, have been developed. Active contribution of patients and patient-centered approach should be favoured rather than didactic teaching model [9]. Therefore we combined both didactic teaching method and interactive approach by question and answer method.

Education delays development and progression of complications, improves quality of life, modifies life style behaviours including healthy eating and regular exercise, decreases diabetes associated stress and depression, enhances self- and empowerment skills, management and aids in healthy coping with problems by influencing psychosocial, clinical, and behavioural aspects of DM in positive manner [26]. Education is a cost-effective way of reducing hospitalizations and complications [26]. The short term nature of our study preclude us to make a comment on hospitalization and complication rates.

The Limitations of the Study

There are some obstacles in group education. Non homogenous composition in terms of sociodemographic features (age, education, numeracy and medical literacy, language skills, cultural behaviours) and attitude (unwillingness to contribute, interrupting people's speaking, struggle to participate etc.) may preclude a patient to share his/her own experience with others. [11, 27]. We did not assign the patients according to their sociodemographic features before admission. Therefore our groups are heterogenous. Data regarding education, numeracy, and medical literacy were unavailable.

Conclusions

The positive impact of diabetes school education programme executed by Health Ministry and Public Health Agency on glycemic control is compatible with the results of individual and group education programmes with different concepts and design. In other studies, education team consisted of at least 1 up to 3 health professional including dietitian, diabetes nurse, and physician. Our team consisted of 6 physician specialists, 1 dietitian, and 2 certified nurses. A large team may lessen the burden of education sessions on health specialists.

However mid-term and long-term studies are needed to evaluate the effects of diabetes school programme on the targets of regarding quality of health, frequency and severity of complications, weight, dyslipidemia, and blood pressure control, cessation of smoking, and knowledge of diabetes. We suggest that the school model executed by a team consisting of specialists may reach a larger number of patients while the patients get the opportunity to repeat the sessions anytime they need.

Authorship declaration

All authors listed meet the authorship criteria according to the latest guidelines of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors, and all authors are in agreement with the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

Acknowledgements

We thank Nermin Levent ve Şermin Saçan for their assistance and contribution the diabetes school education programme.

References

[1] U.S. Department of Health and Human Services' National Institutes of Health and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.Guiding principles for the care of people with or at risk for diabetes. National Diabetes Education Programme. 2014, USA.

[2] Satman I, Yilmaz T, Sengül A, Salman S, Salman F, Uygur S, et al. Population-based study of diabetes and risk characteristics in Turkey: results of the Turkish diabetes epidemiology study (TURDEP). Diabetes Care 2002;25:1551-6.

[3] Satman I, Omer B, Tutuncu Y, Kalaca S, Gedik S, Dinccag N, et al. Twelve-year trends in the prevalence and risk factors of diabetes and prediabetes in Turkish adults. Eur J Epidemiol 2013;28:169-80.

[4] Glycemic targets. American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care 2017;40:S48-S56.

[5] NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4.4 million participants. Lancet 2016;387:1513-30.

[6] TC Sağlık Bakanlığı, Türkiye Halk Sağlığı Kurumu. Türkiye Diyabet Programı, 2015-2020. 2014, Ankara.

[7] Duke SA, Colagiuri S, Colagiuri R. Individual patient education for people with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009;(1):CD005268.

[8] TC Sağlık Bakanlığı, Türkiye Halk Sağlığı Kurumu. Erişkin diyabetli bireyler için eğitimci rehberi. 2014, Ankara.

[9] Uluslarası Diyabet Federasyonu. Uluslarası Diyabet Eğitim standartları. 3rd ed. Istanbul: EOS Ajans Yayıncılık; 2009.

[10] AADE 7TM Self-Care Behaviors. American Association of Diabetes Educators (AADE) Position Statement. Available at: www.diabeteseducator.org/docs/default-source/practice/practice-

resources/position-statements/aade7-self-care-behaviors-position-statem ent.pdf?sfvrsn=6. Accessed August 4, 2017.

[11] Lawal M, Lawal F. Individual versus group diabetes education: Assessing the evidence. J Diabetes Nurs 2016;20:247-50.

[12] Davies MJ, Heller S, Skinner TC, Campbell MJ, Carey ME, Cradock S, et al. Effectiveness of the diabetes education and self management for ongoing and newly diagnosed (DESMOND) programme for people with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2008;336:491-5.

[13] Deakin T, McShane CE, Cade JE, Williams RD. Group based training for self-management strategies in people with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2005;(2):CD003417. Update in: Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015;6:CD003417.

[14] Norris SL, Lau J, Smith SJ, Schmid CH, Engelgau MM. Selfmanagement education for adults with type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of the effect on glycemic control. Diabetes Care 2002;25:1159-71.

[15] Rickheim PL, Weaver TW, Flader JL, Kendall DM. Assessment of group versus individual diabetes education: a randomized study. Diabetes Care 2002;25:269-74.

[16] Deakin TA, Cade JE, Williams R, Greenwood DC. Structured patient education: the diabetes X-PERT Programme makes a difference. Diabet Med 2006;23:944-54.

[17] Adolfsson ET, Walker-Engström ML, Smide B, Wikblad K. Patient education in type 2 diabetes: a randomized controlled 1-year follow-up study. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2007;76:341-50.

[18] Gucciardi E, Demelo M, Lee RN, Grace SL. Assessment of two culturally competent diabetes education methods: individual versus individual plus group education in Canadian Portuguese adults with type 2 diabetes. Ethn Health 2007;12:163-87.

[19] Merakou K, Knithaki A, Karageorgos G, Theodoridis D, Barbouni A. Group patient education: effectiveness of a brief intervention in people with type 2 diabetes mellitus in primary health care in Greece: a clinically controlled trial. Health Educ Res 2015;30:223-32.

[20] Trento M, Passera P, Borgo E, Tomalino M, Bajardi M, Cavallo F, et al. A 5-year randomized controlled study of learning, problem solving ability, and quality of life modifications in people with type 2 diabetes managed by group care. Diabetes Care 2004;27:670-5.

[21] Samancioğlu S, Bakır E, Doğan U, Karadağ A, Erkan E, Aktürk A, et al. [The content of diabetes education in type 2 diabetic patients and their attitude towards the disease]. İzmir Katip Çelebi Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi Dergisi 2017;2:1-5. [Article in Turkish]

[22] Mollaoğlu M, Beyazıt E. Influence of diabetic education on patient metabolic control. Appl Nurs Res 2009;22:183-90.

[23] Kartal A, Özsoy SA. [Effect of planned diabetes education on health beliefs and metabolic control in type 2 diabetes patients]. Hacettepe Üniversitesi Hemşirelik Fakültesi Dergisi 2014;1:1-15. [Article in Turkish]

[24] Ersoy C, Tuncel E, Özdemir B, Ertürk E, İmamoğlu Ş. [Diabetes education and metabolic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus under insulin treatment]. Uludağ Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Dergisi 2006;32:43-7. [Article in Turkish]

[25] Trento M, Passera P, Tomalino M, Bajardi M, Pomero F, Allione A, et al. Group visits improve metabolic control in type 2 diabetes: a 2-year follow-up. Diabetes Care 2001;24:995-1000.

[26] Powers MA, Bardsley J, Cypress M, Duker P, Funnell MM, Fischl AH, et al. Diabetes self-management education and support in type 2 diabetes: a joint position statement of the American Diabetes Association, the American Association of Diabetes Educators, and the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. Clin Diabetes 2016;34:70-80.

[27] Smaldone A, Ganda OP, McMurrich S, Hannagan K, Lin S, Caballero AE, et al. Should group education classes be separated by type of diabetes? Diabetes Care 2006;29:1656-8.



The European Research Journal

http://www.eurj.org

Original Article

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.353551

Dental students' perceptions on preclinical restorative dentistry course: Biruni University case

Muhammet Kerim Ayar

Department of Restorative Dentistry, Biruni University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. The student's perspectives of their restorative dentistry education would be an important source of information for evaluation of preclinical curriculum. Thus, the aim of the present research was to obtain information from second-year students at Biruni University dental school about their preclinical restorative dentistry program perceptions, levels of stress during preclinical courses and preparedness for upcoming restorative dentistry courses in clinics. *Methods.* The present survey was carried out on the second year students in dental school in Istanbul. The survey composed of items regarding students' perspectives regarding to the levels of their stress in preclinical restorative dentistry courses as well as preparedness for future restorative dentistry courses in clinic. Student's t-test was applied to the data. *Results.* Students found posterior composite restorations lessons more stress-full than amalgam restoration lessons. They expressed that knowledge they obtained from the lectures is adequate for preclinical courses and they felt themselves prepared for the restorative dentistry curriculum in Biruni University were highly positive. The student's perspectives of their restorative dentistry curriculum would be an important source of information for dental faculty staff in order to establish an adequate preclinical curriculum for the students who start delivering public patient care in the future.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):199-204

Keywords: Restorative dentistry, preclinical course, student perception

Introduction

Preclinical courses are the essential components of restorative dentistry education in dental schools. Preclinical courses enable students to acquire and develop their fundamental dental skills, gain knowledge about the clinical aspects of to restoring carious and/or defective teeth [1, 2]. These fundamental skills are taught through lectures, and simulated exercises in a preclinical courses using either artificial or extracted natural teeth, prior to the student delivering care to an actual patient in the clinic. Thus, for the dental student who will deliver care to patients in clinics, it is desirable that preclinical education prepare students individually ready for beginning to patient care [3].

Preclinical restorative dentistry courses present in the second-year and third-year curriculum programs

Address for correspondence:

Copyright © 2018 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy

Muhammet Kerim Ayar, PhD., Assistant Professor, Biruni University Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Restorative Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: kerimayar@biruni.edu.tr, Fax: +90 212 416 46 46 Received: November 15, 2017; Accepted: December 25, 2017; Published Online: January 8, 2018

of dentistry school in dental school of Biruni University that was settled in 2014 in Istanbul, Turkey. The aim of preclinical restorative dentistry courses in the second year curriculum concentrates to provide knowledge and skills in the restoration of posterior teeth with using amalgam material or resin composites, while courses in third year are decided to provide knowledge and skills of restoration of anterior teeth and simulation of clinical restoration procedures with using a mannequin model. During the second and third year, theoretical restorative dentistry lessons which are prepared by reviewing classical textbooks are given weekly. These lessons are related to subsequent preclinical sessions as well as other topics of restorative dentistry. However, at the start of each preclinical course session in which a restorative procedure will be presented firstly, demonstration and PowerPoint presentations are performed via a video camera in preclinical session according to course curriculum (Table 1). Students should complete restorative procedures for different restoratives in

plastic or natural teeth. Two groups of each 40-45 students are supervised by two fixed instructors over 32-week course in second year at the dental school of Biruni University. At the end of each session, each student performance is reviewed by the same instructor and provided feedback for each tooth in the session for the first 16-week period of the restorative dentistry course. In the second 16-week period of restorative dentistry course, seasonal performances of students were not reviewed on weekly, however, an additional practical exam is utilized to review overall performances of students through the second midterm. The evaluation of weekly performances of students was done using assessment point sheets for each restorative procedures in the preclinical restorative curriculum by one instructor through the academic vear.

Dental student perspectives on the structure and content of their dental education experience are an important part of an evaluation of the curriculum [1]. Despite that, it is stated that student perspective on

Week	Laboratory topic	Activities
1	Introduction to restorative dentistry course.	
2 - 4	Occlusal cavity and class V cavity	Tooth 35, 35, 36, 37, 46, 37 O
	preparation on plastic teeth (for amalgam)	
5 - 7	Proximal cavity preparation on plastic teeth	Tooth 24, 25 MO, 26, 27 DO, 34, 35, 36
	(for amalgam)	MO, 37 DO, 44, 45, 46, 47 MO
8	Reparation week. Students with unacceptable	performance in the previous lessons redo
	their preparations in this week.	
9	Midterm practical exam	Tooth 45 DO cavity preparation, 46 MOD
		and 47 DO cavity preparations with base
		placement
10 -12	Complex cavity preparation on plastic teeth	Tooth 14, 15 DO, 16 DOP+MO, 17 DO, 45
	(for amalgam)	MOD, 46 O, 47 MOD, 21, 22, 23 ML, 26
		MOD
13-16	Cavity preparation and placing of base	Tooth 34 MO, 35, 36, 37, 14, 15 O, 16
	material on plastic teeth (for amalgam)	MOD, 17 O, 24 MO, 25 O, 26 MOD, 27 O
17-20	Cavity preparation, placing of base material	Tooth 44 O, 45 DO, 46 DO, 47 O
	and amalgam restoration on plastic teeth	
21	Amalgam polishing and sectioning of tooth	Polishing amalgam restorations performed
	in sagittal on natural teeth	in the previous session.
22-23	Caries removal on natural teeth	Eight molar, eight premolars
24-25	Composite restoration on natural teeth	Eight molars, eight premolars
26-27	Occlusal composite restoration on plastic	Tooth 14, 15, 16, 24, 25, 26 O
	teeth	
28-31	Proximal composite restoration on plastic	Tooth 35, 36, 37 MO, 45 DO, 46 MOD, 47
	teeth	MOD, 14 DO, 15 MO, 16 MOD, 17 MO
32	Additional practical exam (composite	Tooth 15 DO, 16 MOD composite
	restoration)	restorations
33	Final Exam	Tooth 15 DO cavity preparation with base
		placement, 16 DO composite restoration,
		17 DO amalgam restoration

Table 1. Preclinical restorative dentistry curriculum for second year student at Biruni

 University (2016-2017)

their educations generally undocumented in the literature. Because some sources suggested that dental students are not satisfied with their education [4], while others stated that students provided positive feedback about their experiences in dental schools in the form of anecdotal reports [1]. Therefore, negative perceptions that might have unexpected results on performances of students throughout their dental educations and their total satisfaction with dentistry may stay invisible. Thus, the aim of the present study was to gain knowledge about students' perception on preclinical restorative dentistry courses in dental school of Biruni University.

Methods

The present research was carried out on the second year students at the dental faculty of a foundation university (Biruni University, Faculty of Dentistry). A survey of Dikbas *et al.* [5] was modified to assess students' perceptions of the restorative dentistry The survey continued over the length of preclinical course. Students were instructed that completing and returning survey were not mandatory and the process had no association with grading before completing the survey forms. It was expressed to the students at the start of the survey that the privacy of the participating students was guaranteed and all data would be retained rigorously private.

The survey composed of 9 items regarding their thoughts about the adequacy of knowledge they received from their preclinical training and their stress levels in preclinical courses. Items were commonly focused on students' perceptions of their preparedness in terms of hand-skills and clinical practices. The first 8 items were multiple-choice with 3 answer options rated from 1 to 3 and students were asked to make scorings in amalgam and composite restorations, individually. The 9th question was open ended and inquired about students' personal opinion and

Table ? Evaluation of t	he answers on	amalgam and	nosterior con	mnosite r	ectorations
Table 2. Evaluation of t	ine answers on	amaigam anu	posterior con	inposite i	estorations

Ouestionnaire items		Students (%) (n=79)		
	-	Amalgam restoration	Posterior composite restoration	p value
Please rate your level of stress during the	Not stressful	46.8	34.2	0.033
preclinical course?	Stressful	43.0	44.3	
	Very stressful	10.1	21.5	
What do you think about the length of the	Too short	25.3	38.0	0.006
preclinical courses?	Just right	73.4	62.0	
-	Too long	1.3		
Do you think you have enough interaction	Not enough	7.6	5.1	0.319
about your preclinical work with your	Just right	74.7	72.2	
instructors during preclinical courses?	More than	17.7	22.8	
	enough			
Do you feel the knowledge you have	Not adequate	2.5	-	0.951
obtained from the lectures is adequate for	Just right	69.6	71.8	
preclinical courses?	More than	26.6	28.2	
-	adequate			
Do you think the knowledge you gained	Yes	87.3	87.3	1.000
from the lectures is helpful in preparing	No	3.8	3.8	
for clinical practice?	Not certain	8.9	8.9	
How prepared (from your pre-clinical	Unprepared	30.4	32.9	1.000
experiences) do you feel about treating	Just right	49.4	44.3	
patients in the clinic? (self-confidence)	Well prepared	20.3	22.8	
Do you think you have enough clinical-	Not enough	19.0	24.1	0.585
skill (hand-skill) training to treat patients	Just right	68.4	63.3	
in the clinic?	More than	12.7	12.7	
	enough			
How helpful are demonstrations in helping	Not helpful	8.9	7.6	0.879
you understand pre-clinical and clinical	Helpful	69.6	73.4	
knowledge and skills?	Very helpful	21.5	19.0	

Students t-test was used (p < 0.05).

suggestions for the improvement of the preclinical restorative dentistry courses.

Statistical Analysis

The percentages were obtained with respect to each question. Data were analyzed using SPSS version 16. Differences between group means were analyzed using students t-test. The significance was set at p < 0.05.

Results

The response rate of this questionnaire was 94%. Findings of student's answers to the questions were summarized in Table 2. Regarding to stress levels during preclinical laboratory exercises, students reported significantly higher stress levels for posterior composite restorations lessons compared amalgam restoration lessons (p = 0.033). Thirty-eight percent of students expressed that length of preclinical courses of composite restorations were short with significantly different when compared to amalgam restoration courses (25.3%) (p = 0.06). Only 5.1% and 7.6% of the students stated that they have not enough interaction work their preclinical performance work with their instructors during laboratory exercises for posterior composite and amalgam restorations, respectively. Almost all of the students expressed that they felt that the knowledge they had gained from lectures were adequate for laboratory exercises for both amalgam and posterior composite lessons. The majority of students thought that the knowledge they obtained from the lectures was helpful in preparing for clinical practice for both amalgam (87.3%) and posterior composite restorations (87.3%). Almost two out of three of the students reported that they felt "just right" or "well prepared" about treating patients in the clinic for amalgam and composite restoration respectively. With similar ratings, students stated that they gained enough clinical-skill (hand-skill) training to treat patients in the clinic for both materials. The majority of students expressed that they found demonstrations in helping them understand preclinical and clinical knowledge and skills.

Discussion

Numbers of newly settled dentistry faculties in

state zone or in the private zone in Turkey have increased during the last decade. Majority faculty staff of these new dental schools would be considered as a new generation academics with little or no teaching experience. Thus, a training of a new generation of dental faculty staff appeared an urgent question to be solved. However, training and teaching experiences in these newly settled dental schools at different departments in terms of students' perspectives would be an important information for assessing quality of dental education curriculums in these dental schools. Therefore, in this study, information about second year-students perspectives of their restorative dentistry preclinical course and stress level during these courses and preparedness for future clinical patient care in restorative dentistry was obtained in Biruni University which was settled in 2014.

Preclinical courses of restorative dentistry are interactive lessons in their nature as students often ask questions about their performances to the instructors during the course. Instructions should check whether each student gains learning objects in preclinical curriculum and able to apply them on their weekly performance correctly to this interaction. If a student realize that he/she achieved to learn and apply preclinical lesson objectives on his/her weekly performance by the interaction with the instructors during course, it's likely that student feel and see that theoretical knowledge which they obtained from lectures are adequate for preclinical courses and they feel self-confidence for delivering patient care with restorative dentistry procedures they experienced in preclinical courses. Thus, the interaction of students with their instructors during preclinical courses seems to be a pivotal educational process to prepare students for clinical service care. The majority of the students enrolled to this survey reported that they had an enough or more than enough interactions with their instructors. The high positive reports also exist for regarding the helpfulness of lectures in preparing them for clinical practice. A previous research stated that students' rating for this interaction could be lower in State universities. They suggested that a high number of students and low number of instructors in the State schools would be reasons for lower interaction ratings by students. However, in Biruni University case presented in this study, there were only two instructors and eight-five second year students in restorative dentistry preclinical course. Thus, it can be suggested that despite low number of instructors and high number of students, high student's rating for interaction during courses could be achieved in some cases.

Dental students should acquire of psychomotor skills during the preclinical course of restorative dentistry to be prepared to deliver patient care in the clinics [6, 7]. According to the Suksudaj et al. [6], several important factors can influence skill acquisition of students, including student-related factors, i.e. level of innate ability and motivation, and non-student related factors, i.e. learning environment. According to learning theories, students should have cognitive ability to understand procedures regarding a task Therefore, particular [8]. performing demonstrations of restorative dentistry procedures; i.e. incremental placing of resin composite into the prepared proximal cavity at the preclinical courses would increase students' cognitive abilities, helping in improvement their psychomotor skill and increasing feeling preparedness of the students for near future clinic practice. In the present study, most of students found demonstrations "helpful" or "very helpful" in helping them understand preclinical and clinical knowledge and skills for amalgam and posterior composite restorations.

Another factor that would have a significant effect on acquisition of skill in restorative dentistry is a motivation [9]. Motivation means the effort which is separated to tasks. High effort or motivated people tend to reach a high level of performance [6]. In this survey, almost one of each three students reported that the length of the preclinical course is short, although three hours were allocated to preclinical course every week. This demand of students for a long preclinical course may indicate that motivation of students is high. This would contribute high positive perspectives and high rate of felling preparedness for the clinic practice of students for restorative dentistry courses in Biruni University.

For an instructor interest, having information about how prepared his students felt about delivering patient care in the clinic is an important merit him assessing his education program. This study revealed that two thirds of students reported that they did feel prepared or well prepared to perform amalgam and posterior composite restoration in the clinic. Similar ratings were reported when they asked if they think have enough hand-skill training to treat patients in the clinic. There is an obvious link between feeling preparedness and having enough hand-skill in the perspectives of the students in restorative dentistry.

However, some other factors which are related to the

medical condition of students would have an important influence on skill acquisition and feeling preparedness for clinical practices. These are included eye defects, i.e. myopia and astigmatism, and unexplained hand tremor. Even though a student has a enough cognitive ability, motivation, and perceptual speed ability is required to find the most effective way to achieve the task, these medical conditions would reduce psychomotor ability of a student [6], thus preventing student to assess their work accurately or prevent perform high quality work. Therefore, the author suggests that instructors should determine these students at the earliest preclinical course session and inform their parents about this issue to improve skill acquisition of these students.

Conclusions

The present survey would be the first research regarding to students' perceptions of preclinical restorative dentistry courses among Turkish Dental Schools. Obtaining information dental students' perceptions of feeling being preparedness and their level of stress during their preclinical courses prior to delivering patient care in the clinic would lead to preclinical restorative dentistry curriculum. Based on the findings, second-year student's perceptions on preclinical restorative dentistry curriculum in Biruni University were highly positive. The author suggests that similar questionnaires would be carried out in other newly settled Turkish dental schools.

Conflict of interest

The author disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The author disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

Acknowledgements

The author thanks Prof. Dr. Naime Bilinç Bulucu for participating second-year restorative dentistry course.

References

[1] Henzi D, Davis E, Jasinevicius R, Hendricson W, Cintron L, Isaacs M. Appraisal of the dental school learning environment: the students' view. J Dent

Res 2005;69:1137-47.

[2] Lynch CD, Frazier KB, McConnell RJ, Blum IR, Wilson NH. Minimally invasive management of dental caries: contemporary teaching of posterior resinbased composite placement in US and Canadian dental schools. J Am Dent Assoc 2011;142:612-20.

[3] Rafeek RN, Marchan SM, Naidu RS, Carrotte PV. Perceived competency at graduation among dental alumni of the University of the West Indies. J Dent Educ 2004;68:81-88.

[4] Bertolami CN. Rationalizing the dental curriculum in light of current disease prevalence and patient demand for treatment: form vs. content. J Dent Educ 2001;65:725-35.

[5] Dikbaş İ, Özkurt-Kayahan Z, Ünalan F. Evaluation of second year dental

students' perceptions on preclinical prosthodontic program. 7tepeklinik 2016;1:5-12.

[6] Suksudaj N, Townsend GC, Kaidonis J, Lekkas D, Winning TA. Acquiring psychomotor skills in operative dentistry: do innate ability and motivation matter? Eur J Dent Educ 2012;16:e187-94.

[7] Koo S, Kim A, Donoff RB, Karimbux NY. An initial assessment of haptics in preclinical operative dentistry training. J Investig Clin Dent 2015;6:69-76.

[8] Heintze U, Radeborg K, Bengtsson H, StenlaasA. Assessment and evaluation of individual prerequisites for dental education. Eur J Dent Educ 2004;8:152-60.
[9] Yeo GB, A Neal. A multilevel analysis of effort, practice, and performance: effects; of ability, conscientiousness, and goal orientation. J Appl Psychol 2004;89:231-47.


http://www.eurj.org

Original Article

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.345920

Correlation between metabolic syndrome disorder and circadian rhythm of physically disabled individuals

Müge Arslan

Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, İstanbul Arel University School of Health Sciences, İstanbul, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. The aim of this study was to examine the correlation between sleep disorder and metabolic syndrome disorder in physically disabled people. **Methods.** The study was conducted among physically disabled persons who were selected from the Education and Rehabilitation Centre of Disabled People in Çorum, a city located in the central north of Turkey. Sleep quality is assessed with Turkish version of Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. The metabolic syndrome disorder, weight circumference and blood values of participants are examined by three health personnel from a private hospital in Çorum. **Results.** One hundred and three persons (56 M, 47 F) participants had bad sleep quality. The correlation between circadian rhythm and metabolic syndrome disorder was significantly positive (p<0.01). It was found that the persons who have a bad sleep quality spend more energy than the persons who have good sleep quality (p=0.001). Energy expenditure of the participants with metabolic syndrome disorder is higher than without metabolic syndrome disorder (p<0.001) at the time of sleeping. **Conclusions.** This study confirms the positive relationship between circadian rhythm irregularity and metabolic syndrome disorder. Also, the study supports the idea that circadian rhythm irregularities cause an increase in daily energy expenditure which leads further metabolic syndrome disorder.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):205-210

Keywords: Circadian rhythm, metabolic syndrome disorder, energy expenditure, disabled people

Introduction

Circadian rhythm is one of the most important abilities in adaptation to environment and survival [1]. Under current conditions, circadian rhythm goes through an endogenous biological process of 24 hours. Its oscillation changes according to environmental factors such as light, temperature or food, so it provides a selective advantage in the evolutionary process [2-5]. Especially sleep cycle is the primary process regulated by circadian rhythm [6, 7] and sleep disturbance is accepted as an indicator of circadian rhythm irregularity.

Circadian rhythm has a regulatory impact on the many functions of the body such as body temperature, brain activity, hormone release, energy consumption, energy metabolism which is in relation to hormones, lipids, and cell reproduction [6, 7]. For this reason,

Address for correspondence:

Müge Arslan, PhD., Assistant Professor, İstanbul Arel University School of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Tepekent Campus, Türkoba Mah., Erguvan Sok., No: 26/K, 34537 Tepekent, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: dyt_muge@hotmail.com Received: October 23, 2017; Accepted: December 22, 2017; Published Online: January 10, 2018

circadian rhythm irregularity is thought to cause many functional disorders in the body. Many studies found that glycogen is affected by circadian rhythm irregularities [8-10]. It has also been showed that sleep disturbance contains within itself a high mortality risk to obesity, hypertension, due diabetes and cardiovascular diseases [11-15]. Following studies revealed a further effect of circadian rhythm on diverse metabolic systems. Because circadian rhythm regulates energy balance and metabolic system of peripheral tissues. It also helps maintenance of metabolic stability by regulating production and activity of metabolic enzymes (e.g. glycogen phosphorylase, lactate dehydrogenase, Acetyl-CoA carboxylase, cytochrome oxidase, malic enzyme, glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase) and transport systems of cells. These enzymes and transport systems join to the regulation of amino acids, drug and toxin metabolism, cholesterol metabolism, citric acid cycle, glycogen, and glucose metabolism [4].

Some studies focussed on diverse metabolic disorders, dealt with the correlation between metabolic systems and circadian rhythm. In these studies, one of the most analysed metabolic subjects is glucose metabolism. It is identified that daily 4-hour-sleep is related to decreased glucose clearance and glucose sensitivity [16-18]. In addition to this, findings show that circadian rhythm irregularities trigger the metabolic disorders such as obesity, type 2 diabetes, and cancer [17, 19, 20].

A metabolic syndrome disorder covers many symptoms of different metabolic disorders and is associated with increased risk of having at least one of those metabolic disorders. People with metabolic syndrome disorder (MetS), for example, catch the disease of type-2 diabetes 5 times easier and of cardiovascular 2 times easier [21]. Common symptoms of MetS are identified as abdominal obesity, glucose intolerance, dyslipidemia, coronary artery disorder, diabetes mellitus and hypertension [22]. Due to the rate of incidence of these symptoms in both MetS and circadian rhythm irregularities, a possible correlation between them is analysed in a study. Results reveal only a possible and bi-directional link [23]. Welsh et al. [24] states in his study that disruption of circadian rhythm causes a vicious cycle by leading to MetS which are further causing the maintenance of circadian rhythm irregularities. The aim of this study was to reveal the form of the above-explained relationship, especially in physically disabled people.

Methods

This study approved by the ethical committee of Okan University Institute of Health Sciences (research protocol number: 75, date: March 30, 2016). The study was conducted among physically disabled persons who were selected from the Education and Rehabilitation Centre of Disabled People in Corum, a city located in the central north of Turkey. Data gathering process began in April 2016 and continued until June 2016. Totally 103 persons (56 M, 47 F) participated in the study. The age of participation varies between 18 to 74. The purpose and procedure of the study were explained in detail to all participants. In the study, participants' sleep patterns are treated as an indicator of circadian rhythm. The Turkish version of Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index [25] is used to evaluate circadian rhythm of the participants. Each one of the participants and one of its immediate relatives answers the questions of the index. The index is formed to assess sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration, habitual sleep efficiency, sleep disturbances, sleeping medications and daytime dysfunction factors. Those who score 5 or less from the participants were rated as "good" and then those who score 5 points, or more were rated "bad". Bad sleep indicates a high sleep disturbance at least in the two factors or mild sleep disturbance in the factors more than three.

Metabolic syndrome disorder is identified according to criteria of Adult Treatment Panel III in National Cholesterol Education Program. According to these criteria, people are diagnosed with MetS who show three of five symptoms. The symptoms are sorted as following: a) higher blood pressure (BP) than 130/80 mmHg, b) higher triglyceride level than 150 mg/dl, c) higher blood glucose level than 110 mg/dl, d) lower HDL than 40 mg/dl for men and 50 mg/dl for women, e) higher waist circumference than 102 cm for men and 88 cm for women.

In this context, waist circumference of each participant is measured, and blood sample of each is taken. Eight-twelve hours fasting blood samples were taken as 8 ml with yellow-capped tubes by three health personnel from a private hospital in Çorum. Monitoring of blood pressure and measurement of waist circumference are also done by the same health personnel. Fasting blood glucose, triglyceride, HDL cholesterol and LDL-cholesterol levels are analysed with the Roche integra 800 machine. Blood pressure is measured by Erka D-83646 Bad Tölz.

In the study, participants' daily energy expenditure

is also analysed. For this purpose, the daily nutritional values of the participants are calculated during the study.

Statistical Analysis

The data is analysed through SPSS v.22 statistic programme. Descriptive statistics are presented with a number, percentage, mean and standard deviation values. They are used to evaluate the data. To understand whether data show normal distribution or not, Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z test is applied. In all analyses, 5% significance value is used to evaluate results.

Results

There was metabolic syndrome disorder in 23 (22.3%) participants (Tables 1 and 2). A significant difference between the systolic blood pressure, diastolic artery pressure, fasting blood glucose, HDL cholesterol and triglyceride values of participants with MetS and without MetS was found (p < 0.01)

Forty (38.8%) of the participants had bad sleep quality (Table 3). There was no significant difference between male and female participants in terms of sleep quality and MetS (p > 0.05). Based on these results, the relationship between sleep quality and MetS analysed with Pearson's Chi-Square Test. There was a significant correlation between sleep quality and MetS (p < 0.01). This ratio is also similar for both male and female participants (p < 0.05).

Participants' energy expenditure related to sleep quality and MetS are analysed (Table 4 and Table 5). Energy expenditure of participants who have bad sleep quality and good sleep quality is compared through independent sample t-test. The results show a significant difference between two groups in terms of daily energy expenditure (p = 0.001). Daily energy expenditure of participants who have bad sleep quality (mean: 2210 ± 569) is higher than participants who have good sleep quality (mean: 1370 ± 500). Daily energy expenditure of participants with MetS and without MetS was also compared. The results show that participants with MetS have higher daily energy expenditure than participants without MetS (mean: 2160 ± 703) vs. mean: 1562 ± 597 ; p < 0.001) (Table 5).

Discussion

Irregularity in sleep cycle was interpreted as an irregularity in circadian rhythm in this study. Because this interpretation comes from a significant correlation between circadian rhythm disturbance and metabolic syndrome disorder. This finding is also supported by some previous studies. In their study, Hung et al. [26]

Table 1. Distribution of metabolic syndrome criteria (n = 103)

Metabolic Syndrome Criteria	Data	
Waist Circumference (cm)	89.86 ± 16.65 (60-129)	
Systolic artery pressure (mmHg)	119.51 ± 17 68 (90-170)	
Diastolic artery pressure (mmHg)	68.35 ± 12.61 (50-100)	
Fasting Blood Glucose (mg/dl) Normal Low	90.18 ± 25.33 (46-263) 93 (90.3%) 10 (9.7%)	
HDL (mg/dl) Normal >150	22.1 ± 91.1 61 (59.2%) 42 (40.8)	
Triglyceride (mg/dl) Normal High	158.64 ± 105.90 (51.2-661.3) 64 (62.1%) 39 (37.9%)	
Metabolic syndrome		
No	80 (77.7%)	
Yes	23 (22.3%)	

Participant	Sex	Waist	Blood	Glucose	HDL	Triglyceride
Number		Circumference	Pressure	(mg/dl)	(mg/dl)	(mg/dl)
		(cm)	(mmHg)			
1	Female	95	140/80	115	48	115
2	Female	99	110/60	122	51	194
3	Female	100	110/60	108	48	376
4	Female	104	150/80	116	41	144
4	Female	116	110/70	95	35	215
6	Female	92	140/90	89	32	221
7	Female	89	130/60	114	64	176
8	Female	129	130/70	93	30	266
9	Female	102	130/60	93	41	177
10	Female	117	130/70	139	48	131
11	Male	114	120/70	73	30	482
12	Male	117	160/100	85	22	406
13	Male	115	120/80	99	35	211
14	Male	112	140/80	140	38	205
15	Male	117	130/80	97	34	335
16	Male	114	130/70	67	39	157
17	Male	118	140/90	84	37	165
18	Male	107	130/70	76	39	151
19	Male	115	150/80	95	51	245
20	Male	119	170/90	130	43	225
21	Male	120	150/90	93	34	241
22	Male	114	150/90	193	40	190
23	Male	120	160/90	68	36	161

Table 2. Metabolic syndrome criteria of individuals with metabolic syndrome disorder

reported a higher risk for people who have bad sleep quality. Jennings *et al.* [27] also stated that bad sleep quality increases the prevalence of MetS [27].

Because of the relationship between circadian rhythm and MetS, the body needs more energy due to lack of sleep. In other words, energy need is found to be related to sleep deprivation. Experimental studies on sleep restriction show a negative correlation between sleep deprivation and appetite-related ghrelin and leptin hormones and between total energy intake and body weight [28-30]. Furthermore, it is stated that this energy requirement is met by increased consumption of total fat, saturated fatty acid, and carbohydrate-rich foods [31]. Accordingly, many studies on circadian rhythm irregularities that cause sleep disorders present that these irregularities also

Table 3. D	istribution	of sleep	quality	criteria ((n = 1)	103)
------------	-------------	----------	---------	------------	---------	------

		PSQ	I score	
Sleep Quality Criteria	0	1	2	3
PSQI - Sleep Quality	26 (25.2%)	66 (64.1%)	6 (5.8%)	5 (4.9%)
PSQI - Sleep Latency	43 (41.7%)	21 (20.4%)	33 (32.0%)	6 (5.8%)
PSQI - Sleep Duration	71 (68.9%)	13 (12.6%)	17 (16.5%)	2 (1.9%)
PSQI - Habitual Sleep Efficiency	70 (68.0%)	18 (17.5%)	7 (6.8%)	8 (7.8%)
PSQI - Sleep Disturbances	14 (13.6%)	83 (80.6%)	6 (5.8%)	0 (0%)
PSQI - Use of Sleeping Medications	49 (47.6%)	48 (46.6%)	1 (1.0%)	5 (4.9%)
PSQI- Daytime Dysfunction	44 (42.7%) 55 (53.4%) 3 (2.9%) 1 (1.			1 (1.0%)
PSQI total score				
Mean		5.15	± 2.99	
Range		0	-13	
Sleep Quality				
Good		63 (6	61.2%)	
Bad		40 (3	38.8%)	

Data are shown as mean ± standard deviation or number (percent). PSQI = Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index

				Sleep Q	Quality		
			Good			Bad	
		Min- Max	Median	Mean±SD	Min- Max	Median	Mean±SD
Mala	Carbohydrate %	26-58	43.5	44.13 ± 6.39	37-59	50.5	48.94 ± 5.02
r = 56	Protein %	10-25	19	18.84 ± 3.13	15-21	18	17.56 ± 1.65
(n - 50)	Fat %	27-49	36.5	36.95 ± 5.10	25-43	34	33.72 ± 4.56
Fomalo	Carbohydrate %	31-53	43	42.72 ± 6.85	32-55	49	46.64 ± 6.87
r = 47	Protein %	15-27	17	18.32 ± 3.34	14-23	18.5	18.18 ± 2.28
(n - 4/)	Fat %	32-49	39	39.24 ± 4.98	28-47	34	35.59 ± 6.07
	Carbohydrate %	26-58	43	43.57 ± 6.56	32-59	50	47.68 ± 6.15
Total	Protein %	10-27	18	18.63 ± 3.20	14-23	18	17.90 ± 2.02
	Fat %	27-49	38	37.86 ± 5.14	25-47	34	34.75 ± 5.46

Table 4. Carbohydrate, protein and fat requirements for sleep quality (n = 103)

Table 5. Evaluation of daily energy expenditure according to sleep quality and MetS (n = 103)

			Energycal/day				
Feature		n	Min-Max	Median	Mean±SD	t	р
Sleep	Good	63	483-2964	1329	1370 ± 500	7 000	0.001
Quality	Bad	40	563-2963	2264	2210 ± 569	-/,880	0.001
Metabolic	No	80	482-2964	1499	1562 ± 597	4.062	< 0.001
Syndrome	Yes	23	1088-2961	2296	2160 ± 703	-4,062	< 0.001

t = Independent t-test. MetS = metabolic syndrome disorder, n = number of participant

have consequences for night eating syndrome [7, 32-34]. These interlinked disorders further increase the risk of metabolic disorders such as obesity and cardiovascular diseases. As a result, there is a causal correlation between increased energy requirement and sleep disturbance. Thus, daily energy consumption of participants is also researched in our study. The study proves that both bad sleep quality and MetS are causally correlated with energy consumption. The daily energy consumption of participants who have bad sleep quality and MetS is higher than the participants who have good sleep quality and no MetS. These findings support the previous assumption and indicate a chain of reaction due to irregularities of circadian rhythm.

Conclusions

The results of this study contribute to better understanding the relationship between circadian rhythm and metabolic syndrome disorder. Many parameters of this relationship need to be studied especially in terms of causal relation. Because, energy consumption is resulted from disturbance of metabolic balance and lead to circadian rhythm irregularities. A more comprehensive study seems necessary to understand the nature of this causal relationship.

Conflict of interest

The author disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The author disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Sharma VK. Adaptive significance of circadian clocks. Chronobiol Int 2003;20:901-19.

[2] Edgar RS, Green EW, Zhao Y, van Ooijen G, Olmedo M, Qin X, et al. Peroxiredoxins are conserved markers of circadian rhythms. Nature 2012;485:459-64.

[3] Moore RY. Circadian rhythms: basic neurobiology and clinical applications. Annu Rev Med 1997;48:253-66.

[4] Froy O. The relationship between nutrition and circadian rhythms in mammals. Front Neuroendocrinol 2007;28: 61-71.

[5] Tsang AH, Barclay JL, Oster H. Interactions between endocrine and circadian systems. J Mol Endocrinol 2013;52: R1-16.

[6] Scheer FA, Hilton MF, Mantzoros CS, Shea SA. Adverse metabolic and cardiovascular consequences of circadian misalignment. Proc Nat Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:4453-8.

[7] Markwald RR, Melanson EL, Smith MR, Higgins J, Perreault L, Eckel RH, et al. The impact of insufficient sleep on total daily energy expenditure, food intake, and weight gain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013;110:5695-700.

[8] Van Cauter E, Blackman JD, Roland D, Spire JP, Refetoff S, Polonsky KS. Modulation of glucose regulation and insulin secretion by circadian rhythmicity and sleep. J Clin Invest 1991;88:934-42.

[9] Scheer FA, Hilton MF, Mantzoros CS, Shea SA. Adverse metabolic and cardiovascular consequences of circadian misalignment. Proc Nat Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:4453-8.

[10] Frank SA, Roland DC, Sturis J, Byrne MM, Refetoff S, Polonsky KS, et al. Effects of aging on glucose regulation during wakefulness and sleep. Am J Physiol 1995;269(6 Pt 1):E1006-E1016.

[11] Cappuccio FP, Taggart FM, Kandala NB, Currie A, Peile E, Stranges S, et al. Meta-analysis of short sleep duration and obesity in children and adults. Sleep 2008;31:619-26.

[12] Stranges S, Dorn JM, Cappuccio FP, Donahue RP, Rafalson LB, Hovey KM, et al. A population-based study of reduced sleep duration and hypertension: the strongest association may be in premenopausal women. J Hypertens 2010;28:896-902.

[13] Ayas NT, White DP, Al-Delaimy WK, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Speizer FE, et al. A prospective study of self-reported sleep duration and incident diabetes in women. Diabetes Care 2003;26:380-4.

[14] Cappuccio FP, Cooper D, D'Elia L, Strazzullo P, Miller MA. Sleep duration predicts cardiovascular outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. Eur Heart J 2011;32:1484-92.

[15] Cappuccio FP, D'Elia L, Strazzullo P, Miller MA. Sleep duration and allcause mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. Sleep 2010;33:585-92.

[16] Buxton OM, Pavlova M, Reid EW, Wang W, Simonson DC, Adler GK. Sleep restriction for 1 week reduces insulin sensitivity in healthy menstruation. Diabetes 2010;59:2126-33.

[17] Nedeltcheva AV, Kessler L, Imperial J, Penev PD. Exposure to recurrent sleep restriction in the setting of high caloric intake and physical inactivity results in increased insulin resistance and reduced glucose tolerance. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009;94:3242-50.

[18] Broussard JL, Ehrmann DA, VanCauter E, Tasali E, Brady MJ. Impaired insulin signaling in human adipocytes after experimental sleep restriction: a randomized, crossover study. Annu Intern Med 2012;157:549-57.

[19] Dallmann R, Viola AU, Tarokh L, Cajochen C, Brown SA. The human circadian metabolome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012;109:2625-9.

[20] Dal Maso L, Augustin LS, Karalis A, Talamini R, Franceschi S, Trichopoulos D, et al. Circulating adiponectin and endometrial cancer risk. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004;89:1160-3.

[21] Alberti KG, Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ, Cleeman JI, Donato KA, et al. Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the

international diabetes federation task force on epidemiology and prevention; National heart, lung, and blood institute; American heart association; World heart federation; International atherosclerosis society; And international association for the study of obesity. Circulation 2009;120:1640-5. [22] Türkiye Endokrinoloji ve Metabolizma Derneği Metabolik Sendrom Çalışma Grubu. Metabolik Sendrom Kılavuzu, 2009.

[23] Asher G, Schibler U. Crosstalk between components of circadian and metabolic cycles in mammals. Cell Metab 2011;13:125-37.

[24] Welsh DK, Takahashi JS, Kay SA. Suprachiasmatic nucleus: cell autonomy and network properties. Annu Rev Physiol 2010;72:551-77.

[25] Öçal Ö. Acıbadem maslak hastanesi beslenme ve diyet polikliniğine başvuran yetişkin bireylerde besin tüketiminin Pittsburgh uyku kalitesi ölçeği ile ilişkisi. Başkent Üniversitesi, Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Ankara, 2015.

[26] Hung HC, Yang YC, Ou HY, Wu JS, Lu FH, Chang CJ. The association between self-reported sleep quality and metabolic syndrome. PLoS One 2013;8:e54304.

[27] Jennings JR, Muldoon MF, Hall M, Buysse DJ, Manuck SB. Self-reported sleep quality is associated with the metabolic syndrome. Sleep 2007;30:219-23.[28] St-Onge MP, Roberts AL, Chen J, Kelleman M, O'Keeffe M, RoyChoudhury

A, et al. Short sleep duration increases energy intakes but does not change energy expenditure in normal-weight individuals. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;94:410-6.

[29] Spaeth AM, Dinges DF, Goel N. Sex and race differences in caloric intake during sleep restriction in healthy adults. Am J Clin Nutr 2014;100:559-66.

[30] Nedeltcheva AV, Kilkus JM, Imperial J, Kasza K, Schoeller DA, Penev PD. Sleep curtailment is accompanied by increased intake of calories from snacks. Am J Clin Nutr 2009;89:126-33.

[31] WolkR, Shamsuzzaman AS, Somers VK. Obesity, sleep apnea, and hypertension. Hypertension 2003;42:1067-74.

[32] Birketvedt GS, Florholmen J, Sundsfjord J, Østerud B, Dinges D, Bilker W, et al. Behavioral and neuroendocrine characteristics of the night-eating syndrome. JAMA 1999;282:657-63.

[33] Allison KC, Lundgren JD, O'Reardon JP, Geliebter A, Gluck ME, Vinai P, et al. Proposed diagnostic criteria for night eating syndrome. Int J Eat Disord 2010;43:241-7.

[34] Goel N, Stunkard AJ, Rogers NL, Van Dongen HP, Allison KC, O'Reardon JP, et al. Circadian rhythm profiles in women with night eating syndrome. J Biol Rhythms 2009;24:85-94.



http://www.eurj.org

Original Article

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.346654

Clinical presentation of tuberculosis: a nine-year single-center experience

Ahmet Cemal Pazarlı¹, Timur Ekiz², Mehmet Akif Abakay³

¹Department of Pulmonary Diseases, Gaziosmanpaşa University School of Medicine, Tokat, Turkey ²Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Elbistan State Hospital, Kahramanmaraş, Turkey ³Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Elbistan State Hospital, Kahramanmaraş, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objective. The aim of this study was to determine the clinical presentation of tuberculosis cases from our center for the last nine years. **Methods**. This study was set as descriptive and retrospective. The data was obtained from the hospital records. Subjects who had been diagnosed as tuberculosis and received treatment in our center between the years 2007 and 2015 were included. The cases were classified as newly diagnosed, relapse, transferred, and returning after default. **Results**. There were 276 (171 males and 105 females) patients with a mean age of 41.5 ± 19.2 years. Pulmonary involvement is the most common presentation and seen in 155 (56.2%) patients. Lymph node and pleura are the most common extrapulmonary involvements those are seen in 53 (19.2%) and 23 (8.3%) patients, respectively. Number of the cases seems to decreased after 2012. Most (85.1%) of the patients were newly diagnosed. Among the subjects, 55.2% of them had bacteriologic diagnosis, 35.1% had histopathologic diagnosis. Two subjects died during the treatment period whereas 274 of them completed the treatment program. **Conclusions**. Our results show that tuberculosis is seen mainly in the adult age group. While pulmonary involvement is the most common presentation, lymph node and pleura involvements are the most common presentation, lymph node and pleura involvements are the most common presentation, lymph node and pleura involvements are the most common presentation. Number of the tuberculosis seems to decrease for the recent years. Strict preventive measures and treatment strategies should be administered.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):211-214

Keywords: Tuberculosis, pulmonary involvement, Mycobacterium tuberculosis, extrathoracic tuberculosis, lymphadenitis, treatment strategy.

Introduction

Tuberculosis still remains a considerable health problem in spite of the strict preventive measures and treatment strategies [1]. Previous studies have already reported the clinical and demographical features, and management of tuberculosis in detail [2-5]. However, recent studies focused on the increased incidence of tuberculosis in the recent years [4-7]. Therefore, the aim of this study was to determine the clinical presentation of tuberculosis cases from our center for the last nine years.

Address for correspondence:

Ahmet Cemal Pazarlı, MD., Assistant Professor, Gaziosmanpaşa University School of Medicine, Department of Pulmonary Diseases, Tokat, Turkey E-mail: dracp60@gmail.com, Fax: +90 356 212 3200

Received: October 26, 2017; Accepted: December 14, 2017; Published Online: March 2, 2018

Clinical presentation of tuberculosis

Methods

This study was designed as descriptive and retrospectively. The data were obtained from the hospital records. Subjects previously diagnosed with tuberculosis and received treatment in our center (Elbistan, Turkey) between the years 2007 and 2015 were included. Subjects with missing data regarding the diagnosis and clinical involvement, and transferred to other clinics for their treatments were excluded. Age, gender, year, tuberculosis involvement (thoracic, lymph node, pleura, bone, etc.), and diagnostic method (histopathological, microbiological) have been noted. The cases were classified as newly diagnosed, relapse, transferred, and returning after default. This study protocol was approved by the local ethics committee.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS version 16 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for the statistical analyses. Data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation or percentage. Chi Square test was used to compare categorical variables between the groups. A *p* value of 0.05 was set as significance.

Results

A total of 276 (171 males and 105 females) patients with a mean age of 41.5 ± 19.2 years were included in this study. Clinical and demographical features are shown in Table 1. Pulmonary and extrapulmonary involvements are shown in Tables 2 and 3. Pulmonary involvement is the most common presentation, and seen in 155 (56.2%) patients. Lymph node and pleura are the most common extrapulmonary involvements those are seen in 53 (19.2%) and 23 (8.3%) patients, respectively.

variable	Data $(n = 2/6)$
Age (years)	41.5 ± 19.2
Gender	
Male	171 (62%)
Female	105 (38%)
Age Group	
Adult (18-64)	218 (79%)
Geriatric (65 ≥)	36 (13%)
Pediatric (< 18)	22 (8%)
Pulmonary	155 (56.2%
Extrapulmonary	108 (39.1%)
Both	13 (4.7%)

A doite at a difficilitat y difficilitat y fill of the fillents	Table 2.	Pulmonary	and extra	pulmonary	involvements
--	----------	-----------	-----------	-----------	--------------

Involvement	Adult (n = 218)	Geriatric (n = 36)	Pediatric (n = 22)	Total $(n = 276)$
Pulmonary	123	18	14	155 (56.2%)
Lymph node	38	11	4	53 (19.2%)
Pleura	20	1	2	23 (8.3%)
Bone	10	1	0	11 (4%)
Urinary	6	2	0	8 (2.9%)
Periton	5	0	0	5 (1.8%)
Miliary	4	0	0	4 (1.4%)
Gastrointestinal	2	1	1	4 (1.4%)
Skin	3	1	0	4 (1.4%)
Central Nervous System	3	0	0	3 (1.1%)
Pericardium	2	0	1	3 (1.1%)
Breast	2	1	0	3 (1.1%)

 Table 3. Pulmonary and extrapulmonary involvements

Involvement	Adult (n = 218)	Geriatric (n = 36)	Pediatric (n = 22)	Total ($n = 276$)	<i>p</i> value
Pulmonary	123 (56.4%)	18 (50%)	14 (63.6%)	155 (56.2%)	<i>p</i> > 0.05
Extrapulmonary	84 (38.5%)	17 (47.2%)	7 (31.8%)	108 (39.1%)	p > 0.05
Both	11 (5.1%)	1 (2.8%)	1 (4.6%)	13 (4.7%)	<i>p</i> > 0.05

Table 4. Classification of the cases according to the diagnosis

	Adult (n = 218)	Geriatric (n = 36)	Pediatric (n = 22)	Total $(n = 276)$
Newly Diagnosed	186 (85.3%)	28 (77.8%)	21 (95.5%)	235 (85.1%)
Relapse	18 (8.3%)	4 (11.1%)	1 (4.5%)	23 (8.3%)
Returning after default	3 (1.3%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	3 (1.1%)
Transferred in	11 (5.1%)	4 (11.1%)	0 (0%)	15 (5.4%)

Number of tuberculosis patients over the years is shown in Figure 1. Presentation of pulmonary and extrapulmonary involvements over the years is shown in Figure 2. Number of the cases seems to be decreasing after 2012.

Classification of the cases according to the diagnosis is shown in Table 4. Most (85.1%) of the patients were newly diagnosed. Diagnosis method is shown in Table 5. Among the subjects, while 55.2% of them had bacteriologic diagnosis, 35.1% had histopathologic diagnosis. Two subjects died during the treatment period whereas 274 of them completed the treatment program.

 Table 5. Diagnosis method

Diagnosis	Data $(n = 276)$
Bacteriologic	144 (52.2%)
Histopathologic	97 (35.1%)
Quantiferon	2 (0.7%)
Missing data	33 (12%)

Discussion

Tuberculosis is an infectious disease caused by Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Although tuberculosis primarily involves the lungs, any sort of extrapulmonary involvements can be seen [8-13]. Recording, analysis, and reporting the tuberculosis cases is the mainstay of the tuberculosis control program according to the WHO. As such, there is standard data set of special tuberculosis surveillance conducted in the European Region, likewise in our county [7]. In this context, we aimed to define our tuberculosis cases in our center.

The data related to tuberculosis in our county has



Figure 1. The number of tuberculosis patients over the years.

been recruited individually according to WHO definitions since 2005. Furthermore, directly observed treatment strategy was announced in 2006. These two facts resulted in achieving more reliable data thereafter [14]. We have described the clinical involvement of tuberculosis and our results showed that most of the patients were adults (n = 123) followed by geriatric (n= 18) and pediatric (n = 13) patients. Among 276 cases, 56.2% of them had pulmonary tuberculosis whereas 39.2% (n = 108) had extrapulmonary involvements. In addition, 4.7% (n = 13) had both pulmonary and extrapulmonary tuberculosis. When compared the pulmonary and extrapulmonary involvements between the age groups, no significant difference was observed (p > 0.05). Up to 40% of extrapulmonary TB cases are attributable to tuberculous lymphadenitis [15]. Accounting for roughly 4% of all TB cases, pleural TB is the second leading cause of extrapulmonary TB [16].

As for the extrapulmonary tuberculosis in our study; lymph node involvement (19.2%) is the most common presentatin followed by the pleura (8.3%)and bone (4%). Previous studies reported the extrapulmonary tuberculosis rate in different populations [13,17-20]. Compared with them, extrapulmonary tuberculosis rate was higher in our study population. However, our results were consistent with the study done by İnönü et al. [20], and government statistics in our country. While absolute numbers have been on the rise, the prevalence of tuberculosis in relationship to population has trended downward during the past 15 years, and global public health efforts have averted an estimated 6 million deaths during this time [2]. On contrast, a decrease was observed in tuberculosis patients in our study population after 2012.

When classified the groups according to the



Figure 2. The number of pulmonary and extrapulmonary tuberculosis patients over the years.

diagnosis, most of them were newly diagnosed (85.1%) while relapse were seen in (8.3%) patients. Approximately 5% of the patients were transferred in our center and 1.1% was returning after default. Regarding the number of the relapse according to the age groups; although relapse rate was higher in the geriatric group, it did not reach significance. Overall, we herein imply that a possible relapse should be considered in all age groups.

Bacteriologic diagnosis is vital for the early diagnosis and directly observed treatment strategy. This fact will decrease the incidence of tuberculosis in the community. In our study, 55.2% of the subjects were diagnosed with tuberculosis according to the bacteriologic tests, and 35.1% of them according to the histopathological examination. Only two patients were diagnosed with tuberculosis with quantiferon test. However, there is missing data in twelve percent.

Limitations

We have some important drawbacks to the current study. First, our study was conducted as retrospectively. Second, this study lacks several comorbidities such as diabetes mellitus, immunosuppression, malnutrition, and malignancy those might be important for the infection of tuberculosis. Last, aside from the clinical involvement, treatment time, drug resistance, side affects were not mentioned in our study.

Conclusions

In the light of our results, tuberculosis is seen mainly in the adult age group. While pulmonary involvement is the most common presentation in all age group, lymph node and pleura involvements are the most common extrapulmonary presentations. Number of the tuberculosis seems to decrease for the recent years.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Sia IG, Wieland ML. Current Concepts in the Management of Tuberculosis. Mayo Clin Proc 2011;86:348-61.

[2] Lonnroth K, Castro KG, Chakaya JM, Chauhan LS, Floyd K, Glaziou P, et al. Tuberculosis control and elimination 2010-50: cure, care, and social development. Lancet 2010;375:1814-29.

[3] Getahun H, Matteelli A, Abubakar I, et al. Management of latent Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection: WHO guidelines for low tuberculosis burden countries. Eur Respir J 2015;46:1563-76.

[4] Lönnroth K, Migliori GB, Raviglione M. Toward tuberculosis elimination in low-incidence countries: reflections from a global consultation. Ann Intern Med 2014;161:670-1.

[5] Lienhardt C, Glaziou P, Uplekar M, Lönnroth K, Getahun H, Raviglione M. Global tuberculosis control: lessons learnt and future prospects. Nat Rev Microbiol 2012;10:407-16.

[6] Coskun O, Safaz I, Gul CH, Ozgul A, Eyigun CP. Heterotopic ossification in a patient with tuberculous meningoencephalitis. Intern Med 2008;47:2195-6.

[7] World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Control: Epidemiology, Strategy, Financing: WHO Report 2009. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2009.

[8] Liao JR, Zhang D, Wu XL. Pulmonary tuberculosis combined with hepatic tuberculosis: a case report and literature review. Clin Respir J 2015;9:501-5.

[9] Pefura-Yone EW, Kuaban C, Assamba-Mpom SA, Moifo B, Kengne AP. Derivation, validation and comparative performance of a simplified chest X-ray score for assessing the severity and outcome of pulmonary tuberculosis. Clin Respir J 2015;9:157-64.

[10] Christopoulos A, Saif MW, Sarris EG, Syrigos KN. Epidemiology of active tuberculosis in lung cancer patients: a systematic review. Clin Respir J 2014;8:375-81.

[11] Flor de Lima B, Tavares M. Risk factors for extensively drugresistant tuberculosis: a review. Clin Respir J 2014;8:11-23.

[12] Hassan WA, Darwish AM. Impact of pulmonary tuberculosis on menstrual pattern and fertility. Clin Respir J 2010;4:157-61.

[13] Kamper-Jorgensen Z, Lillebaek T, Andersen AB. Occupational tuberculosis following extremely short exposure. Clin Respir J 2009;3:55-7.

[14] Türk Tabipleri Birliği Tüberkuloz Raporu. Türk Tabipleri Birliği Yayınları. Birinci Baskı, Ocak 2012, Ankara.

[15] Peto HM, Pratt RH, Harrington TA, LoBue PA, Armstrong LR. Epidemiology of extrapulmonary tuberculosis in the United States, 1993-2006. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;49:1350-7.

[16] Baumann MH, Nolan R, Petrini M, Lee YC, Light RW, Schneider E. Pleural tuberculosis in the United States: incidence and drug resistance. Chest 2007;131:1125-32.

[17] Rowińska-Zakrzewska E, Korzeniewska-Koseła M, Roszkowski-Śliż K. Extrapulmonary tuberculosis in Poland in the years 1974-2010. Pneumonol Alergol Pol 2013;81:121-9.

[18] Kulchavenya E. Extrapulmonary tuberculosis: are statistical reports accurate? Ther Adv Infect Dis 2014;2:61-70.

[19] Lee JY. Diagnosis and treatment of extrapulmonary tuberculosis. Tuberc Respir Dis (Seoul) 2015;78:47-55.

[20] İnönü H, Köseoğlu D, Pazarlı C, Yılmaz A, Doruk S, Yenisehirli G, et al. [The characteristics of cases with extrapulmonary tuberculosis in a university hospital]. Tur Toraks Der 2010;11:167-73. [Article in Turkish]



http://www.eurj.org

Original Article

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.360833

Synchronous and antecedent malignancies in patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma

Mehmet Çelik¹, Buket Yılmaz Bülbül¹, Semra Aytürk¹, Ahmet Küçükarda², Ebru Taştekin³, Nuray Can³, Funda Üstün⁴, Yavuz Atakan Sezer⁵, Sibel Güldiken¹

¹Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Trakya University School of Medicine, Edirne, Turkey.

⁴Department of Nuclear Medicine, Trakya University School of Medicine, Edirne, Turkey.

⁵Department of General Surgery, Trakya University School of Medicine, Edirne, Turkey.

ABSTRACT

Objective. This study aimed to evaluate concurrently detected second primary malignancy in the patients who underwent surgery for papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Methods*. In this study, we retrospectively analyzed the files of the patients who underwent surgery for papillary thyroid carcinoma between 2000-2017. A total number of 601 patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma were evaluated. Among these patients, 48 patients were found to have secondary primary tumors. Preoperative and postoperative laboratory examination findings of the patients were retrospectively recorded. *Results*. Among 601 patients with papillary thyroid cancer evaluated with respect to radiation exposure, the second primary tumor with breast cancer was found to be the most common tumor. Renal cell carcinoma, malignant melanoma and stomach cancer were found to be more frequent when evaluated regardless of radiation effect. Furthermore, when molecular genetic results were evaluated, BRAF mutation rate was found to be more frequent than in other secondary tumors, especially in patients with renal cell carcinoma. *Conclusions*. The importance of epidemiological and experimental studies of multiple cancers is obvious. Although it is known that the impact of radiation is considerable among the ones with concurrence of breast cancer and papillary thyroid carcinoma, we suggest that further studies on common molecular genetic characteristics and development of targeted treatment for detected molecules are required in the patients with renal cell carcinoma in whom papillary thyroid carcinoma is diagnosed regardless of radiation effect.radiation effect.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):215-219

Keywords: Papillary thyroid carcinoma, second primary carcinoma, carcinogenesis, renal cell carcinoma

Introduction

The incidence of papillary thyroid carcinoma has 85 been increasing in the recent years. It constitutes about the the term of the term of the term of the term of the term of the term of the term of the term of the term of the term of the term of the term of the term of the term of the term of the term of term

85% of all differentiated thyroid cancers. Papillary thyroid carcinoma is a slow-growing tumor with

Address for correspondence:

Mehmet Çelik, MD., Assistant Professor, Trakya University School of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, 22030 Edirne, Turkey E-mail: drmehmetcelik@hotmail.com

²Department of Internal Medicine, Trakya University School of Medicine, Edirne, Turkey.

³Department of Pathology, Trakya University School of Medicine, Edirne, Turkey.

Received: December 4, 2017; Accepted: January 16, 2018; Published Online: February 12, 2018

favorable prognosis which is more common in women aged 20-50 years, 20-year survival rates are being around 90% [1]. Multiple primary tumors develop in the same patient at the same or different time points. The relationship between the development of multiple primary cancers and smoking is well known in humans. Nutritional deficiencies due to alcohol abuse may be an integral factor for multiple cancers. Applying radiotherapy for another cancer may also be responsible for the development of a second primary cancer. A possible explanation for the development of multiple cancers in different organs may also be a similar response to common etiological agents [2]. There are few studies in the literature on multiple malignancies with papillary thyroid carcinoma. In this study, we aimed to evaluate clinical, histopathological and molecular genetic characteristics in patients who have second primary tumor with thyroid cancer.

Methods

In this study, a total number of 601 patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma were evaluated. Among these, we retrospectively evaluated a total number of 48 cases who were diagnosed with concurrent second tumors and papillary thyroid carcinoma in our hospital between 2000-2017. All patients with concurrent tumors whose data were available were included in the study. Data on demographic features, cigarette and alcohol consumption, radiation exposure, family history and BRAF mutation status were recorded. Codon 600 (exon 15) and codon 464-469 (exon 11) mutations of the BRAF gene were examined by extracting DNA from paraffinized tissue. We defined synchronous cancers as those occurring within 6 months of the first primary cancer, while antecedent cancers were defined as those occurring more than 6 months later. Tumor types most frequently seen

together with papillary thyroid carcinoma were identified. Local ethics committee approval was obtained.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were expressed as number or percentage distributions and mininim-maximum range.

Results

A total number of 601 patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma were evaluated. Among these, 48 patients with secondary primary tumors were evaluated. The most common malignancy was breast cancer which was present in 12 patients as metachronous tumor, diagnosed within 17 years. History of radiotherapy was present in 9 of 12 patients at the breast cancer group. All patients were female (F:12/12) and the mean age was 53 years (range, 51-62 years). The average time to the diagnosis of thyroid cancer after breast cancer diagnosis was 2.9 years (min-max: 1-16 years), while it was 3.75 years (minmax: 1-16 years) after radiotherapy. Renal cell carcinoma was the most common secondary tumor when patients who received radiotherapy near the thyroid region were excluded. Besides renal cell carcinoma, malignant melanoma (4 patients), gastric cancer (3 patients), lung cancer (2 patients), parathyroid cancer (2 patients), dermatofibrosarcoma (2 patients) and lymphoma (2 patients) were also detected (Table 1).

Furthermore, colon cancer, bladder cancer, prostate cancer, basal cell carcinoma, squamous cell neck tumor, pancreas cancer, endometrium cancer, over cancer, nasopharynx cancer, malignant giant cell tumor of tendon and leukemia were all identified each in 1 patient. For all tumor types, the mean age at the

ruble is Second primary tunior with arytone pupiliary current cuses							
Type of Cancer	n	Mean	Gender	Cigarette	Hashimato	BRAF	RT
		Age	(M/F)	(n)	(+)	(+)	
Breast cancer	12	53	0/12	6	7	1	9
Renal cell cancer	10	56	8/2	6	-	5	-
Malignant melanoma	4	64	2/2	-	-	2	-
Gastric cancer	3	62	2/1	2	-	-	-
Lymphoma	2	53	2/0	1	-	-	2
Dermatofibrosarcoma	2	57	1/1	1	-	-	-
Parathyroid cancer	2	69	0/2	1	-	-	-
Lung cancer	2	60	1/1	2	-	-	-

 Table 1. Second primary tumor with thyroid papillary cancer cases

F = female, M = male, n = the number of patients, RT = radiotherapy

Type of Cancer	n	Synchronous (n)	Antecedent (n)
		-	
Breast cancer	12	0	12
Renal cell cancer	10	8	2
Malignant melanoma	4	2	2
Gastric cancer	3	0	3
Lymphoma	2	0	2
Dermatofibrosarcoma	2	0	2
Parathyroid cancer	2	2	0
Lung cancer	2	0	2

Table 2. Synchronous and antecedent malignancies in patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma

time of second tumor diagnosis was 56 years (min: 28, Thyroid papillary carcinoma was max: 76). determined as metachronous in 9 patients, detected within 1-16 years after the diagnosis of breast cancer. Papillary thyroid carcinoma was determined to be synchronous in 8 patients with renal cell carcinoma. Furthermore, papillary thyroid carcinoma was diagnosed in 1 patient 3 years after the diagnosis of renal cell carcinoma and papillary thyroid carcinoma was detected in 1 patient 2 years prior to the diagnosis of renal cell carcinoma (Table 2). Five patients with renal cell carcinoma were determined to be BRAF positive at molecular pathological investigation. One of these cases with micropapillary thyroid carcinoma aggressively progressed and metastasized to lymph nodes. Therefore, lymph node excision was applied. This patient died after recurrence and metastasis of renal cell carcinoma. Second patient with BRAF positivity had papillary thyroid carcinoma recurrence and wide-spread metastatic renal cell carcinoma. The second most common cancer with BRAF mutation was determined to be malignant melanoma by molecular pathology.

Discussion

Developments in the diagnosis and treatment of various malignancies and increased survival have increased the rate of secondary cancers in recent years. In one study, the rate of non-thyroid malignancy was 13.9% in the subjects with papillary thyroid carcinoma. Breast cancer, prostate cancer, malignant melanoma, leukemia and lymphoma were determined to be the most common secondary cancers, all of which were thought to be related to radiation exposure [3]. In our study, non-thyroidal malignancy rate was 7.9% among the subjects with papillary thyroid carcinoma. Breast cancer was determined to be the most common second primary tumor among the

subjects with papillary thyroid cancer exposed to high levels of radiation. The possible association between breast and thyroid cancer was found to be significant with respect to radiotherapy. Early stage breast cancer is typically treated by breast conserving surgery and postoperative radiation therapy. Following treatment, breast cancer survivors are 10-50% more likely to develop a second primary breast cancer than the general population. Therefore, long-term effects of therapies such as radiation therapy among cancer survivors are important. Furthermore, the most common tumor was determined to be renal cell carcinoma independent of radiation exposure. Multiple primary tumors, developing at the same time or at different time points, have been reported to occur in 0.7%-7.7% of all carcinomas [4-6]. There are various theories on the development of multiple tumors, but the exact mechanisms are not fully understood. These theories include: "field cancerization" theory of being exposed to carcinogenic substances like alcohol and cigarette, "cancer prone" theory of having multiple tumors in different anatomical regions, and "common clonal origin" theory for explaining cases with multiple tumors by current molecular studies. In addition, underlying genetic and immunological deficiency in a patient may reflect treatment related damage or exposure to carcinogens. Long-term follow-up is important for the observation of the development of new neoplasms or the recognition of developing secondary malignancy that has been skipped before [7-17].

In our study, BRAF mutation was determined to be more frequent in renal cell carcinoma which was the most common tumor regardless of radiation. For this reason, further studies are required to detect a common genetic mutation. Multiple primer tumors are usually divided into two groups as synchronous and metachronous. We defined synchronous cancers as those occurring within 6 months of the first primary cancer, while metachronous cancers were defined as those occurring more than 6 months later [18]. In our study, papillary thyroid carcinoma was determined to be metachronous in patients with breast cancer. In addition, it was determined to be both synchronous and metachronous in patients with renal cell carcinoma and malignant melanoma. Patients with a primary tumor have 1.29 times higher risk of a new cancer than healthy individuals [19]. Prevalence of multiple primary tumors reaches up to 36% at advanced ages [20]. According to the World Health Organization's age classification, multiple primary tumors are more common in the older age group (> 65years). This information suggests that aging is a risk factor for the development of cancer. Immune system failure and lack of resistance to carcinogens may explain increased incidence of tumors among elderly [21]. Median age of our study subjects was 56 years (min: 28 - max: 76), being lower than WHO data. Some environmental and individual factors, such as exposure to intensive chemical carcinogens, previous treatments, genetic factors and family history could have caused this situation [22-24]. In multiple primary cancers, the likelihood of developing other cancers in the same place with primary cancer is high, called as field effect. The field effect can be summarized as cancer development in different organs due to exposure to the same carcinogenic agents or genetic alterations. This relationship was found to be statistically significant for oral cavity cancers, pharyngeal cancer, colorectal cancer and malignant melanoma in both genders. Furthermore, field effect may be relevant for women with breast and bladder cancer [25]. In our study, malignant squamous cell neck tumors and parathyroid cancers developed as a result of field effect in the patients with papillary thyroid cancer. However, the association between papillary thyroid cancer and renal cell carcinoma, which was the most common tumor regardless of radiation, requires further studies. The importance of epidemiological and experimental studies on multiple cancers is clear. Investigation of environmental factors playing role in the etiology is important for better understanding of the mechanisms of multiple cancer development. With the information obtained through such researches, development of multiple primary cancers can be minimized by defining high-risk group of patients. Probability of developing a second primary tumor is higher in the subjects with a known malignancy than in normal patients. Therefore, it is suggested that follow-up period should be long

enough in the subjects treated for cancer. When multiple tumoral lesions are detected in a patient, the clinician should consider metastasis, recurrence and as well as a second primary tumor in the differential diagnosis.

Conclusions

As a result of this study, renal cell carcinoma was detected to be the most frequent malignancy in the patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma independent of radiation effect. In this respect, further work is needed to explain the link between these two tumors. This field needs further studies to explain common molecular mechanisms. In addition, higher frequency of BRAF mutation in those subjects may be important for unknown genetic mutations.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Haugen BR, Alexander EK, Bible KC, Doherty GM, Mandel SJ, Nikiforov YE, et al. 2015 American Thyroid Association Management Guidelines for Adult Patients with Thyroid Nodules and Differentiated Thyroid Cancer: The American Thyroid Association Guidelines Task Force on Thyroid Nodules and Differentiated Thyroid Cancer. Thyroid 2016;26:1-133.

[2] Wynder EL, Mushinski MH, Spivak JC. Tobacco and alcohol consumption in relation to the development of multiple primary cancers. Cancer 1977;40:1872-8.

[3] Murray SE, Schneider DF, Bauer PS, Sippel RS, Chen H. Synchronous and antecedent nonthyroidal malignancies in patients with papillary thyroid carcinoma. J Am Coll Surg 2013;216:1174-80.

[4] Artac M, Bozcuk H, Ozdogan M, Demiral AN, Sarper A, Samur M, et al. Different clinical features of primary and secondary tumors in patients with multiple malignancies. Tumori 2005;91:317-20.

[5] Tachimori Y. Cancer screening in patients with cancer. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2002;32:118-9.

[6] Demandante CG, Troyer DA, Miles TP. Multiple primary malignant neoplasms: case report and a comprehensive review of the literature. Am J Clin Oncol 2003;26:79-83.

[7] Crocetti E, Arniani S, Buiatti E. Synchronous and metachronous diagnosis of multiple primary cancers. Tumori 1998;84:9-13.

[8] Hemminki K, Boffetta P. Multiple primary cancers as clues to environmental and heritable causes of cancer and mechanisms of carcinogenesis. IARC Sci Publ 2004;157:289-97.

[9] Carey TE. Field cancerization: are multiple primary cancers monoclonal or polyclonal? Ann Med 1996;28:183-8.

[10] Miki Y, Swensen J, Shattuck-Eidens D, Futreal PA, Harshman K, Tavtigian S, et al. A strong candidate for the breast and ovarian cancer susceptibility gene BRCA1. Science 1994;266:66-71.

[11] Bedi GC, Westra WH, Gabrielson E, Koch W, Sidransky D. Multiple head and neck tumors: evidence for a common clonal origin. Cancer Res 1996;56:2484-7.

[12] Dong C, Hemminki K. Multiple primary cancers of the colon, breast and skin (melanoma) as models for polygenic cancers. Int J Cancer 2001;92:883-7.

[13] van Westreenen HL, Westerterp M, Jager PL, van Dullemen HM, Sloof GW, Comans EF, et al. Synchronous primary neoplasms detected on 18FFDG PET in staging of patients with esophageal cancer. J Nucl Med 2005;46:1321-5.

[14] Kagei K, Hosokawa M, Shirato H, Kusumi T, Shimizu Y, Watanabe A, et al. Efficacy of intense screening and treatment for synchronous second primary cancers in patients with esophageal cancer. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2002; 32:120-127.

[15] Palou J, Rodríguez-Rubio F, Huguet J, Segarra J, Ribal MJ, Alcaraz A, et al. Multivariate analysis of clinical parameters of synchronous primary superficial bladder cancer and upper urinary tract tumor. J Urol 2005;174:859-61.

[16] Koutsopoulos AV, Dambaki KI, Datseris G, Giannikaki E, Froudarakis M, Stathopoulos E. A novel combination of multiple primary carcinomas: urinary bladder transitional cell carcinoma, prostate adenocarcinoma and small cell lung carcinoma-report of a case and

review of the literature. World J Surg Oncol 2005;3:51.

[17] Tanaka H, Tsukuma H, Koyama H, Kinoshita Y, Kinoshita N, Oshima A. Second primary cancers following breast cancer in the Japanese female population. Jpn J Cancer Res 2001;92:1-8.

[18] Suzuki T, Takahashi H, Yao K, Inagi K, Nakayama M, Makoshi T, et al. Multiple primary malignancies in the head and neck: a clinical review of 121 patients. Acta Otolayngol Suppl 2002;547:88-92.

[19] Shikhani AH, Matonoski GM, Jones MM, Kashima HK, Johns ME. Multiple primary malignandes in head and neck cancer. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1986;112:1172-5.

[20] Healy MJ, Murphy E, Taub J, Azzari R. Multiple (five) primary malignant lesions. Am J Surg 1970;119:343-47.

[21] Balducci L, Beghe C. Cancer and age in the USA. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2001;37:137-45.

[22] Wynder EL, Mushinsky MH, Spivak JC. Tobacco and alcohol consumption in relation to the development of multiple primary cancers. Cancer 1977;40:1872-928.

[23] Li FP, Fraumeni JF. Prospective study of a family cancer syndrome. JAMA 1982;247:2692-4.

[24] Bhatia S, Robinson LL, Obertin O, Greenberg M, Bunin G, Fossati-Bellani F, et al. Breast cancer and other second neoplasms after childhood Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med 1996;334:745-51.

[25] Supramaniam R. New malignancies among cancer survivors: SEER cancer registries, 1973-2000. J Epidemiol Community Health 2008;62:375-6.



http://www.eurj.org

Original Article

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.347720

Is anemia in children with sleep disordered breathing actually a consequence of chronic disease?

Fatih Alper Akcan¹, Yusuf Dündar², Hümeyra Bayram Akcan³, Ahmet Uluat⁴, Derya Cebeci¹, Mehmet Ali Sungur⁵

¹Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Düzce University School of Medicine, Düzce, Turkey ²Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Rize State Hospital, Rize, Turkey ³Department of Internal Medicine, Atatürk State Hospital, Düzce, Turkey ⁴Department of Otolaryngology, Evliya Çelebi Training and Research Hospital, Kütahya, Turkey ⁵Department of Biostatistics, Düzce University School of Medicine, Düzce, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Objectives. We aimed to investigate iron metabolism and laboratory findings of anemia in children undergoing adenotonsillectomy for sleep disordered breathing. Methods. Consecutive children undergoing adenoidectomy/adenotonsillectomy for sleep disordered breathing between January 2013 and January 2015 were investigated. Routine preoperative blood tests including blood count and iron studies were analyzed. Subgroup analyses were performed addressing to the severity of sleep disordered breathing, age and duration of symptoms. Results were compared between subgroups and normal values. Results. The study included 171 children. The mean age was 5.44 ± 2.62 years. The mean hemoglobin level was 11.87 ± 1.125 gr/dL and 24 (14%) out of 171 patients had anemia (< 11 gr/dL). The mean ferritin levels were $23.23 \pm 17.27 \mu g/L$ and 21.27 \pm 15.44 µg/L in patients with anemia and non-anemic patients, respectively (p = 0.572). Ferritin levels decreased in only 8 (33%) out of 24 patients with anemia. The mean age, body mass index, hematocrit, mean corpuscular volume, unsaturated iron binding capacity and serum iron levels decreased in patients with anemia. The rate of anemia significantly increased in children less than or equal to 3 years of age (p = 0.020). There was no significant association between hemoglobin levels and sleep disordered breathing clinical score or duration of symptoms. *Conclusion*. The association between low iron status and sleep disordered breathing has previously published. Unfortunately, the type of anemia is still unclear. Our results supposed that the anemia of chronic disease secondary to chronic inflammatory process might play a role in pathogenesis of anemia in patients with sleep disordered breathing.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):220-226

Keywords: Sleep disordered breathing, adenotonsillectomy, anemia, iron deficiency, anemia of chronic disease

Address for correspondence:

Fatih Alper Akcan, MD., Assistant Professor, Düzce University School of Medicine, Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Düzce, Turkey E-mail: f.akcan@yahoo.com

Received: October 30, 2017; Accepted: December 4, 2017; Published Online: January 25, 2018

Introduction

Sleep disordered breathing (SDB) is one of the most common childhood disorder with the range from simple snoring to obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) [1]. Approximately 2-3% of children are affected with SDB which may lead to behavioral, cognitive and growth abnormalities [1, 2]. The most common cause of SDB in childhood is upper airway obstruction due to adenotonsillar hypertrophy. Many hypotheses were promoted to clarify pathogenesis of adenotonsillar hypertrophy such as: allergic hypothesis, disordered lymhphoproliferation and biofilm models [3, 4]. Unfortunately, there is no enough data to explain pathogenesis of adenotonsillar hypertrophy despite these hypotheses.

SDB is associated with many co-morbid diseases which is one of the current research topic. SDB might have an impact on iron metabolism. Healthy iron metabolism has a critical importance for normal cognitive and motor development in infancy [5, 6]. Furthermore, healthy iron metabolism is essential for immune system [7, 8]. Zilberman *et al.* [9] has published the first paper addressing to association of SDB and impaired iron metabolism. They showed the iron deficiency with SDB in chronic heart failure patients. The other researchers support this finding. The improvement of day-time sleeping in patients with SDB has been published after correcting iron status and anemia [10].

The literature is indicating the increased incidence iron deficiency in patients undergoing of adenotonsillectomy [3, 11, 12]. Unfortunately, these studies mostly included patients operated for recurrent infections. Everland et al. [11] reported anemia rate of 56.3% in patients undergoing adenotonsillectomy because of recurrent infection and upper airway obstruction. Kerstein et al. [13] evaluated the iron status of children diagnosed with SDB undergoing adenotonsillectomy. They reported low iron status in particular children under 6 years of age. This study concluded the low impaired iron status as an iron deficiency anemia. However, this impaired iron metabolism might be associated with chronic inflammatory process accompanied to SDB. The literature is supporting the increased pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, THF-a, C reactive protein) and decreases IL-10 which is an anti-inflammatory cytokine [14-17]. Iron deficiency anemia is associated with low hemoglobin (Hb), hematocrit (Hct), mean corpuscular volume (MCV), serum iron level and

serum ferritin levels. But, anemia of chronic disease is associated with low serum iron, iron binding capacity and normal or high ferritin levels [18]. Ferritin is a positive acute phase reactant that explains the normal or high ferritin levels in anemia of chronic disease. Everland *et al.* [11] reported normal ferritin levels in 57% of children with anemia that is not surprising.

We analyzed the iron metabolism and effects of SDB in patients undergoing adenotonsillectomy for upper airway obstruction.

Methods

A retrospective clinical trial was conducted in an academic tertiary referral center between January 2013 and January 2015 after obtaining local Medical Ethics Committee approval. A total of 186 adenoidectomy, tonsillectomy and adenotonsillectomy case files were reviewed retrospectively and subjects were included in the study if they operated for SDB. Patients were excluded from the study if they met any of following: 1) nasal septal deviation, 2) history of recurrent tonsillitis, 3) history of anemia treatment in the past 3 months, 4) the other causes of anemia; recurrent epistaxis, bleeding disorders, surgical operations in the past 3 months, 5) history of chronic diseases.

We use a standard questionnaire for SDB preoperatively that include; mouth breathing during sleep, daytime mouth breathing, apnea, snoring, cough, rhinorrhea and restless sleep. Scoring is used for each of above; 0: never, 1: occasionally, 2: frequently and 3: always [19, 20]. Patients were categorized into 3 subgroups according to these questionnaire score; mild: 1-7, moderate: 8-14 and severe: 15-21. Age groups were conducted as \leq 3 years, >3 years - \leq 6 years and > 6 years of age. Duration of primary symptoms were categorized as \leq 12 months, > 12 months - \leq 24 months and > 24 months.

All patients were analyzed for Hb, Hct, MCV, ferritin, unsaturated iron binding capacity, serum iron, aPTT and INR. Results were compared to the World Health Organizations (WHO) normal range.

Statistical Analysis

Continuous data were summarized as mean \pm standard deviation and categorical data were presented as frequency and percent. Distribution of continuous variables were controlled with Shapiro-Wilks test.

Comparisons for continuous variables were done using independent samples t test for two groups and one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey HSD post hoc test for three and more groups. Categorical data were analyzed by Pearson chi-square or Fisher's exact tests. Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS v.23 statistical package and statistical significance level was considered as $\alpha = 0.05$.

Results

One hundred and eighty patients undergoing adenoidectomy, tonsillectomy, adenotonsillectomy for SDB were analyzed. The study included 171 patients with sufficient laboratory data. The mean age was 5.44 \pm 2.62 years. Tonsilla platina size was assessed by using the Brodsky grading scale [21]. The adenoid tissue volume was graded from 1 to 4 with flexible endoscopy findings depending on choanal opening [22].

The mean Hb level was 11.87 ± 1.125 gr/dL and

24 (14%) out of 171 patients had anemia (Hb < 11 gr/dL). The mean ferritin level was 22.28 ± 17.16 µg/L. Forty-seven (27%) patients had low ferritin levels (< 16 μ g/L). The mean age (p < 0.001), BMI (p= 0.021), Hct (p < 0.001), MCV (p = 0.013) and serum iron (p = 0.038) levels was lower in patients with anemia. Unsaturated iron binding capacity level was lower in anemia patients but the difference was not statistically significant. Table 1 summarizes the laboratory findings in patients with anemia and normal Hb levels. Ferritin levels were decreased in only 8 (33%) patients with anemia. Furthermore, the mean ferritin levels were 23.23 \pm 17.27 µg/L and 21.27 \pm 15.44 μ g/L in patients with anemia and non-anemic patients respectively. The increased ferritin levels in patients with anemia documented but the difference was not statistical significant (Table 1).

Table 2 summarizes the demographics according to SDB severity. There were 7 (3%) patients in mild SDB, 91 (49%) patients in moderate SDB and 88 (48%) patients in severe SDB groups. The mean ages were 5.86 ± 1.49 years, 5.91 ± 2.77 years and $4.93 \pm$

	Hb < 11 g/dL	$Hb \ge 11 g/dL$	
	(n = 24)	(n = 147)	P
BMI	15.96 ± 1.74	17.04 ± 2.77	0.021
Mean age (year)	4.00 ± 1.84	5.69 ± 2.68	< 0.001
Ferritin µg/L	23.23 ± 17.27	21.27 ± 15.44	0.572
Hct (%)	33.12 ± 4.46	38.45 ± 2.17	< 0.001
MCV (fL)	74.25 ± 10.33	79.94 ± 3.75	0.013
UIBC (µmol/L)	236.27 ± 90.04	259.82 ± 64.79	0.145
SI (µmol/L)	53.59 ± 29.13	67.39 ± 28.20	0.038
		1 1 1 67 1	1 1 97

 Table 1. Comparison of anemic and non-anemic patients

BMI = body mass index, Hb = hemoglobin, Hct = hematocrit, MCV = mean corpuscular volume, SI = serum iron, UIBC = unsaturated iron binding capacity

Table 2.	Demogra	phics ac	cording	to severity	of SDB
	2				01 02 2

	Mild (0-7) (n = 7)	Moderate (8-14) (n = 91)	Severe (15-21) (n = 88)	р	General
Mean age (year)	5.86 ± 1.49	5.91 ± 2.77	4.93 ± 2.44	0.038	5.44 ± 2.62
\leq 3 years	0 (0.0%)	19 (20.9%)	30 (34.1%)		49 (26.3%)
>3 - ≤6 years	6 (85.7%)	34 (37.4%)	37 (42.0%)	0.013	77 (41.4%)
>6 years	1 (14.3%)	38 (41.8%)	21 (23.9%)		60 (32.3%)
Female	5 (71.4%)	44 (48.4%)	44 (50.0%)	0.570	93 (50.0%)
Male	2 (28.6%)	47 (51.6%)	44 (50.0%)	0.570	93 (50.0%)
Duration of symptoms	14.29 ± 9.98	25.15 ± 17.97	23.76 ± 14.90	0.233	24.09 ± 16.40
SDB - sleep disordered	broathing				

SDB = sleep disordered breathing

	Mild (0-7) (n = 7)	Moderate (8-14) (n = 84)	Severe (15-21) (n = 80)	р
Hb < 11 g/dL	0 (0.0%)	13 (15.7%)	11 (13.6%)	0.524
Ferritin < 16 µg/L	1 (16.7%)	23 (27.3%)	23 (28.75%)	0.713
Hct (%)	37.04 ± 1.85	37.86 ± 3.86	37.59 ± 2.46	0.736
MCV (fL)	82.16 ± 2.41	78.96 ± 6.42	79.07 ± 4.62	0.337
UIBC (µmol/L)	216.00 ± 65.61	250.75 ± 62.76	263.64 ± 75.98	0.239
SI (µmol/L)	82.60 ± 50.30	71.31 ± 27.88	57.78 ± 24.92	0.007

 Table 3. Laboratory findings in comparison with severity of SDB

Hb = hemoglobin, Hct = hematocrit, MCV = mean corpuscular volume, SDB = sleep disordered breathing, SI = serum iron, UIBC = unsaturated iron binding capacity

Table 4. Laboratory findings in comparison with age groups

	\leq 3 years (n = 41)	$> 3 - \leq 6$ years (n = 76)	> 6 years (n = 54)	р
Hb < 11 g/dL	11 (26.8%)	9 (11.8%)	4 (7.4%)	0.020
Ferritin < 16 μg/L	14 (34.1%)	27 (35.1%)	6 (10.9%)	0.005
Hct (%)	35.88 ± 4.29	37.74 ± 2.60	39.02 ± 2.24	< 0.001
MCV (fL)	76.72 ± 8.15	79.36 ± 3.46	80.68 ± 4.86	0.002
UIBC (µmol/L)	260.28 ± 70.32	258.22 ± 70.77	247.40 ± 67.02	0.630
SI (µmol/L)	58.23 ± 23.31	67.49 ± 30.75	69.77 ± 28.24	0.139
TT 1 1 1 1 TT				

Hb = hemoglobin, Hct = hematocrit, MCV = mean corpuscular volume, SI = serum iron, UIBC = unsaturated iron binding capacity

2.44 years in the mild, moderate and severe SDB groups, respectively (p = 0.038). The mean age in the severe group was significantly lower than in the mild and moderate group. All patients with anemia were in moderate and severe SDB groups but Hb, Hct, MCV, ferritin, and unsaturated iron binding capacity were not significantly different in these subgroups (Table 3). Serum iron was significantly difference among SDB groups (p = 0.007). When we categorize the patients depending on apnea score, as low apnea score (0 or 1) and high apnea score (2 or 3), there were 96 patients with low apnea score and 75 patients with high apnea score. The anemia rates (Hb < 11 g/dL) between the low and high apnea score groups were not different, 11.5% and 17.3%, respectively (p = 0.272). However, lower ferritin rate (Ferritin $< 16 \mu g/L$) was 20.0% in low apnea score group and 37.0% in high apnea score group, and the difference was statistically significant (p = 0.013). The other questionnaires were not significantly associated with anemia when analyzed each of them.

Table 4 summarizes the subgroups according to age. Hb, Hct, MCV and ferritin levels were significantly decreased in small age group (\leq 3 years

of age). The anemia rates (Hb < 11 g/dL) between the \leq 3years of age and > 6 years of age groups were different, while the > 3 - \leq 6 years of age group was similar to them. The lower ferritin rates (Ferritin < 16 µg/L) in the \leq 3 years of age and > 3 - \leq 6 years of age group. The mean of Hct rates were different in all groups while MCV level in small age group was significantly lower than in the other age groups. There was no significant association for Hb, MCV, serum iron, unsaturated iron binding capacity level and ferritin levels according to duration of symptoms (Table 5). Hct levels were significantly increased in patients with extended duration of symptoms (*p* = 0.042).

Discussion

SDB is a common health problem in children with the estimated incidence of 2-3%. SDB may lead to numerous morbidities such as neurocognitive disorders, craniofacial growth abnormalities, enuresis and cardiovascular problems if not treated [1]. The

Table 5. Laboratory findings in comparison with duration of symptoms

	< 12 months (n = 72)	12-24 months (n = 49)	> 24 months (n = 50)	р
Hb < 11 g/dL	10 (13.9%)	9 (18.4%)	5 (10.0%)	0.487
Ferritin < 16 μg/L	17 (23.0%)	18 (37.5%)	12 (23.5%)	0.229
Hct (%)	37.13 ± 3.47	37.62 ± 3.07	38.60 ± 2.73	0.042
MCV (fL)	79.12 ± 6.06	78.30 ± 6.22	80.02 ± 3.64	0.302
UIBC (µmol/L)	260.03 ± 62.02	249.89 ± 77.43	252.51 ± 73.01	0.739
SI (µmol/L)	61.26 ± 27.43	69.13 ± 34.40	69.83 ± 22.26	0.217

Hb = hemoglobin, Hct = hematocrit, MCV = mean corpuscular volume, SI = serum iron, UIBC = unsaturated iron binding capacity

impaired iron metabolism is the other effect of SDB. The published literature documented the increased incidence of anemia in patients underwent adenotonsillectomy [3, 12, 13] and improved anemia after operations without any iron supplementation [11]. Unfortunately, there is no enough data to explain pathogenesis of impaired iron metabolism in these patients. There are two potential causes of impaired iron metabolism in SDB; nutritional iron deficiency and anemia of chronic disease secondary to chronic inflammation. Iron deficiency is the commonest nutritional deficiency worldwide according to WHO and affects a significant part of the population [23]. WHO estimates iron deficiency in 2.5% of pediatric population and describes an abnormality if the rate more than 5% [24]. The evaluation iron deficiency starts with measurement of Hb and Hct levels that are non-specific markers. Ferritin, serum iron, total iron binding capacity or unsaturated iron binding capacity are widely used for differential diagnosis and confirmation of iron deficiency. The decreased Hb (< 11 g/dL) and ferritin (< 16 μ g/L) levels are important for diagnosis of iron deficiency anemia. Anemia of chronic disease is an iron metabolism disorder that might be associated with neoplastic diseases, chronic immunologic diseases, chronic inflammation and trauma [18]. The main mechanism of anemia of chronic disease is depending on increased levels of IL-1, IL-6, TNF- α and CRP. These cytokines affect the erythropoietin synthesis from kidney that results with decreased erythropoiesis and decreased iron absorption from gastrointestinal system [25]. The increased releasing of Hepsidin in chronic inflammatory process plays an important role of decreased iron absorption from intestine. Patients have normochromic normocytic anemia in early stages that progress to hypochromic microcytic anemia. Ferritin

levels might be normal or increased in these patients, which is an acute phase reactant. Unsaturated iron binding capacity or total iron binding capacity levels were decreased with serum iron. These findings are crucial to differentiate anemia of chronic disease and iron deficiency anemia.

The increased levels of TNF- α , IL-6 and CRP have been reported in patients with OSA [14-16]. The decreased IL-10 levels in non-obese children with OSA was documented that corrected after adenotonsillectomy [17]. IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine which is negative correlated with OSA severity [26].

We documented anemia (Hb < 11 g/dL) rate in 14% of those patients underwent adenotonsillectomy This rate is much more than WHO for SDB. expectations (2.5%) which is abnormal. Hct, MCV, serum iron and unsaturated iron binding capacity were significantly decreased in patients with anemia. However, only 8 (33%) patients had low ferritin levels in patients with anemia. Additional, 16 (67%) of those patients with anemia had normal ferritin levels. The mean ferritin levels were 23.23 ± 17.27 and $21.27 \pm$ 15.44 μ g/L in patients with anemia and non-anemic patients, respectively (Table 1). These findings are supporting the role of inflammatory process in anemia. Louise et al. [27] analyzed the association of ferritin with OSA in adults. They did not find an association between apnea-hypopnea index and ferritin levels but they documented the negative correlation between apnea-hypopnea index and ferritin levels in only women patients. The same study is indicating the association of lower minimum oxygen saturation and increased sleep stage shifts (that are correlated with severity of OSA) with increased ferritin levels. There are many publications supporting the chronic inflammatory process and increased ferritin levels in

patients with OSA [28-31]. In our study, all patients with anemia had moderate or severe SDB clinical score (Table 3) but the difference was not significant. Everland et al. [11] reported the 57% normal ferritin levels of those patients underwent adenotonsillectomy because of recurrent infection and upper airway obstruction. They indicated the role of chronic inflammatory process in these increased ferritin levels. Unfortunately, they did not do subgroup analysis addressing to the indication of adenotonsillectomy. We include only patients underwent adenotonsillectomy for SDB in the current study. On the other hand, Elverland et al. [11] reported the corrected Hb levels and iron metabolism at postoperative 6th month. This result is an important characteristic of anemia of chronic disease. Iron metabolism immediately becomes normal levels when you correct the underlying disease [25]. Chronic inflammation is the main cause of anemia in these patients that corrected after adenotonsillectomy.

Kerstein et al. [13] reviewed 94 children undergoing adenotonsillectomy. They categorized the study population according to age; Group A: 0-2 years, Group B: 2-6 years, Group C: above 6 years. They reported 18 % anemia rate (17 patients) in this study population. Of those 17 patients, anemia rate was significantly increased in Group A. We report the increased anemia rate in children under 3 years of age that correlated with Kerstein et al. [13]. Although iron requirement decreases progressively after the sixth month of life until 3 years [25], the high rate of anemia in this age group SDB patients suggests that small patients may be more affected by inflammation. Bitar et al. [20] reported the increased SDB score in patients under 3 year-olds that indicates children under 3 yearolds were much affected than older children [20]. Children under 3 years of age might be influenced from SDB much more than older children according to our results. SDB clinical score, in the current study, was increased in children under 3 years of age that supports SDB severity in this cohort. Thirty out of 49 children less than 3 years of age had severe SDB clinical score (Table 2). Kerstein et al. [13] analyzed the results depending on the mean values of each of subgroups. They reported hypochromic (MCH < 27pg) and microcytic (MCV < 76 fL) mean values in children under 2 year-olds. The other subgroups had low-normal mean values. Unfortunately, they did not compare the mean values of 17 patients with anemia and non-anemic patients. It is not possible to clarify type of anemia without evaluation of anemic patients.

We found significantly decreased Hct, MCV, serum iron and unsaturated iron binding capacity levels in patients with anemia in comparison with non-anemic patients. Additional, only 8 (33%) out of 24 patients had low ferritin levels (Table 1). These findings support an impaired iron metabolism secondary to inflammation.

The Limitations of the Study

This is a retrospective observational study which is the main limitation of paper. We did not have a control group. Additional, we were not able to analyze inflammatory markers owing to the retrospective setting. It would be better if we had inflammatory markers and cytokine levels. Polysomnography test is a gold standard test to evaluate SDB that supports objective results. Unfortunately, we do not use polysomnography as a routine test for evaluation of SDB; we use a questionnaire. We could have used subset analysis if we had polysomnography test results.

Conclusions

SDB is an important health problem in children that may result in many behaviors or growth problem. Unfortunately, there is no enough data about iron metabolism in pediatric SDB patients. Anemia in SDB might be result of iron deficiency or chronic inflammatory process.

Conflict of interest

The authors disclosed no conflict of interest during the preparation or publication of this manuscript.

Financing

The authors disclosed that they did not receive any grant during conduction or writing of this study.

References

[1] Lumeng JC, Chervin RD. Epidemiology of pediatric obstructive sleep apnea. Proc Am ThoracSoc 2008;15:242-52.

[2] Schlaud M, Urschitz MS, Urschitz-Duprat PM, Poets CF. The German study on sleep-disordered breathing in primary school children: epidemiological approach, representativeness of study sample, and preliminary screening results. Pediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2004;18:431-40.

[3] Mira E, Benazzo M, Asti L, Marchi A, Spirano P, Losi R. Iron status in children undergoing tonsillectomy and its short-term modification following surgery. Acta Otolaryngol 1988;454:261-4.

[4] Lozoff B, Georgieff MK. Iron deficiency and brain development.

Semin Pediatr Neurol 2006;13:158-65.

[5] Halterman JS, Kaczorowski JM, Aligne CA, Auinger P, Sziagyi PG. Iron deficiency and cognitive achievement among school-aged children and adolescents in the United States. Pediatrics 2001;107:1381-6.

[6] Angulo-Kinzler RM, Peirano P, Lin E, Garrido M, Lozoff B. Spontaneous motor activity in human infants with iron-deficiency anemia. Early Hum Dev 2002;66:67-79.

[7] Wintergerst ES, Maggini S, Hornig DH. Contribution of selected vitamins and trace elements to immune function. Ann Nutr Metab 2007;51:301-23.

[8] Oppenheimer SJ. Iron and its relation to immunity and infectious disease. J Nutr 2001;131:616-33.

[9] Zilberman M, Silverberg DS, Bits I, Steinbruch S, Wexler D, Sheps D et al. Improvement of anemia with erythropoietin and intravenous iron reduces sleep-related breathing disorders and improves daytime sleepiness in anemic patients with congestive heart failure. Am Heart J 2007;154:870-6.

[10] Benz RL, Pressman MR, Hovick ET, Peterson DD. A preliminary study of the effects of correction of anemia with recombinant human erythropoietin therapy on sleep, sleep disorders, and daytime sleepiness in hemodialysis patients (The SLEEPO study). Am J Kidney Dis 1999;34:1089-95.

[11] Elverland HH, Aasand G, Miljeteig H, Ulvik RJ. Effects of tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy on hemoglobin and iron metabolism. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngology 2004;68:419-23.

[12] Busuttil A, Kerr AI, Logan RW. Iron deficiency in children undergoing adenoid-tonsillectomy. J Laryngol Otol 1979;93:49-58.

[13] Kerstein R, Stimpson P, Caulfield H, Ellis G. Iron deficiency and sleep disordered breathing in children--cause or effect? Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2009;73:275-80.

[14] Guilleminault C, Kirisoglu C, Ohayon MM. C-reactive protein and sleep-disordered breathing. Sleep 2004;27:1507-11.

[15] Barcelo A, Barbe F, Llompart E, Mayoralas LR, Ladaria A, Bosch M, et al. Effects of obesity on C-reactive protein level and metabolic disturbances in male patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Am J Med 2004;117:118-21.

[16] Ciftei TU, Kokturk O, Bukan N, Bilgihan A. The relationship be¬tween serum cytokine levels with obesity and obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Cytokine 2004;28:87-91.

[17] Gozal D, Serpero LD, Sans Capdevila O, Kheirandish-Gozal L.

Systemic inflammation in non-obese children with obstructive sleep apnea. Sleep Med 2008;62:489-94.

[18] Weiss G, Goodnough LT. Anemia of chronic disease. N Engl J Med 2005;352:1011-23.

[19] Sharifkashani S, Dabirmoghaddam P, Kheirkhah M, Hosseinzadehnik R. A new clinical scoring system for adenoid hypertrophy in children. Iran J Otorhinolaryngol 2015;27:55-61.

[20] Bitar MA, Rahi A, Khalifeh M, Madana LMS. A suggested clinical score to predict the severity of adenoid obstruction in children. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2006;263:924-8.

[21] Brodsky L. Modern assessment of tonsils and adenoids. Pediatr Clin North Am 1989;36:1551-69.

[22] Parikh SR, Coronel M, Lee JJ, Brown SM. Validation of a new grading system for endoscopic examination of adenoid hypertrophy. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2006;135:684-7.

[23] Moy RJ. Prevalence, consequences and prevention of childhood nutritional iron deficiency: a child public health perspective. Clin Lab Haematol 2006;28:291-8.

[24] Iron deficiency anemia: assessment, prevention and control, A guide for program managers. (WHO web site) 2001. Available at: http://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/micronutrients/anaemia_iron_ deficiency/WHO NHD 01.3/en/ Accessed January 13, 2017.

[25] GrandoneA, Marzuillo P, Perrone L, Giudice EM. Iron metabolism dysregulation and cognitive dysfunction in pediatric obesty: Is there a connection? Nutrients 2015;7:9163-70.

[26] Dyugovskaya L, Lavie P, Lavie L. Lymphocyte activation as a possible measure of atherosclerotic risk in patients with sleep apnea. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2005;1051:340-50.

[27] O'Brien LM, Koo J, Fan L, Owusu JT, Chotinaiwattarakul W, Felt BT, Chervin RD. Iron stores, periodic leg movements, and sleepiness in obstructive sleep apnea. J Clin Sleep Med 2009;5:525-31.

[28] Arnardottir ES, Mackiewicz M, Gislason T, Teff KL, Pack AI. Molecular signatures of obstructive sleep apnea in adults: a review and perspective. Sleep 2009;32:447-50.

[29] Kalantar-Zadeh K, Rodriguez RA, Humphreys MH. Association between serum ferritin and measures of inflammation, nutrition and iron in haemodialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2004;19:141-9.

[30] Rambod M, Kovesdy CP, Kalantar-Zadeh K. Combined high serum ferritin and low iron saturation in hemodialysis patients: the role of inflammation. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2008;3:1691-701.



http://www.eurj.org

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.360671

Primary cardiac B cell lymphoma

Alper Karakuş, Hasan Arı, Selma Arı, Sencer Çamcı, Ahmet Tütüncü

Department of Cardiology, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Primary tumors of the heart are very uncommon and approximately 25% of them are malign. Primary cardiac lymphomas account for approximately 4% of the primary cardiac tumors. Both B- and T-cell lymphomas have been reported. We report the case of a 75-year-old male who was referred to our hospital complaining of fatigue, dyspnea and swelling in the abdomen. Transthoracic echocardiography revealed a mobile 5.0×4.3 cm mass in the right atrial cavity impinging tricuspid valve. Surgery was performed and the mass was resected. The pathological and histological examination of the removed mass showed diffuse large B-cell lymphoma.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):227-230

Keywords: Cardiac tumor, malignancy, right atrium, lymphoma

Introduction

Primary cardiac lymphomas (PCLs) (which, by definition, arise from the heart and/or the pericardium without evidence of extracardiac involvement) are extremely rare and account for about 1% of the primary cardiac tumors and 0.5% of the extranodal lymphomas [1, 2]. Therewithal, disseminated lymphoma with cardiac involvement can occur in up to 20% of patients with lymphoma [2]. Recently, the incidence of PCLs has been increasing since they have been diagnosed manifestation as а of immunodeficiency states and with the help of multiple diagnostic modalities have been developed. Clinical and anatomic features of PCL remain uncertain. There is no standardized therapy for PCL. Tumor resection and standard chemotherapy combination regimens are widely used as therapeutic modality. In this article, we report a 75-year-old man with large cardiac mass who

was diagnosed primary cardiac extranodal diffuse large B cell lymphoma.

Case Presentation

A 75-year-old immunocompetent man with coronary artery disease medical history presented a 1month history of dyspnea on exertion, shortness of breath and swelling in the abdomen. An electrocardiogram revealed sinus rhythm without any feature of myocardial ischemia. Transthoracic echocardiography disclosed a large intracardiac mass $(5.0 \times 4.3 \text{ cm})$, which extended from the right atrium, impinging tricuspid valve, a moderate pericardial effusion, and a preserved ejection fraction (Figure 1A). After then, the patient underwent transesophageal

Address for correspondence:

Hasan Arı, MD., Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Bursa, Turkey. E-mail: hasanari03@yahoo.com Tel: +90 224 3605050 Fax:+90 224 3605055 Received: December 3, 2017; Accepted: December 25, 2017; Published Online: January 25, 2018



Figure 1. Modified apical four chamber (A) and short axis (B) echocardiographic view showing right atrial mass; transverse (C) and sagittal plane (D) of tomographic view showing cardiac mass. IVC = inferior vena cava, LA = left atrium, LV = left ventricle, RA = right atrium, RV = right ventricle, RVOT = right ventricular outflow tract, SVC = superior vena cava

echocardiography which confirmed the mass, arising from the right atrium, associated invasion of the right ventricle and the interatrial septum, showed causing mild tricuspid valve obstruction and a moderate pericardial effusion (Figure 1B). A contrast cardiac computed tomography (CT) showed a large infiltrating mass (11×7×4.5 cm sized), localized in the right atrium, arising from posteroinferior wall of the right atrium and diffuse infiltration of almost the full of the right atrium, contiguous to the right ventricle, extending to the pericardium from lateral wall of the right atrium, giving early and delayed heterogeneous contrast enhancement and involving the proximal segment of right coronary artery (Figure 1C and 1D). Presence of extracardiac involvement was excluded with the global assessment of the chest and abdomen with CT and scintigraphy. This case was discussed in the multidisciplinary meeting and decided for resection of the mass, because of mechanical

complication as tricuspid valve stenosis. A median sternotomy was performed, the mass was excised with the use of cardiopulmonary bypass with moderate systemic hypothermia, deep topical hypothermia, and cardioplegic cardiac arrest. A right atriotomy was employed for resection of mass. Right heart mass was partially resected. Right atrial mass was resected however the right ventricular mass resected partially because the mass has completely invaded the right ventricular free wall. The tricuspid valve was normal function and had not mass invasion, so that tricuspid valve was protected. The pathologic examination of removed cardiac mass had reported as below after immunohistochemistry study: intense cytoplasmic staining with LCA(+), CD79a(+) and Bcl-2(+), intense membranous staining with CD20 (+), nuclear staining in 40-60 % with Bcl-6(+) and focal staining with Vimentin(+) and CD5(+) (Figure 2). Staining with CK19, CD31, CD10, Cyclin D1(Bcl-1), EMA, CD21



Figure 2. In the immunohistochemical study, proliferating cells were stained diffuse cytoplasmic with LCA, CD79a and Bcl-2, stained diffuse membranous with CD20, stained nuclear with Bcl-6 and stained focal with CD5.

and CD30 were not demonstrated. In the light of immunohistochemistry evaluation, the final pathologic report confirmed the diagnosis of diffuse large B cell lymphoma. We planned consulting with hematology service for chemotherapy. Unfortunately, the patient died at postoperative 7th day due to post-surgical cardiac complications.

Discussion

PCLs are extremely rare and primary lesion arises from the heart or the pericardium. Therewithal, myocardial or pericardial invasion of systemic lymphomas could be seen in up to 20% along the course of the disease [3]. The most common sub-type of PCL was diffuse large B-cell lymphomas and PCL mostly right-side involvement are [4]. The fundamental characteristics of PCL included clinical, imaging and pathologic features, diagnosis and treatment strategies remain being challenging. PCL patients present different and non-specific symptoms such as dyspnea, edema, arrhythmia, cardiac tamponade, palpitations and heart failure [5]. In our case most relevant symptom was dyspnea. Most of available literature about PCL consist of case reports [6]. Carras et al. [3] reported on the largest monocentric series of patients with PCL analyzed

from initial symptoms to pathological diagnosis and treatment with chemotherapy. They examined a total of 13 patients. No patient was immunocompromised. Lymphoma aroused from the right atrium at 10 patients (77%). They made pathological diagnosis (diffuse large B-cell lymphoma in 12 cases and Burkitt in 1 case) on cardiac surgical biopsies and by intravascular procedure. All patients received first-line chemotherapy and complete response rate was 62%. Recurrences occurred in 55% of patients, mostly at extracardiac extranodal sites. During 1975-2017, only 249 cases of PCL were reported in the literature. Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma is the most common sub-type of PCL; the remaining sub-types include Burkitt's lymphoma, T-cell lymphoma, small lymphocytic lymphoma and plasmablastic lymphoma [4]. Unfortunately, at present, no definite guidelines for the management of PCL. Complete surgical resection of PCL provides no survival benefit. Early systemic chemotherapy appears to be the only effective therapy. The major regimen is the same as that for other types of non-Hodgkin lymphoma, namely cyclophosphamide/ hydroxydaunorubicin/ oncovin/ prednisone (CHOP) and since 2001, CHOP + rituximab. General response rate of patients with PCL to chemotherapy is 79% and the complete remission rate is 59%. The median overall survival of patients with PCL is associated with poor prognosis [4].

Transesophageal echocardiography is the firstly choice diagnosis tool for PCL. Transthoracic and transesophageal echocardiography have a sensitivity of 55-60% and 97-100%, respectively for primary cardiac tumors. Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging is superior to CT which are enhanced techniques visualize morphology and tumor localization [6]. Usually location of PCL is atrial and infiltrating to atrial or ventricular walls. The earliest sign of PCL can be sometimes pericardial thickening and effusion which is also commonly seen in other diseases [7].

Definite diagnosis of PCL is biopsy of cardiac mass. Biopsy can be taken by intracardiac or surgically. Patients with pericardial effusion, cytological analysis of pericardial fluid also make the diagnosis. Treatment is usually chemotherapy with combining surgery if necessary. Surgery alone has no effect outcome [8]. Surgery can enable time for chemotherapy and resolve hemodynamics problems due to obstructions [9].

Conclusions

Although PCL is associated with poor prognosis and life-threatening complications, we believe that, timely and appropriate treatment can be beneficial, and more effective treatment options will update with clinical therapeutic regimens.

Informed consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient's family for the publication of this case report.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that there are no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

References

[1] Farris GR, Andrikopoulou E, De La Cuesta AV, Seghatol-Eslami F, Scarabelli TM. Cardiac lymphoma presenting as subacute progressive dyspnea: a case report and review of the literature on the pathophysiology and imaging of intracardiac tumors. CASE 2017;1:6-10.

[2] Gowda RM, Khan IA. Clinical perspectives of primary cardiac lymphoma. Angiology 2003;54:599-604.

[3] Carras S, Berger F, Chalabreysse L, Callet-Bauchut E, Cordier JF, Salles G, et al. Primary cardiac lymphoma: diagnosis, treatment and outcome in a modern series. Hematol Oncol 2017;35:510-9.

[4] Petrich A, Cho SI, Billett H. Primary cardiac lymphoma: an analysis of presentation, treatment, and outcome patterns. Cancer 2011;117:581-9.

[5] Ikeda H, Nakamura S, Nishimaki H, Masuda K, Takeo T, Kasai K, et al. Primary lymphoma of the heart: case report and literature review. Pathol Int 2004;54:187-95.

[6] Faganello G, Belham M, Thaman R, Blundell J, Eller T, Wilde P. A case of primary cardiac lymphoma: analysis of the role of echocardiography in early diagnosis. Echocardiography 2007;24:889-92.

[7] Jeudy J, Kirsch J, Tavora F, Burke AP, Franks TJ, Mohammed TL, et al. From the radiologic pathology archives: cardiac lymphoma: radiologic-pathologic correlation. Radiographics 2012;32:1369-80.

[8] Chin JY, Chung MH, Kim JJ, Lee JH, Kim JH, Maeng IH, et al. Extensive primary cardiac lymphoma diagnosed by percutaneous endomyocardial biopsy. J Cardiovasc Ultrasound 2009;17:141-4.

[9] Jonavicius K, Salcius K, Meskauskas R, Valeviciene N, Tarutis V, Sirvydis V. Primary cardiac lymphoma: two cases and a review of literature. J Cardiothorac Surg 2015;10:138.



http://www.eurj.org

Case Report

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.370328

Neutropenic enterocolitis and colonic perforation in a patient with breast carcinoma treated with taxane-based chemotherapy: a case report and review of the literature

Aslıhan Demirel¹, Selçuk Kihtir², Gürkan Geceer³, Safiye Koçulu¹, Esin Çevik¹

¹Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, İstanbul Bilim University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey ²Department of General Surgery, İstanbul Kadıköy Florence Nightingale Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey ³Department of Radiology, İstanbul Kadıköy Florence Nightingale Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

;ABSTRACT

Neutropenic enterocolitis or typhlitis is one of the rare but high mortality acute complications of neutropenia that develops in immunosuppressed patients due to chemotherapy. It is a segmental cecal and ascending colon inflammation that can progress to necrosis and perforation. Although it is mostly observed in myelosuppressed and immunosuppressed patients, like those who have leukemia and lymphoma, it can also be observed in malignancies treated with myelosuppressive chemotherapy. It has been reported particularly in patients with solid tumors treated with taxane-based chemotherapy. In this article, a 40-year-old patient with invasive ductal breast carcinoma is presented, who was diagnosed with neutropenic enterocolitis and colonic perforation that developed 6 days after chemotherapy (Docetaxel 75 mg/m² and cyclophosphamide 600 mg/m²). If neutropenic fever, abdominal pain, abdominal distension, and tenderness develops in a patient under taxane-based chemotherapy, neutropenic enterocolitis is a condition that must definitely be considered. It should be noted that it is possible to reduce mortality and morbidity by means of appropriate antibiotics and a timely surgical intervention.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):231-234

Keywords: neutropenic enterocolitis, typhlitis, taxane-based chemotherapy

Introduction

Neutropenic enterocolitis (NE) or typhilitis is a serious complication of neutropenia characterized by segmental ulceration or inflammation with necrosis of ileum, caecum and ascending colon. It may be complicated with perforation and septicemia. It also appears as a complication of neutropenia that develops mostly in leukemia and lymphoma patients [1]. NE has also been identified in patients with solid tumors treated with new chemotherapeutic drugs and intensive immunosuppressive therapy [2]. It has been reported particularly in patients with solid tumors treated with taxane-based chemotherapy [3-8]. The clinical features consist of fever, watery diarrhea, and crampy abdominal pains, which are typical and not

Address for correspondence:

Aslıhan Demirel, MD., Assistant Professor, İstanbul Kadıköy Florence Nightingale Hospital, Department of Infectious Diseases, 34724 Kadıköy, İstanbul, Turkey. E-mail: demirelaslihan@yahoo.com Phone and Fax: +90-216-4500303-3919 Received: December 23, 2017; Accepted: December 30, 2017; Published Online: January 5, 2018

specific to the disease. Reported mortality rate is 21% to 48%. When complications such as bleeding and perforation develop, surgical intervention should be applied without delay [1]. In this article, a case of breast cancer in which neutropenic enterocolitis and colonic perforation developed after docetaxel treatment, is presented.

Case Presentation

A 40-year-old female had undergone mastectomy two years ago, due to the diagnosis of ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS), and then lesion developed under the flap. Pathological examination revealed invasive ductal carcinoma, and estrogen receptor was found to be 100% positive, while progesterone receptor and c-erb B2 were negative. The patient was admitted with abdominal pain to the hospital and was hospitalized. Six days before her admission, the patient had received a treatment involving docetaxel 75 mg/m² and cyclophosphamide 600 mg/m². In her physical examination fever was determined to be 37°C (tympanic), her pulse was 120/minute, her blood pressure was 120/60 mmHg, and her respiratory rate was 19/minute. There was a minimal epigastric tenderness with deep palpation during the abdominal examination, peritoneal irritation was not detected. The laboratory studies revealed; leukocyte: 820/mm³ (absolute neutrophil count: 150/mm³), hemoglobin: 13.1 g/L, and platelet: 271.000/mm³. The routine biochemical values were normal. No features that could explain the acute abdominal condition was found in any abdominal ultrasonography. Filgrastim 48MU was administered to the patient due to neutropenia. On the 9th day of her follow-up period, her fever was found to be 39ºC. Physical examination revealed abdominal guarding and rebound tenderness. C-reactive protein was 237 mg/L (normal range: 0-5 mg/L), the leukocyte count was 27.000/mm³, and the absolute neutrophil count was 25.000/mm³. The patient was consulted with infectious diseases. With the computerized tomography (CT) of the abdomen, wall thickening, and widespread abdominopelvic peritoneal fluid were found in the ascending colon, and most significantly in the caecum. In two localizations of the lower part of the caecum, the loss of wall continuity and neighboring peritoneal free air signs were found to be compatible with neutropenic enterocolitis (Figure 1). Oral intake of the patient was stopped, and intravenous hydration was initiated. With





Figure 1. There is thickening of colon wall at ascendant colon, and it is most apparent at cecum as well diffuse ascites is seen most apparent at pericecal area. There is an area that the continuity of the colonic wall cannot be seen at proximal cecum near appendiceal root (arrow), and free air particles are also shown.

The general condition of the patient deteriorated, tachycardia and signs of peritoneal irritations developed. The patient was operated due to acute abdomen; cecal perforation was repaired and ileostomy was performed. No fever and abdominal pain developed after the operation and the patient was discharged on the 7th postoperative day. Additional doses of docetaxel were decided to be administered.

Discussion

Neutropenic enterocolitis is an intestinal inflammation rarely seen in cancer patients after chemotherapy. It is characterized by segmental ulceration of ileum, caecum and ascending colon as well as their inflammation with necrosis [1]. Clinically, certain initial symptoms can be observed such as fever, abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, watery diarrhea that may sometimes leads to bleeding and polymicrobial sepsis. Abdominal rebound and defense can commonly be seen usually in the right upper quadrant, and sometimes in all quadrants; however, it may not be detected in patients using steroids [7]. Similar clinical characteristics may also be observed in some other conditions such as appendicitis, Clostridium difficile colitis, intestinal invagination, ileus caused by vincristine, pancreatitis due to L-asparaginase, drug-induced cholestasis and cholecystitis, and fungal infections. Its pathogenesis is not fully known. It is most commonly observed after hematologic malignancies such as leukemia and lymphoma; however, it has been reported to be seen in patients with solid tumors treated with new chemotherapeutics and intensive chemotherapy [1, 2-10].

The agents most commonly associated with neutropenic enterocolitis are cytosine arabinoside, etoposide, and daunorubicin. Other influential agents include doxorubicin, methotrexate, vincristine, taxanebased chemotherapeutic agents, cyclophosphamide, and prednisone [2, 7, 9]. NE that developing after standard dose combination chemotherapy with nedaplatin and irinotecan for testicular tumor was reported by Takaoka *et al.* [2] for the first time. A search of the PubMed English literature between years 1993-2017 revealed NE cases developing taxanebased chemotherapy [3-8, 10]. Such complications can be observed in 0.1% of taxane-based chemotherapies [8]. In 1993, Seewaldt *et al.* [4] first reported an intestinal perforation that developed after paclitaxel therapy in an ovarian cancer patient. As in our case, there are five cases with NE that developing after the use of paclitaxel in the treatment of breast cancer [3, 5-8] (Table 1).

Symptoms usually observed within 10 to14 days after chemotherapy, when neutropenia is most obvious [7]. It is noticed that NE developed usually after 6-10th day of the chemotherapy. [3, 5-7]. In our case, NE developed on the 6th day after the first cycle. As in our case, all these cases of breast cancer, in which NE developed, taxane-based chemotherapy drugs have been used in combination with other chemotherapeutic agents (Doxorubicin, Cyclophosphamide, Epirubicin, 5% Fluorouracil) [3, 5-7].

CT and ultrasound (US) are the radiological methods used for diagnosis. It is likely to observe thickening of the intestinal wall, inflammatory mass in the right lower quadrant, caecum enlargement, pericaecal fluid, and inflammatory changes in the pericaecal tissue [7, 8]. CT is the most preferred

Authors	Cancer	Patient	Chemotherapy	Date of onset	Symptoms	Outcome
			regimen	of symptoms		
Ramsing <i>et al.</i> [3]	Breast cancer	66-year-old, female	Docetaxel Cyclophosphamide	7th day of chemotherapy	Generalized abdominal pain, fever, rigors and vomiting	Operated because of perforation, released on postoperative 7th day
Sodhi <i>et al.</i> [5]	Breast cancer	38-year-old, female	Fluorouracil Epirubicin Cyclophosphamide given, later on changed with Docetaxel	7th day after Docetaxel	Acute abdomen, diarrhea and shock	Operated because of perforation, get well postoperative
Taşköylü <i>et</i> al. [6]	Breast cancer	40-year-old, female	Docetaxel Cyclophosphamide Doxorubicin	10th day of chemotherapy	Generalized abdominal pain and fever	Neutropenic enterecolitis, get well after antibiotic regimen
Oehadian <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> [7]	Breast cancer	61-year-old, female	Docetaxel Cyclophosphamide Doxorubicin	6th day of chemotherapy	Abdominal pain and vomiting	Operated because of perforation, released on postoperative 7th day
Rolston <i>et</i> <i>al</i> . [8]	Breast cancer	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA

Table1. Summary of reported cases of neutropenic enterocolitis associated with docetaxel

NA = not available

method because it is considerably lower (15%) than that of US (23%) and plain radiography (48%) [7]. A wall thickness greater than 10 mm and its association with intestinal perforation are negative factors for prognosis [9]. In our case, the wall thickness in the ascending colon, and most significantly in the caecum was found to be 16 mm and peritoneal free air signs were regarded as a bowel perforation associated with NE.

In the follow-up and treatment period of NE, patients should be monitored on a daily basis, and should be fed intravenously after stopping their oral intake. In case of clinical deterioration, the patient should be assessed in terms of perforation or necrosis, and then a surgical treatment should be considered accordingly [1]. It has been reported that complications requiring surgical intervention can be encountered in 5% of patients diagnosed with NE [6]. However, most of such cases are cases with hematologic malignancies. NE-related perforation was reported in 3 patients with solid tumors treated with taxane-based chemotherapy [3, 5, 10]. According to our knowledge, our case is the 4th case in the literature in which perforation developed.

Conclusions

In conclusion, NE should be definitely considered in differential diagnosis of abdominal pain in neutropenic patients. Although perforation is rarely seen in neutropenic patients with solid tumors, it should be kept in mind and the patient should be followed-up carefully. It is noteworthy that mortality and morbidity can be reduced by means of appropriate antibiotics and a timely surgical intervention.

Informed consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this case report.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that there are no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

References

[1] Machado NO. Neutropenic enterocolitis: A continuing medical and surgical challenge. N Am J Med Sci 2010;2:293-300.

[2] Takaoka E, Kawai K, Ando S, Shimazui T, Akaza H. Neutropenic colitis during standard dose combinaton chemotherapy with nedaplatin and irinotecan for testicular cancer. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2006;36:60-3.

[3] Ramsingh J, Bolln C, Hodnett R, Al-Ani A. Neutropenic enterocolitis affecting the transverse colon: an unusual complication of chemotherapy. BMJ Case Rep 2014;2014:bcr2014204035.

[4] Seewaldt V, Cain JM, Greer BE, Tamimi H, Figge DC. Bowel complications with taxol therapy. J Clin Oncol 1993;11:1198.

[5] Sodhi KS, AiyappanSK, Singh G, Prakas M, Khandelwal N. Colitis and colonic perforation in a patient with breast carcinoma trated with taxane based chemotherapy. Indian J Cancer 2011;48:134-5.

[6] Yapar Taşköylü B, Gökçen Demiray A, Aksoy P, Yaren A, Gököz Doğu G, et al. [Neutropenic enterocolitis after adjuvant chemotherapy: a case report]. Pamukkale Tıp Dergisi 2013;6:96-9. [Article in Turkish]

[7] Oehadian A, Fadjari TH. Neutropenic enterocolitis in breast cancer patient after taxane-containing chemotherapy. Acta Med Indones 2008;40:29-33.

[8] Rolston KV. Neutropenic enterocolitis associated with docetaxel therapy in a patient with breast cancer. Clin Adv Hematol Oncol 2009;7:527-8.

[9] Cartoni C, Dragoni F, Micozzi A, Pescarmona E, Mecarocci S, Chirletti P, et al. Neutropenic enterocolitis in patients with acute leukemia: Progmostic significance of bowel wall thickening dedected by ultrasonography. J Clin Oncol 2001;19:756-61.

[10] Colucci G, Thaler W, Dejaco H, Marsoner H, Grones A. Colonic rupture in a patient on combination chemotherapy for metastasized carcinoma of the esophagogastric junction. Case report and review of the literature. Onkologie 2005;28:204-6.



http://www.eurj.org

Case Report

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.346481

Biceps tendon rupture diagnosed by physical examination and ultrasonography in the emergency department

Betül Tiryaki Baştuğ¹, Berkay Subaşı¹, Pakize Gözde Gök², Kübra Parpucu¹, Eşref Genç²

¹Department of Radiology, Osmangazi University School of Medicine, Eskişehir, Turkey ²Department of Emergency Medicine, Osmangazi University School of Medicine, Eskişehir, Turkey

ABSTRACT

A biceps brachii rupture can occur at either superior or inferior end but most commonly involves the long head at its proximal attachment to superior glenoid labrum. We report a 48-year-old male with a proximal long-head biceps rupture because of trauma diagnosed by ultrasonography and physical examination in the emergency department. On physical examination, there was a severe pain over the anterior aspect of the shoulder, proximal part of the biceps muscle, and distally located biceps muscle mass. In ultrasonographical study, there were no tendon fibers in the right shoulder bicipital groove. The evaluation of both the physical examination and sonographic findings revealed a proximal long-head biceps rupture.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):235-237

Keywords: Biceps tendon, rupture, ultrasound

Introduction

A biceps brachii rupture can occur at either superior or inferior end but most commonly involves the long head at its proximal attachment to superior glenoid labrum [1, 2]. Trauma-related injury involves the distal part, which is rare and seen in young people [3]. Degenerative causes involve the proximal part of the tendon. We report a case with a proximal longhead biceps rupture because of trauma diagnosed by ultrasonography and physical examination in the emergency department.

Case Report

A 48-year-old male was admitted to our

emergency department with sudden onset of right arm pain. He reported that he was lifting a heavy piece of machinery when he heard a sudden popping sound and now was complaining of significant swelling to his right arm.

The patient was previously healthy. He has smoking for 30 pack per year. On physical examination, there was a severe pain and tenderness over the anterior aspect of the shoulder, proximal part of the biceps muscle, and distally located biceps muscle mass (Figure 1). The right elbow active and passive range of motion was full, but there was a mild weakness with 4 of 5 powers in manual testing during elbow flexion and supination. Neurovascular examination and conventional radiographic imaging

Address for correspondence:

Betül Tiryaki Baştuğ, MD., Assistant Professor, Osmangazi University School of Medicine, Department of Radiology, Eskişehir, Turkey. E-mail: betultryak@yahoo.com

Received: October 25, 2017; Accepted: December 4, 2017; Published Online: December 21, 2017

Copyright © 2018 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy



Figure 1. On physical examination, there was a severe pain and tenderness over the anterior aspect of the shoulder, proximal part of the biceps muscle, and distally located biceps muscle mass.

findings were normal. An emergency radiologist performed ultrasound (LOGIQ P5; GE Medical System, China) with a 7.5- to 12-MHz linear transducer. Ultrasound was performed while the patient was sitting, and his hand was positioned palm upward on the knee. The linear transducer was placed on the right bicipital area, and longitudinal-transverse scans were obtained. In ultrasound, there were no tendon fibers in the right shoulder bicipital groove

(Figure 2). The evaluation of both the physical examination and sonographic findings revealed a proximal long-head biceps rupture. The patient was discharged from emergency department with a conservative treatment. He was placed in a sling and given pain medicine. Elective magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was planned. He followed up in the orthopedic clinic three days later where the decision was made for surgical repair given his occupation as



Figure 2. In ultrasound, there were no tendon fibers in the right shoulder bicipital groove

a mechanic recommendation after orthopedic evaluation.

Discussion

The biceps brachii muscle is employed in supination and flexion of the forearm. The biceps muscle has two proximal tendon additions on the scapula - the long head and the short head. The long head originates from the supraglenoid tubercle and extends over the humeral head into the intertubercular groove of the humerus. The short head arises from the coracoid process along with the coracobrachialis muscle medial to the long head tendon. The distal tendon of the biceps muscle joins to the radial tuberosity [1].

The great majority of biceps tendon ruptures occur at the proximal insertion and almost always involve the long head [1]. Most often, these ruptures occur at the bony attachment or the tendon-labral junction. Distal tendon ruptures are uncommon but can occur at the insertion on the radial tuberosity. Tendon ruptures also can happen at the short head insertion on the acromion, although this is less common.

Persons aged 40-60 years who have a history of shoulder problems that cause chronic strain on the tendon are at the highest risk for biceps tendon rupture [2]. Traumatic ruptures that occur in younger ones are usually the result of acute strain on the tendon, such as heavy weight-lifting or a traumatic fall. These often are the result of the forced extension of the elbow. Other risk factors for tendon ruptures include chronic disease states such as diabetes, chronic kidney disease, systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, chronic steroid use, fluoroquinolone use, and cigarette smoking [3].

The diagnosis of these injuries is usually made clinically [4]. Patients typically apply after an acute traumatic event where the patient experienced a sudden onset of pain, heard a "pop," and noticed bruising or swelling. Many patients with biceps tendon rupture also have a history of chronic shoulder pain due to nerve impingement.

Physical examination involves inspection of bilateral upper extremities; a biceps tendon rupture often presents as a visible or palpable mass and is referred to as a "Popeye" deformity. An examination of the affected arm should be done, and any tenderness along the biceps tendon and muscle belly should be noted.

Plain radiography is generally not diagnostic. With these graphies you can rule out bony injuries.

Ultrasound is defined as a reliable indicator of biceps tendon rupture [5, 6]. MRI is often considered the "gold standard" and able to demonstrate the anatomy of the biceps tendon rupture, but is usually not applied in the emergency department.

There is debate about the final treatment of biceps tendon ruptures. Emergency care should focus on comfort measures, such as muscle relaxation by using analgesia, anti-inflammatories, and a hanger. Prompt orthopedic or sports medicine follow up is warranted for these patients and non-emergent imaging can be done for evaluation for possible surgical management. Some biceps tendon ruptures, especially those involving the long head, can be managed conservatively with pain control and physical therapy [7].

Conclusion

The diagnosis of biceps brachii tendon rupture can be easily made with physical examination and ultrasonography is a reliable imaging modality in detection of this injury.

Informed consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this case report.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that there are no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

References

[1] Elser F, Braun S, Dewing CB, Giphart JE, Millett PJ. Anatomy, function, injuries, and treatment of the long head of the biceps brachii tendon. Arthroscopy 2011;27:581-92.

[2] Carter AM, Erickson SM. Proximal biceps tendon rupture: primarily an injury of middle age. Phys Sportsmed 1999;27:95-102.

[3] Marx JA, Hockberger RS, Walls RM. Rosen's Emergency Medicine -Concepts and Clinical Practice, 2 Volume Set, 8th edition, Elsevier: Sanders 2014.

[4] O'Driscoll SW, Goncalves LB, Dietz P. The hook test for distal biceps tendon avulsion. Am J Sports Med 2007;35:1865-9.

[5] Skendzel JG, Jacobson JA, Carpenter JE, Miller BS. Long head of biceps brachii tendon evaluation: accuracy of preoperative ultrasound. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2011;197:942-8.

[6] Lobo Lda G, Fessell DP, Miller BS, Kelly A, Lee JY, Brandon C, et al. The role of sonography in differentiating full versus partial distal biceps tendon tears: correlation with surgical findings. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2013;200:158-62.

[7] Mariani EM, Cofield RH, Askew LJ, Li GP, Chao EY. Rupture of the tendon of the long head of the biceps brachii. Surgical versus nonsurgical treatment. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1988;228:233-9.



http://www.eurj.org

Case Report

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.339764

Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma: a rare condition with high proliferation

Marzieh Karimi Khezri¹, M. Özgür Taşkapılıoğlu¹, Alper Türkkan², Ulviye Yalçınkaya³, Ahmet Bekar¹

¹Department of Neurosurgery, Uludağ University School of Medicine, Bursa, Turkey ²Department of Neurosurgery, VM Medical Park Hospital, Bursa, Turkey ³Department of Surgical Pathology, Uludağ University School of Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma (LGFMS) is a type of high metastatic potential of the fibrosarcomas. Most of the time there is a long interval between tumor presentation and metastasis. We present 2 cases of LGFMS. The first is a 31-year-old female with a mass in anterior aspect of her left thigh, and the other is a 68-year-old female with mass in posterior of her neck. Both cases underwent operation for several times and confirmed as LGFMS histopathologically, there is no exact protocol for postoperative follow-up to detect early metastases according to the relative variety of LGFMS. So informing the patients about the long-standing metastatic potential of their disease is important.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):238-241

Keywords: fibrosarcoma, low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma, surgery

Introduction

No Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma (LGFMS) is a differentiated sub-type of fibrosarcoma. Evans first described this pathologic entity as a rare high metastatic potential soft-tissue tumor despite its benign histologic appearance in 1987 [1]. Usually pathologists, radiologists, and surgeons fall in problem for fundamental principle for tumor management due to long interval period between tumor presentation and metastasis behavior. It is still difficult to estimate LGFMS incidence because many cases are not diagnosed as LGFMS. Although LGFMS can be found in unusual places, like head, retroperitoneum, or the chest wall, these tumors usually occur in the proximal extremities and trunk [2, 3]. Subfascial location is the most common place for LGFMS occurrence, as subcutis or dermis may be affected in rare occasions [4]. LGFMS especially happen in young to middle-age adults, by the way a large member of cases have been reported in pediatric ages [3, 5, 6]. In this report, we presented 2 cases of LGFMS; a 31-year-old female with a mass in anterior aspect of her left thigh, and a 68-year-old female with a mass in posterior part of her neck.

AAddress for correspondence:

Received: September 25, 2017; Accepted: January 25, 2018; Published Online: February 23, 2018

Copyright © 2018 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy

Ahmet Bekar, MD., Professor, Uludağ University School of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, Bursa, Turkey. E-mail: abekar@uludag.edu.tr Phone: +90 224 2952740 Fax: +90 224 4429263

Case Presentation

Case 1

A 31-year-old female presented with a recurrent large tumor mass on the anterior aspect of her left thigh operated for three times before admitted to our clinic. She had been operated due to a similar tumor presentation 16 and 14 years ago at another medical center, and 6 years ago at our clinic. The mass has been growing slowly during past 6 years, but the patient did not seek for medical treatment until the tumor size disturbed her regular life. Physical examination revealed firm, multifocal, mobile masses without tenderness, redness, or warmth (Figure 1a). Laboratory evaluations and plain radiographs were unremarkable. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) demonstrated a contrast enhanced tumor with myxoid and fibrous pattern (Figures 1b and 1c). The tumoral masses were excised. Due to infiltration of muscular and fatty tissues, quadriceps femoris and adductor longus muscles were excised (Figures 1d and 1e). Medial and lateral parts of femoral bone periosteum were invaded by tumor and resected. After surgery the patient experienced no major complication and was discharged 5 days after the operation. The histopathological diagnosis was LGFMS (Figure 1f).

Case 2

A 68-year-old female patient presented with large recurrent tumoral masses on posterior part of her neck, radiating to her shoulders, and upward of right shoulder. During past 25 years she has been operated 3 times because of neck masses. Physical examination revealed neck stiffness and firm multifocal mobile masses especially radiated to right shoulder. There was no impairment of sensory and motor nerves. Cervical MRI demonstrated multiple sized and firm contrast enhanced masses which spread to both shoulders (Figure 2). The detected masses were excised. Periosteal infiltration was observed at spinous



Figure 1. (a) Preoperative left leg mass; (b, c) The fibrous components were identified as hypointense area on T1- and T2-weighted MR images and slightly enhancing on T1-weighted MR images after intravenous administration. The myxoid components of the mass were recognized as hypointense on T1-weighted MR images and hyperintense on T2-weighted MR images, and enhancing on T1-weighted MR images after contrast administration; (d) Postoperative appearance of the patient's leg; (e) The excised specimen. The surface of the tumoral mass was smooth and glistering with white-gray color. There was no lenfovascular invasion or necrotic area; (f) Histopathological appearance of the mass. Immunohistochemistry study of the tumor revolves; EMA: focal positive, SMA: focal positive, MSA: negative. P53: negative, Ki 67: 3% positive.



Figure 2. (a-c) C6 and C7 laminar and spinal process involvement was seen at MRI. Enhancing after contrast administration was detected as in the first case; (d) Nodular shape infiltration of hyperchromatic, pleomorphic nucleus of mesenchymal cells surrounded with fibrous stroma reported in pathological sections. Also diffused amyloid degeneration reported in tumoral section. Study of the tumor revolve; S100: strongly positive, Vimentin: strongly positive, SMA: focally positive, Desmin: strongly positive.

processes of C6 and C7 and vertebral lamina was resected together with infiltrated parts of bone. After surgery, the patient experienced no major complication and discharged 2 days after surgery. The histopathological evaluation was reported as LGFMS (Figure 2).

Discussion

TLGFMS manifestation is usually long-standing and depended on the anatomic area of the lesion. Mostly its presentation is as painless soft tissue masses with duration of over 5 years in 5% of patients [2]. Acute presentation of LGFMS is rare, and it can happen in chest wall infiltration as acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) or chest pain. It may be presented with seizure when intracranial infiltration is suspected [3, 7]. In this paper we presented two cases, diagnosed at 16 years and 25 years ago.

Special MRI and CT finding for LGFMS are defined, although imaging findings are nonspecific [3,

8-10]. On CT images without contrast, the fibrous structure of these tumors interprete data density of muscular tissue, and the myxoid part was evaluated as hypodense. The fibrous structure was interpreted as hypointense on T1- and T2-weighted images, and there was a slight contrast enhancement on T1-weighted MRI images. On the other hand, the myxoid part has been found as hypointense on T1- and hyperintense on T2-weighted images, and strongly contrast enhancing on T1-weighted images. Sometimes calcification can be detected [10]. Both of our cases had contrast enhancement at radiological examination similar to literature.

LGFMS is a sub-type of fibrosarcoma, characterized by a mixture of hypercellular myxoid nodules in collagenized area with low cellularity [6]. Tumoral parts are commonly characterized by round to ovoid nuclei small cells without nucleoid and mildly eosinophilic cytoplasm. Mitosis increased at atypical region determined by hypercellularity; only in 10% of the cases nuclear hyperchromatism, and necrosis has been reported. Tumor cells are commonly determined
by absent of sparse mitotic finding, nuclear anaplasia or necrosis. It is positive for vimentin and negative for other antibodies, such as S100 protein, desmin, ceratin, epithelial membrane antigen such as CD31, and CD34 at most cases. Lesions showing proliferation of spindle cell with or without fibrous component in myxoid pattern are evaluated at differential diagnosis of LGFMS [11]. Tumors with both fibrous and myxoid pattern include fibromatosis, neurofibroma, malignant peripheral sheath tumor, perineurioma, fibrous histiocytoma, or the tumors with only predominant myxoid areas without fibrosis such as myxomas, myxoid neurofibroma, angiomyxoms, liopsarcoma, myxoid and low-grade myxofibrosarcoma have to be evaluated at differential diagnosis [10]. Also, desmoid tumors such as desmoplastic fibrosarcoma, low-grade and differentiated liposarcoma should be remembered in the differential diagnosis of LGFMS. If tumor has been removed completely, it is not difficult to diagnose LGFMS due to morphologic pattern and immune phenotypic features. In such cases, an excisional biopsy should be performed before surgical resection according to the fact that it is not commonly possible to diagnose with needle core biopsy or fine needle aspiration. If the diagnosis still remains unclear for myxoid, this kind of cytogenetic for rare cases of LGFMS can be beneficial [4].

Goodlad et al. [5] pointed that LGFMS were inconsistently aggressive tumor. Although all the cases were primarily diagnosed and treated as benign lesions in retrospective study, local recurrence was reported as 68%, and the death rate was reported 18% [5]. It is clear that patient selection has affected the rate of metastases and recurrence rate because most of them selected according to unexplained metastases. In another large series death rate, local recurrence, and metastasis was detected as 2%, 54%, and 6%; respectively [6]. There was no significant relation between recurrence or metastasis and the presentation of high cellularity focal area, nuclear enlargement, increased mitotic activity, and necrosis. Because of potential of late metastasis of LGFMS, as reported 45 years after primer diagnosis, these patients had to be followed for a long period of time [4]. After initial diagnosis of LGFMS the patients must be follow-up by expert oncological group. However exact interval for periodic chest imaging is unclear, as the most metastatic area is lung, several chest CT scan have to be performed during long-term follow-up of these cases.

Conclusions

The 2 cases report presented herein, enriches the literature for the best diagnosis and surgical treatment of this rare tumor. In addition, it is important to inform patients about long-time metastatic potential of the disease as there is no dedicated protocol regarding follow-up examinations for early metastatic mass diagnosis.

Informed consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this case report.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that there are no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

References

[1] Evans HL. Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma. A report of two metastasizing neoplasms having a deceptively benign appearance. Am J Clin Pathol 1987;88:615-9.

[2] Folpe A, van den Berg E, Molenaar WM. Low grade fibromyxoid sarcoma. In: Fletcher CDM, Unni KK, Mertens F (eds). World Health Organization Classification of Tumours. Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of Soft Tissue and Bone. IARC Press: Lyon, 2002, pp. 104-5.
[3] Steiner MA, Giles HW, Daley WP. Massive low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma presenting as acute respiratory distress in a 12-year-old girl. Pediatr Radiol 2009;39:396-9.

[4] Wu X, Petrovic V, Torode IP, Chow CW. Low grade fibromyxoid sarcoma: problems in the diagnosis and management of a malignant tumour with bland histological appearance. Pathology 2009;41:155-60.
[5] Goodlad JR, Mentzel T, Fletcher CD. Low grade fibromyxoid sarcoma: clinicopathological analysis of eleven new cases in support of a distinct entity. Histopathology 1995;26:229-37.

[6] Folpe AL, Lane KL, Paull G, Weiss SW. Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma and hyalinizing spindle cell tumor with giant rosettes: a clinicopathologic study of 73 cases supporting their identity and assessing the impact of high-grade areas. Am J Surg Pathol 2000;24:1353-60.

[7] Saito R, Kumabe T, Watanabe M, Jokura H, Shibuya M, Nakazato Y, et al. Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma of intracranial origin. J Neurosurg 2008;108:798-802.

[8] Kim SY, Kim M, Hwang YJ, Han YH, Seo JW, Kim YH, et al. Low grade fibromyxoid sarcoma CT, sonography, and MR findings in 3 cases. J Thorac Imaging 2005;20:294-7.

[9] Fujii S, Kawawa Y, Horiguchi S, Kamata N, Kinoshita T, Ogawa T. Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma of the small bowel mesentery: computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging findings. Radiat Med 2008;26:244-7.

[10] Mohamed M, Fisher C, Thway K. Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma: Clinical, morphologic and genetic features. Ann Diagn Pathol 2017;28:60-7.

[11] Rakheja D, Seaward JR, Timmons CF. Low-grade fibromyxoid sarcoma with striking zonation. Int J Surg Pathol 2017:1066896917742724.



http://www.eurj.org

Case Report

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.421721

Peripartum type A dissection: a case report

Umut Serhat Sanrı[®], Kadir Kaan Özsin[®], Faruk Toktaş[®], Şenol Yavuz[®]

Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Aortic dissection is a rare but potentially lethal complication during pregnancy in young women and usually diagnosis could be overlooked. We reported a 40-year-old postpartum female with aortic dissection which developed in peripartum period. She complained of interscapular back pain and chest pain. The patient's pain had continued after caesarean section. She admitted to our clinic six days after this intervention. Contrast-enhanced computed tomography revealed the aortic dissection. Hemiarch replacement performed successfully and the patient discharged uneventfully despite of delayed diagnosis.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):242-244

Key Words: Peripartum aortic dissection, pregnancy complications, monitoring

Introduction

Aortic dissection during pregnancy is a rare but life-threatening complication for both mother and fetus [1]. Increased intravascular volume, heart rate, cardiac output and hemodynamic changes, occur during pregnancy. These changes are may be responsible for the increased risk for acute aortic dissections during labour and delivery or in the early postpartum period [2]. Reported cases are mostly associated with connective tissue disease (e.g. Marfan's syndrome), systemic hypertension and congenital heart disease, including coarctation and bicuspid aortic valve [3]. We reported the case of an acute type A aortic dissection occurred in a primigravid female with no noticeable risk factors just before delivery.

Case Presentation

A 40-year-old primigravid female delivered a baby with caesarean section 6 days ago, who had sudden onset of interscapular back pain and chest pain just before delivery. The patient underwent caesarean section and her chest pain had continued persistently. She had hypertension medication during pregnancy. There was no Marfanoid appearance or other appearances related with aortic dissection. Her blood pressure was 160/90 mmHg with no difference in both arms. Chest X-ray showed mediastinal enlargement but no pulmonary congestion or pleural effusion. The baseline complete blood count, serum creatinine and electrolytes were within normal limits. Contrastenhanced computed tomography revealed type A aortic dissection starting from ascending aorta to the

Address for correspondence:

Umut Serhat Sanri, MD., University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Bursa, Turkey, E-mail: ussanri@gmail.com

Received: May 7, 2018; Accepted: June 17, 2018; Published Online: June 20, 2018

distal descending thoracic aorta (Figure 1).

After decided to emergent surgical intervention, the patient has taken to the operating room. Following right axillary artery cannulation [4-6],cardiopulmonary bypass was established. Later a sternotomy incision was made and presence of intimal tear in the supracoronary ascending aorta revealed. Under circulatory arrest with selective cerebral perfusion the arcus aorta was opened. A tear was not detected at the ostia of supra-aortic branches. We performed hemiarch replacement. The postoperative course was uneventful and the patient was discharged from the hospital on the postoperative day 7.

Discussion

According to the Stanford classification system aortic dissections evaluated as two types: type A, involving the ascending aorta regardless of the entry site location, and type B, involving the aorta distal to the origin of the left subclavian artery. Due to its high rate of mortality type A dissections requires urgent surgical approach [4]. The most common site of pregnancy-associated dissection is the proximal aorta, and aortic rupture usually occurs during the third trimester or first stage of labour [2]. There are many case reports in the literature about surgical experience at all stages of pregnancy [3].

In our patient hypertension was the known predisposing factor. It should also be stated that pregnancy is an independent risk factor for aortic dissection. Because hemodynamic changes are significantly effective in pregnant women in the second and third trimesters. These changes include increased heart rate, stroke volume, cardiac output, left ventricular wall mass, and left ventricular enddiastolic dimensions, and additionally decreased systemic vascular resistance, heart rhythm changes, and compression to the abdominal vessels by the gravid uterus [2]. Also alterations in plasma estrogen and progesterone concentrations which induced by pregnancy could be associated with aortic structural changes and lie behind the aortic dissection.

Although the clinical manifestations of acute aortic dissection are well described, the diagnosis is often overlooked in the pregnancy. In our case we have also encountered a delayed diagnosis. Acute aortic dissection has an estimated mortality rate of 1 to 2% per hour during the first 24 to 48 hours of onset if remains untreated [7]. Rajagopalan *et al.* [8]reported a maternal mortality rate of 21% for type A and 24% for type B aortic dissections in 75 pregnant women. The fetal mortality rate was 10% for type A and 35%



Figure 1. Intimal flap imaging (arrow) at the transverse arch

for type B aortic dissections [8]. The patients which has predisposing factor such as hypertension due to preeclampsia, congenital heart disease, coarctation of the aorta or connective tissue disorders as Marfan syndrome, should be closely monitored. For our patient, we performed hemiarch replacement and in despite of delayed intervention outcomes were sufficient. Late presentation and delayed diagnosis may cause death in these patients. If any symptom begins suddenly such as severe, sharp pain in the chest and interscapulary area aortic dissection must be considered.

Conclusions

A 40-year-old female with type A acute aortic dissection which developed just before delivery, treated successfully by hemiarch replacement six days after delivery. This case has some highlights for gynaecologist and cardiovascular surgeons. After onset of acute complaints caesarean section has been performed but not suspicious presence of aortic dissection. She could have lost her life in this six days.

Informed consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the

patient for publication of this case report and any accompanying images.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that there are no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

References

[1] Iida Y, Ito T, Inaba Y, Hayashi S, Misumi T, Shimizu H. Peripartum type A aortic dissection repair using frozen elephant trunk technique. Ann Vasc Dis 2016;9:244-7.

[2] Yuan SM. Postpartum aortic dissection. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol 2013;52:318-22.

[3] Lewis S, Ryder I, Lovell AT. Peripartum presentation of an acute aortic dissection. Br J Anaesth 2005;94:496-9.

[4] Yavuz S, Göncü MT, Türk T. Axillary artery cannulation for arterial inflow in patients with acute dissection of the ascending aorta. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2002;22:313-5.

[5] Yavuz S. Alternative cannulation techniques in surgical repair for acute type A aortic dissection. Eur Res J 2016;2:1-6.

[6] Yavuz S., Toktas F., Yumun G., Turk T. eComment. Extended utilization of axillary cannulation as arterial access for cardiopulmonary bypass. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2013;16:759.

[7] Jalalian R, Saravi M, Banasaz B. Aortic dissection and postpartum cardiomyopathy in a postpartum young woman: a case report study. Iran Red Crescent Med J 2014;16:e9849.

[8] Rajagopalan S, Nwazota N, Chandrasekhar S. Outcomes in pregnant women with acute aortic dissections: a review of the literature from 2003 to 2013. Int J Obstet Anesth 2014;23:348-56.



http://www.eurj.org

Case Report

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.373351

Re-expansion pulmonary edema after pleurocan catheterization: a case report

İbrahim Mungan, Hayriye Cankar Dal, Derya Tatlısuluoğlu Ademoğlu, Büşra Tezcan, Sema Turan

Department of Intensive Care, Türkiye Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Re-expansion pulmonary edema (RPE) is a rare but potentially hazardous complication following evacuation of the pleural region. Symptomatic RPE occurs in less than 1% of patients after pleural drainage. Early diagnosis and treatment determines the progression of the disease and it is life-saving. The present case describes a 68-year-old man who developed RPE with the ipsilateral collapsed lung 6 hours after pleural drainage of a non-malignant effusion. He was intubated and 6 hours after aggressive treatment with mechanical ventilation support oxygenation was improved and the patient's blood gas analysis recovered. Over the course of his 12-day hospitalization, he was extubated and oxygen support was slowly weaned down. Mortality rate of RPE in severe cases is approximately 20%, therefore preventive interventions gain importance. In spite of the rare incidence of RPE, being aware of this potential condition can allow for early and proper management.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):245-247

Keywords: Re-expansion pulmonary edema, pleural catheter, intensive care

Introduction

Re-expansion pulmonary edema (RPE) is a rare but potentially hazardous complication which may occur in every kind of chronically collapsed lung, following evacuation of the air or fluid from the pleural region. Most cases are clinically mild and detected incidentally on radiography so the true incidence is still skeptical (0.9-20%), but symptomatic RPE occurs in less than 1% of patients after pleural drainage [1].

Mostly, RPE is limited to the ipsilateral lung after relief of collapse and the main signs are tachypnea, tachycardia, and crackles on the affected side of the lung. Generally, a chest radiograph is sufficient for diagnosis, but the suspect of the clinician is essential. The radiographic diagnosis includes the presence of opacities in the previously collapsed lung, following thoracentesis. Because of the clinical and radiological diversity of RPE, cardiogenic pulmonary edema, pulmonary infections and pneumonitis should be kept in mind in the differential diagnosis. Early diagnosis and treatment determines the progression of the disease and it is life-saving [2]. The present case describes a 68-year-old man who developed RPE with the ipsilateral collapsed lung 6 hours after pleural drainage of a non-malignant effusion.

Address for correspondence:

Copyright © 2018 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy

İbrahim Mungan, MD., Türkiye Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Intensive Care, Ankara, Turkey. E-mail: imungan@gmail.com

Received: January 1, 2018; Accepted: February 2, 2018; Published Online: February 14, 2018

Case Presentation

A 68-year-old man with cholangiocellular carcinoma diagnosis who had been operated in our hospital followed up for respiratory distress. He had progressive dyspnea over the course of several days. The initial radiographic assessment revealed massive pleural effusion in the right hemithorax (Figure 1). At first, an 8.3-French pig tail catheter drainage for the pleural effusion was performed and the cytology findings of the effusion were negative for malignancy. Then pleurocan catheter was implanted under local anesthesia and the initial amount of drainage was serosanguinous fluid of 1000 ml in 1 hour period. The patient tolerated the procedure well and his symptoms improved. However, 6 hours after the pleural drainage the clinical manifestation of tachypnea, dyspnea and tachycardia was observed, and his oxygen saturation dropped to 80% on room air. A chest radiograph taken at that time showed bilateral opacities resembling ARDS, suggesting RPE in the whole lung field (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Massive pleural effusion in the right hemithorax.

As a conservative treatment fluid intake was restricted, diuretic and supportive oxygen therapy started. Cardiogenic edema was completely excluded by the mean of transthoracic echocardiography examination. More aggressive diuresis was avoided to protect from hypotension and cardiovascular collapsed in the setting of RPE.

The patient clinic situation worsened with extensive crackles in the bilateral lung auscultation. Blood gas analysis of the patient revealed pH: 7.13,



Figure 2. A chest radiograph taken at that time showed bilateral opacities resembling ARDS, suggesting re-expansion pulmonary edema in the whole lung field.

PaCO2: 56.4 mmHg, PaO2: 36.2 mmHg, HCO3: 18 mEq / L, base deficit: (-7) and orotracheal intubation became inevitable. He was placed on pressure-regulated pressure control with FiO2: 80%, PEEP: 8 cmH2O, frequency: 15/min and pressure support: 18 cmH2O. Six hours after this aggressive treatment with mechanical ventilation support oxygenation was improved and the patient's blood gas analysis recovered (pH: 7.42, pCO2: 28.4 mmHg, pO2: 104 mmHg). Ventilator settings were weaned to a PEEP of 5 and FiO2 of 40%. It was observed that the chest x-ray findings also recovered within 24 hours and the RPE resolved (Figure 3). Over the course of his 12-day hospitalization, he was extubated and oxygen was slowly weaned down.



Figure 3. Chest x-ray findings also recovered within 24 hours and the re-expansion pulmonary edema resolved.

Discussion

Mostly, RPE is limited to the ipsilateral collapsed lung after relief of collapse and occurs within 24 hours. The clinical appearance of RPE can range from asymptomatic radiographic findings to fatal hypoxia. Although there is no consensus for exact mechanism for RPE, major risk factors that have been proposed are rapid re-expansion, drainage with the use of negative intrapleural pressure, and chronicity of lung collapse [3]. Increased permeability of the pulmonary capillaries as a result of inflammation is mainly accused for pathophysiology [2]. In some studies, it was shown that ventilation and reperfusion of a previously collapsed lung may lead to an inflammatory response increasing capillary permeability and results in RPE [4].

Pressure-induced mechanical disruption of the alveolar capillaries, and altered lymphatic clearance are the other accused factors for RPE development. We speculate that in our case, those factors and surgical stress during abdominal operation may have induced a subclinical pulmonary inflammation, that may have ensured a second impact mechanism for the development of the RPE. Even though these factors might partake to the formation of RPE, maybe none of them is indispensable. This might explain the difficulty of prediction in the occurrence of RPE [5].

Early recognition is essential in ensuring successful treatment of RPE and the anchor of treatment remains generally conservative and supportive like sufficient oxygen supplementation, while in severe cases more intensive treatments such as mechanical ventilation is required [3]. In patients requiring orotracheal intubation and mechanical ventilation support, as in our case, positive end expiratory pressure (PEEP) usage improves symptoms after 24-48 h. There is often underestimation of the morbidity and mortality associated with pleural interventions. Mortality rate of RPE in severe cases approximately 20%, therefore preventive is interventions, including the use of low negative pressure for suction and limiting drainage to about 1

to 1.5 L of pleural fluid gain importance, though the data is limited. [6, 7].

Conclusions

In spite of the rare incidence of re-expansion pulmonary edema, being aware of this potential condition can allow for early and proper management.

Informed consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this case report.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that there are no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Authors' contributions

All authors participated in the design of the case report and coordination and helped to draft the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

References

[1] Dias OM, Teixeira LR, Vargas FS. Reexpansion pulmonary edema after therapeutic thoracentesis. Clinics 2010;65:1387-9.

[2] Kim JJ, Kim YH, Choi SY, Jeong SC, Moon SW. Contralateral reexpansion pulmonary edema with ipsilateral collapsed lung after pleural effusion drainage: a case report. J Cardiothorac Surg 2015;10:68.
[3] Verhagen M, van Buijtenen JM, Geeraedts LMG. Reexpansion pulmonary edema after chest drainage for pneumothorax: A case report and literature overview. Respir Med Case Rep 2015;14:10-12.

[4] Kasmani R, Irani F, Okoli K, Mahajan V. Re-expansion pulmonary edema following thoracentesis. CMAJ 2010;182:2000-2.

[5] de Wolf SP, Deunk J, Cornet AD, Elbers PW. Case Report: Bilateral reexpansion pulmonary edema following treatment of a unilateral hemothorax. Research 2014:3:318.

[6] Corcoran JP, Psallidas I, Wrightson JM, Hallifax RJ, Rahman NM. Pleural procedural complications: prevention and management. J Thorac Dis 2015;7:1058-67.

[7] Özsin KK, Toktaş F, Sanrı US, Kahraman N, Yavuz Ş. Re-expansion pulmonary edema caused by pleural effusion drainage in late period after coronary artery bypass surgery: case report. Turkiye Klinikleri Arch Lung 2017;18:25-8.



http://www.eurj.org

Case Report

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.349199

Celiacomesenteric trunk: A rare case

Cihat Tek, Sonay Aydın, Elif Ergün, Pınar Nercis Koşar

Department of Radiology, Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

We present a case of celiacomesenteric trunk that was incidentally detected on routine multi-detector row computed tomography angiography of lower extremities. A 59-year-old patient had intermittent claudication. The celiacomesenteric trunk is a rare vascular variation that is important to be detected before surgical and interventional procedures. Multi-detector row computed tomography angiography is excellent on showing vascular anatomy, pathology and variations.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):248-250

Keywords: Celiacomesenteric trunk, celiac trunk, superior mesenteric artery, mesenteric vascular variation, multi-detector computed tomography angiography

Introduction

The celiac trunk and superior mesenteric artery are the most important visceral branches of abdominal aorta, supplying nearly total blood flow for gastrointestinal tract. The celiac trunk generally originates from ventral part of abdominal aorta at the level of 12th thoracic vertebrae and branches off the left gastric, common hepatic and splenic arteries. The superior mesenteric artery generally arises at the level of first lumbar vertebrae, about 1 centimeter below the origin of the celiac trunk [1].

The celiacomesenteric trunk is a rare (1-2%) vascular variation which has clinical importance especially before surgical or interventional radiological procedures. The superior mesenteric artery and the celiac trunk arises from a single trunk [2].

Multi-detector computed tomography angiography (MDCTA) has an excellent performance and more comfortable for the patient, to show vascular anatomy, pathology and variations [3].

Case Presentation

During the MDCTA scan of a 59-year-old man complaining intermitting claudication (an aching, crampy, tired or burning pain in the legs - typically occurs with walking and goes away with rest - due to poor circulation of blood in the arteries of the legs), a stunning variation was detected. The celiac trunk and superior mesenteric artery were seen to originate from a common trunk from ventral part of abdominal aorta

Address for correspondence:

Cihat Tek, MD., Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Department of Radiology, Cebeci, 06340 Ankara, Turkey.

E-mail: cihattek@gmail.com Fax: +90 3125953683

Received: November 3, 2017; Accepted: January 8, 2018; Published Online: February 8, 2018



Figure 1. Sagittal maximum intensity projection (MIP) image of the case; origin of celiacomesenteric trunk (star), the celiac trunk (black arrow) and the superior mesenteric artery (white arrow).



Figure 2. Coronal maximum intensity projection (MIP) image of the case; origin of celiacomesenteric trunk from abdominal aorta (star), the celiac trunk (black arrow) and the superior mesenteric artery (white arrow).

(Figures 1, 2, and 3). The celiacomesenteric trunk was to be length of 14 mm and 12 mm in diameter. The celiac trunk was 9 mm, and the superior mesenteric artery was 8.5 mm in diameter.



Figure 3. Volume rendering image of celiacomesenteric trunk (star), the celiac trunk (empty arrow) and the superior mesenteric artery (white arrow).

There was no variation on the celiac trunk and superior mesenteric artery branching; left gastric, splenic and common hepatic arteries were originating from the celiac trunk, inferior pancreaticoduodenal, jejunal, ileal, middle colic, right colic, ileocolic arteries originated from the superior mesenteric artery.

Discussion

In general population, the celiac trunk arises from the abdominal aorta and branches into left gastric, splenic and common hepatic arteries. The superior mesenteric artery arises from the abdominal aorta, too, and branches into inferior pancreaticoduodenal, jejunal, ileal, right colic, middle colic and ileocolic arteries.

The celiacomesenteric trunk is a rare variation which is presenting that the celiac trunk and superior mesenteric artery arises from a common trunk. A review showed the incidence of the celiacomesenteric trunk is in the rate of 2% [4]. Matusz *et al.* [5] reported that 0.68% of cases. Tandler [6] provided an embryological theory for the celiac trunk and superior mesenteric artery variations. In embryologic life, retention of the ventral longitudinal anastomosis and disappearance of the first or fourth vascular root, causes a celiacomesenteric trunk [6].

The celiacomesenteric trunk is usually discovered incidentally during radiologic imaging or cadaveric dissection by anatomists. It is substantial to be aware of this rare variation. Because if it is thrombosed or injured, the blood supply of abdominal viscera is dramatically blocked. On the other hand it is very important to report if the celiacomesenteric trunk exists before surgical or interventional radiologic procedures.

Conclusions

In conclusion, the celiacomesenteric trunk is an important vascular variation that is usually asypmtopmatic. But it must be kept in mind for the patients that will undergo surgical or radiologic aortic procedures.

Informed consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this case report.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that there are no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

References

[6] Tandler J. Über die Varietaten der Arteria celiaca und deren Entwickelung. Anat Hefte 1904;25:473-500.

^[1] Munger RS. Report of an unusual coeliaco-mesenteric trunk with unique distribution and anastomoses. Anat Rec 1941;80:55-9.

^[2] Lagoutte N, Facy O, Guiu B, Favier C, Cheynel N. Celiacomesenteric trunk: a variation that must be known before aortic surgery. Clin Pract 2011;1:e69.

^[3] De Cecco CN, Ferrari R, Rengo M, Paolantonio P, Vecchietti F, Laghi A. Anatomic variations of the hepatic arteries in 250 patients studied with 64-row CT angiography. Eur Radiol 2009;19:2765-70.

^[4] Yi SQ, Terayama H, Naito M, Hayashi S, Moriyama H, Tsuchida A, et al. A common celiacomesenteric trunk, and a brief review of the literature. Ann Anat 2007;189:482-8.

^[5] Matusz P, Miclaus GD, Ples H, Tubbs RS, Loukas M. Absence of celiac trunk: case report using MDCT angiography. Surg Radiol Anat 2012;34:959-63.



http://www.eurj.org

Case Report

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.357187

Quadriceps tendon rupture associated with anabolic steroids and growth hormone: a case report

Engin Özakın¹, Cüneyt Çalışır², Evvah Karakılıç¹, NurdanAcar¹

¹Department of Emergency Medicine, Osmangazi University School of Medicine, Eskişehir, Turkey ²Department of Radiology, Osmangazi University School of Medicine, Eskişehir, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Androgenic and human growth hormone derivatives have to potential to increase athletic performance despite increased risk of serious adverse effects. The risk of tendon rupture is very high in the anabolic androgenic steroid users. A 51-year-old male admitted to the emergency department with left knee pain following sport training. He had a history combination of androgenic hormones and insulin growth factor -1 use. Magnetic resonance imaging showed swelling, heterogeneity and partial discontinuity of the quadriceps tendon. Use of performance enhancing drugs has become a serious public health problem. Due to increase of abuse today it is possible to encounter more side effects in the future and has to be considered as a growing public health problem.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):251-253

Keywords: quadriceps tendon rupture, androgenic hormone, growth hormone

Introduction

Quadriceps tendon rupture is a rare condition in the absence of systemic disease. Some athletes use hormonal drugs to improve their performance, personal appearance and to increase their muscle mass [1]. Especially, the use of androgenic and derivative of biosynthetic human growth hormone has become serious global health problem despite controls and injuries related with them. These drugs showed increased risk of tendon ruptures who are relatively common in bodybuilders [2]. We report partial rupture of quadriceps tendon rupture in a bodybuilder who had taken anabolic steroid and growth hormone for years.

Case Presentation

Our patient is 51-year-old, healthy, white male, previously professional national class bodybuilders. He ranked first place in his weight class in Turkey national body-building championship, two years ago. He was admitted to our emergency department with left knee pain following sport training. He experienced sudden severe pain in his right knee after attempting front squat 150 kg of weight. He reported a history combination of androgenic (nandrolone) and insulin growth factor-1 use that he had stopped before 6 months. He had also been previously insulin resistance, cardiac hypertrophy and left biceps tendon rupture (20 years ago).

Address for correspondence:

Received: November 23, 2017; Accepted: December 26, 2017; Published Online: February 6, 2018

Engin Özakın, MD., Associate Professor, Osmangazi University School of Medicine, Department of Emergency Medicine, Meşelik, 26480 Eskişehir, Turkey. E-mail: enginozakin@hotmail.com Phone: +90 222 2256129, Fax: +90 222 2393774 Received: November 23, 2017: Accented: December 26, 2017: Published Online: Echruary 6, 2018

On examination he was unable to walk and straight leg raise. He has also hematoma and swelling in left knee. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the left knee joint was performed using a 3T unit. Sagittal and axial T1-weighted and proton- density weighted images with fat saturation were obtained. MRI showed swelling, heterogeneity and partial discontinuity of the quadriceps tendon (Figure 1). Partial tear of the quadriceps tendon was diagnosed. Immobilization with full extension was recommended.

Discussion

Use of performance enhancing drugs has become a serious public health problem. The overall lifetime prevalence for use of the androgenic hormones rate was 6.4 percent in men, 1.6 percent in women [3].

Performance enhancing drugs are anabolic androgenic steroids, androstenedione, human growth hormone, erythropoietin, diuretics, creatine and stimulants. Frequently, the anabolic androgenic steroids that body-builders use are synthetic modifications of testosterone. The most commonly used androgens are testosterone, trenbolone and boldenone [4]. They assist athletes by facilitating efforts to gain strength and muscle mass for increased muscular endurance and power. They promote an increased nitrogen concentration in muscle; which promote anabolic state. Usually they can be taken as injections and pills. It is estimated that 1 million men have experienced these drugs [5].

There are many adverse effect of anabolic steroids and some can be serious and mortal. Case reports describe sudden death in young athletes who were taking androgens [6]. The most important and common side effects of anabolic steroids are gynecomastia, infertility, impotence in men [7] and a deeper voice, increased body hair, cliteromegaly, infrequent or absent menstrual periods in women [8]. Both men and women also have increased risk of severe acne, liver abnormalities and tumors, high blood pressure, heart circulatory problems [9], increased aggressiveness [10], psychiatric disorders [11], injection disease such as HIV or hepatitis [12] and decrease serum high density lipoprotein (HDL) and increase low density lipoprotein (LDL) [13].

Human growth hormone is a hormone that has an anabolic effect. Athletes take it to improve muscle mass and performance like testosterone derivatives. It is only administered by injection. Growth hormones like androgenic hormones, has been used, approximately 5 percent of United States high school students report using these [14]. The most common adverse effect related to growth hormone are joint pain, myopathy, carpal tunnel syndrome, impaired glucose regulation, sodium retention, cardiomegaly, high cholesterol and high blood pressure [15, 16]. Usually the degree and the severity of these side



Figure 1. Sagittal T1 weighted image (A) and sagittal proton-density fat suppressed image (B) reveal enlarged and edematous quadriceps tendon and a fluid collection within the tendon (arrows), suggestive of partial rupture of the quadriceps tendon.

effects are often decrease with the cessation of the drug use. But it should not be forgotten that individuals will respond differently depending on each person's unique body physiology.

Some of the side effects that are associated with steroid use are tendinitis and tendon ruptures [17, 18]. There are several case reports regarding tendon ruptures associated to the anabolic steroids but very few of them are in the quadriceps tendon. The risk of tendon rupture is 9.0 times greater in the anabolic androgenic steroid users. The incidence of lover extremity tendon ruptures is much less than that for upper extremity ruptures. Simultaneous quadriceps rupture occurs commonly between ages 27 and 54. Quadriceps tendon rupture is usually associated with some chronic diseases like renal failure, diabetes, and gout. In addition, case of performance enhanced drug use have also been reported. The most common cause of quadriceps tendon rupture appears to be sudden contraction of the quadriceps with knees.

Conclusions

Performance-enhanced drug abuse has a substantial public health problem. The use of androgens, growth hormone and other drugs have an increased adverse effect. Although these drugs are prohibited, their use are very common. Due to increase of abuse today it is possible to encounter more side effects in the future and has to be considered as a growing public health problem.

Informed consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this case report.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that there are no potential

conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

References

[1] Parkinson AB, Evans NA. Anabolic androgenic steroids: a survey of 500 users. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2006;38:644-51.

[2] Kanayama G, DeLuca J, Meehan WP 3rd, Hudson JI, Isaacs S, Baggish A, et al. Ruptured tendons in anabolic-androgenic steroid users: a cross-sectional cohort study. Am J Sports Med 2015;43:2638-44.

[3] Sagoe D, Molde H, Andreassen CS, Torsheim T, Pallesen S. The global epidemiology of anabolic-androgenic steroid use: a meta-analysis and meta-regression analysis. Ann Epidemiol 2014;24:383-98.

[4] United States Anti-Doping Agency - Results Management. http://www.usada.org/results/ (Accessed on January 11, 2011).

[5] Buckman JF, Farris SG, Yusko DA. A national study of substance use behaviors among NCAA male athletes who use banned performance enhancing substances. Drug Alcohol Depend 2013;131:50-5.

[6] Hausmann R, Hammer S, Betz P. Performance enhancing drugs (doping agents) and sudden death--a case report and review of the literature. Int J Legal Med 1998;111:261-4.

[7] Rahnema CD, Lipshultz LI, Crosnoe LE, Kovac JR, Kim ED. Anabolic steroid-induced hypogonadism: diagnosis and treatment. Fertil Steril 2014;101:1271-9.

[8] Pope HG Jr, Wood RI, Rogol A, Nyberg F, Bowers L, Bhasin S. Adverse health consequences of performance-enhancing drugs: an Endocrine Society scientific statement. Endocr Rev 2014;35:341-75.

[9] King DS, Sharp RL, Vukovich MD, Brown GA, Reifenrath TA, Uhl NL et al. Effect of oral androstenedione on serum testosterone and adaptations to resistance training in young men: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 1999;281:2020-8.
[10] O'Connor DB, Archer J, Hair WM, Wu FC. Exogenous testosterone, aggression, and mood in eugonadal and hypogonadal men. Physiol Behav

2002;75:557-66. [11] Bhasin S, Woodhouse L, Casaburi R, Singh AB, Bhasin D, Berman N, et al. Testosterone dose-response relationships in healthy young men. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2001;281:E1172-81.

[12] Aitken C, Delalande C, Stanton K. Pumping iron, risking infection? Exposure to hepatitis C, hepatitis B and HIV among anabolic-androgenic steroid injectors in Victoria, Australia. Drug Alcohol Depend 2002;65:303-8.

[13] Thompson PD, Cullinane EM, Sady SP, Chenevert C, Saritelli AL, Sady MA, et al. Contrasting effects of testosterone and stanozolol on serum lipoprotein levels. JAMA 1989;261:1165-8.

[14] Sjöqvist F, Garle M, Rane A. Use of doping agents, particularly anabolic steroids, in sports and society. Lancet 2008;371:1872-82.

[15] Fernandez MM, Hosey RG. Performance-enhancing drugs snare nonathletes, too. J Fam Pract 2009;58:16-23.

[16] Segura J, Gutiérrez-Gallego R, Ventura R, Pascual JA, Bosch J, Such-Sanmartín G, et al. Growth hormone in sport: beyond Beijing 2008. Ther Drug Monit 2009;31:3-13.

[17] Sollender JL, Rayan GM, Barden GA. Triceps tendon rupture in weight lifters. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 1998;7:151-3.

[18] Cope MR, Ali A, Bayliss NC. Biceps rupture in body builders: three case reports of rupture of the long head of the biceps at the tendon-labrum junction. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2004;13:580-2.



http://www.eurj.org

Case Report

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.361883

Refractory status epilepticus responding to lidocaine: A case report

Gökhan Özer

Department of Neurology, Sanko University School of Medicine, Gaziantep, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Status epilepticus is a life-threatening condition, which is associated with a high mortality and morbidity when left untreated. It is defined as a continuous seizure lasting more than 30 min or successive seizures with no recovery between any of them. Mortality of status epilepticus depends on the duration and type of seizure, concomitant diseases and age of the patient. Management of status epilepticus includes ensuring adequate airway, stabilization of circulation and use of antiepileptic drugs. Benzodiazepines, phenobarbital, phenytoin, fosphenytoin, general anesthesia and lidocaine are used for the treatment of status epilepticus. Here, we discuss a patient with refractory status epilepticus who achieved a very good response and full recovery only with lidocaine infusion among all forms of therapy given.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):254-257

Keywords: status epilepticus, lidocaine, antiepileptic drugs

Introduction

Two or more successive epileptic seizures that fail to respond to antiepileptic drug therapy should be considered drug-resistant and a distinct treatment strategy should be followed in such patients. This presentation of epilepsy usually involves respiratory and cardiovascular problems and associated systemic complications. Status epilepticus has a high mortality when left untreated. Status epilepticus mortality is higher in the elderly and lower in childhood. In many cases, systemic and metabolic derangements related to status epilepticus cause neuronal damage and cellular impairment. Refractory status epilepticus is a form of epilepsy that fails to respond to therapy and involves continued seizure activity as demonstrated by clinical and electroencephalographic findings. Several antiepileptic agents are used for its treatment at predefined dose ranges and protocols [1, 2]. In this paper, we will discuss a case of refractory status epilepticus in a case with no previously diagnosed epilepsy who reported having ten generalized tonicclonic seizures successively on the same day at her first presentation and responded only to lidocaine despite administration of full range of antiepileptic drug therapies.

Case Presentation

A 16-year-old female, right-handed student was

Address for correspondence:

Received: December 5, 2017; Accepted: December 22, 2017; Published Online: January 8, 2018

Copyright © 2018 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy

Gökhan Özer, MD., Assistant Professor, Sanko University School of Medicine, Department of Neurology, Gaziantep, Turkey. E-mail: primernordr@gmail.com



Figure 1. Ictal activity originating from the right frontotemporal area.

brought by her family to our emergency room after experiencing ten generalized tonic-clonic seizures successively on the same day with loss of consciousness. She had no history of seizures and suffered a complex partial seizure that developed a week ago involving gazing at a fixed point, not responding when questions were directed and pulling on her clothes obsessively 2-3 times a day. Prior to admission to emergency room, she had a total of six generalized tonic-clonic seizures in the last 3 days. Neither personal nor family history indicated remarkable risk factors or characteristics. On neurological examination, she was unconscious, nonresponsive to verbal and painful stimuli. Brainstem reflexes were present with bilaterally extensor plantar skin reflex and no facial asymmetry.

During her emergency room stay, she developed sudden and rapid onset of eye deviation, head deviation to the right with persistent generalized tonicclonic seizures. An emergency computed tomography scan of the brain did not show acute pathology. While her vital findings were stabilizing, diazepam was administered intermittently at a dose of 30 mg/day by intravenous route. The patient was transferred to the neurology intensive care unit (ICU) and phenytoin infusion was given at a dose of 30 mg/kg. During that period, she was unconscious with persistent complex partial and generalized tonic-clonic seizures, eye deviation, and hand automatism; therefore, she was intubated and midazolam infusion (0.4 mg/kg/h) was initiated. At 12 hours after her admission, her clinical seizure activity decreased, and vital findings were stabilized and a lumbar puncture was performed. Cerebrospinal fluid examination and cranial magnetic resonance imaging showed normal findings.

An electroencephalogram showed continuous seizure activity originating from the right frontotemporal area spreading to the left and right hemispheres (Figures 1, 2a and 2b). Thus, phenytoin and midazolam infusion were maintained on the



Figure 2. Spreading of the ictal activity originating from the right frontotemporal area to the left hemisphere (a). Spreading of the ictal activity originating from the right frontotemporal area to the right hemisphere (b).

second day of her admission. A follow-up electroencephalogram on day 3 showed persistent seizure activity; therefore, carbamazepine was added to the treatment, thiopental infusion (5 mg/kg/h) was initiated and midazolam infusion discontinued by tapering. Since clinical and electrophysiological seizures were resolved at that time, attempts were made to reduce thiopental infusions on two occasions, but seizure activity recurred first electrophysiologically and then clinically. Thus, lidocaine infusion (3 mg/kg/h) was started on day 8 and thiopental infusion was tapered and then stopped altogether. On the third day of lidocaine infusion, full seizure achieved control was both electrophysiologically and clinically. She gradually gained consciousness and was maintained on phenytoin 3×125 mg and carbamazepine 1200 mg/day thereafter.

During her hospitalization, she was put on and weaned from mechanical ventilation four times and in addition to her manifestations, pneumonia, gastrointestinal bleeding, elevation of liver function tests and thrombocytopenia developed. Topiramate was added to her treatment with gradual discontinuation of phenytoin.

During follow-up, the patient became fully conscious and alert and was transferred from the ICU to the neurology ward on day 15. The patient is currently on maintenance therapy with topiramate 200 mg/day and carbamazepine 1200 mg/day with no seizures for 2.5 years.

Discussion

Epileptic patients may enter the phase of status epilepticus at some point during the course of their disease with an incidence of 1.3-1.6%. The most common cause of status epilepticus is the withdrawal of the antiepileptic drug. Status epilepticus is associated with a high rate of mortality which ranges from 8 to 32%. This rate may vary depending on the underlying etiology and concomitant conditions. Permanent neurological sequelae can occur in patients with prolonged status epilepticus. Cerebral damage related to status epilepticus may also develop entirely independently of systemic complications. This kind of independent neuronal damage is believed to develop as a result of increased metabolic demand through calcium-dependent excitotoxicity, glial metabotropic glutamate receptors and excessive neuronal activity

[1-3]. Recent arguments suggest that certain surgical epilepsy interventions (such as focal resection or multiple subpial transection) may be needed for the treatment of refractory status epilepticus in carefully selected cases who are nonresponsive to repeated courses of medical therapy. Prognosis is often poor in refractory status epilepticus but the observation that many patients achieved full neurological recovery over the years suggests that it might be wrong to stop treatment prematurely [4].

A crucial step in the management of status epilepticus is "suspecting, scanning and sorting" which involves suspecting the disease in an early stage, performing neuroradiological imaging studies needed for the diagnosis and obtaining an electroencephalogram. Treatment should begin with stabilization of the vital findings, followed by correction of any electrolyte imbalance and resolution of fever. Since the risk of secondary infection is high, treatment with an appropriate antibiotic should be initiated and a lumbar puncture performed for differential diagnosis when deemed necessary. For specific treatment, antiepileptic therapies should be used by careful patient monitoring in an intensive care setting since these medications are toxic and may lead to respiratory depression. Benzodiazepines are firstline therapy. Diazepam, lorazepam and midazolam are the most commonly used agents. They have a rapid onset of action and penetrate readily into the cerebral tissue due to high fat solubility. Their major side effects include respiratory depression. Broad-spectrum antiepileptic drugs such as phenytoin and fosphenytoin are used in the second-line treatment as loading and maintenance doses in status epilepticus. Phenobarbital may be given to patients who do not benefit from benzodiazepines or phenytoin with vigilance for respiratory depression [5].

Parenteral valproate has been used since 1997. It can be used for rapid seizure control and in patients who cannot be orally fed. Recent studies comparing the efficacy of parenteral phenytoin and parenteral valproate in the treatment of refractory status epilepticus showed no statistically significant difference. It was suggested that valproate may be a good alternative to phenytoin particularly in patients with cardiopulmonary disease [6].

Additionally, intravenous levetiracetam may be used safely for the treatment of benzodiazepinerefractory status epilepticus in selected cases, especially in patients with liver failure, elevated liver enzymes or cardiac arrhythmias [7]. For treatment of status epilepticus refractory to phenytoin and benzodiazepines, lidocaine, rectal valproate, magnesium sulfate, rectal benzodiazepine and rectal chloral hydrate may be used [8]. General anesthesia may be performed in case of failure to achieve response to these therapies.

Lidocaine was first used in 1955 by Bernhard, Boem and Hojebag. Since then, it has been used in patients non-responsive to diazepam, phenytoin, phenobarbital or general anesthetic agents. Lidocaine is a sodium channel blocker. There are both individual case reports and case series published on refractory status epilepticus responding to intravenous lidocaine. Since lidocaine does not cause respiratory depression, it was suggested that it might be good therapeutic option particularly in patients with a chronic lung disease or no response to diazepam. Generally, it is recommended that administration of lidocaine should be continued until epileptic seizure resolves. Some studies have reported both lack of efficacy and harmful effects of lidocaine in many patients. Therefore, administered lidocaine dose should not exceed 2-3 mg/kg of body weight [9].

Generalized status epilepticus has an average mortality rate of 20% (range, 3-35%). Anorexia is the most common cause of mortality (60%). The currently presented case is particularly interesting since the patient responded very well only to lidocaine despite administration of several lines of therapy and no occurrence of neurological deficits although she was put to and weaned from mechanical ventilation many times and treated in the ICU with a clinical picture of status epilepticus for two weeks.

Conclusions

Refractory status epilepticus is a difficult-to-treat condition which demands patience and a step-wise management approach. Throughout the course of treatment, seizures occurring in the patient should be clearly identified both clinically and by

electroencephalogram and the choice of drug should be based on the age, metabolic condition of the patient and underlying cause of the disease.

Informed consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient and patient's family for the publication of this case report.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that there are no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Authors contribution

Author were involved in the study conception and design. Author provided input to the discussion, interpreted the findings, assisted in writing of the draft manuscript, reviewed the manuscript for intellectual content, and read and approved the final manuscript.

References

[1] Canas N, Delgado H, Silva V, Pinto AR, Sousa S, Simões R, et al. The electroclinical spectrum, etiologies, treatment and outcome of nonconvulsive status epilepticus in the elderly. Epilepsy Behav 2017;79:53-7.

[2] Brophy GM, Bell R, Claassen J, Alldredge B, Bleck TP, Glauser T, et al. Guidelines for the evaluation and management of status epilepticus. Neurocrit Care 2012;17:3-23.

[3] Towne AR, Pellock JM, Ko D, DeLorenzo RJ. Determinants of mortality in status epilepticus. Epilepsia 1994;35:27-34.

[4] DeLorenzo RJ, Ko D, Towne AR, Garnett LK, Boggs JG, Waterhouse EJ, et al. Prediction of outcome in status epilepticus. Epilepsia 1997;38(suppl 8):210-5.

[5] Riviello JJ Jr, Claassen J, LaRoche SM, Sperling MR, Alldredge B, Bleck TP, et al. Treatment of status epilepticus: an international survey of experts. Neurocrit Care 2013;18:193-200.

[6] Lempl Y, Eshel Y, Gilad R, Sarova-Pinchas I. Chloral hydrate in intractable status epilepticus. Ann Emerg Med 1990;19:674-6.

[7] Knake S, Gruener J, Hattemer K, Klein KM, Bauer S, Oertel WH, et al Intravenous levetiracetam in the treatment of benzodiazepine-refractory status epilepticus. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2008;79:588-9.

[8] Agarwal P, Kumar N, Chandra R, Gupta G, Antony AR, Garg N. Randomized study of intravenous valproate and phenytoin in status epilepticus. Seizure 2007;16:527-32.

[9] Mori K, Ito H, Toda Y, Hashimoto T, Miyazaki M, Saijo T, et al. Successful management of intractable epilepsy with lidocaine tapes and continuous subcutaneous lidocaine infusion. Epilepsia 2004;45:1287-90.



http://www.eurj.org

Case Report

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.364931

Charcot neuroarthropathy of the hand in a diabetic patient after upper extremity trauma

Fazıl Kulaklı¹, Canan Çulha², Seval Akdemir²

¹Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Giresun University School of Medicine, Giresun İlhan Özdemir Training and Research Hospital, Giresun, Turkey ²Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Ankara Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Charcot neuroarthropathy is a progressive degenerative arthritis which affects nearly every joint of the body associated with an underlying central or peripheral neurological disorder and can cause severe disability. The joints most frequently involved are lower limbs especially foot, shoulder and elbow. However, Charcot neuroarthropathy of the hand is quite rare. Herein, we present a 50-year-old diabetic female patient with CNA of the right hand after upper extremity trauma. Major or minor traumas in diabetic patients can increase the risk of CNA on upper extremity as a complication of diabetes mellitus.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):258-261

Keywords: Charcot neuroarthropathy, diabetes mellitus, trauma

Introduction

Charcot neuroarthropathy (CNA) firstly recognized in 1868 by Jean Marie Charcot, still remains a clinical problem. There is a progressive disorganization of architecture in the intensive joint, leading to painless joint swellings with radiological evidence of pronounced bone destruction as well as new bone formation in abnormal sites [1]. Due to their role in weight-bearing activities, the joints of the lower extremity are most commonly involved in this pathology. CNA of the upper extremity occurs in shoulder most frequently [2]. However, CNA of the hand is quite uncommon. In this study, we aimed to present a diabetic patient with CNA of the right hand after upper extremity trauma.

Case Presentation

A 50-year-old female patient admitted to our hospital with painless joint swelling, movement limitation and deformity complaints on the right hand. Two years ago, she dropped on her right arm and after this trauma, swelling, pain and weakness complaints were developed on her arm. She appealed to a hospital with these complaints and was diagnosed with shoulder dislocation, humeral fracture and fracturedislocation of the wrist. After plaster cast treatment for 6 weeks, swelling, pain, weakness and movement limitation complaints were in progress and she was admitted to a centre for carrying out physical therapy and rehabilitation program. After physical therapy and rehabilitation program, pain and swelling complaints

Address for correspondence:

Received: December 12, 2017; Accepted: December 25, 2017; Published Online: December 27, 2017

Copyright © 2018 by The Association of Health Research & Strategy

Fazıl Kulaklı, MD., Assistant Professor, Giresun University School of Medicine, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Giresun, Turkey. E-mail: drfz146@gmail.com

decreased but movement limitation and weakness were in progress. Although movement limitation decreased slightly, she could do her daily works as a farmer by using her right hand predominantly but for skilled movements, she used her left hand. She appealed to our hospital with complaint of movement limitation, painless swelling and deformity on the right hand. The patient had newly diagnosed diabetes mellitus, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, hepatitis-B and chronic bronchitis as systemic diseases. She did not have a knowledge about individuals with these symptoms in her family. No abnormality was detected on rheumatological questioning. There was no pathologic finding on physical examination of systems except locomotor system. Left upper extremity and bilateral lower extremity findings were normal. Although right shoulder flexion was limited at 145 degrees actively and passively, other ranges of motion (ROM) of shoulder were normal. Elbow flexion and extension ranges were normal, but supination and pronation were limited at last 10 degrees actively and passively. Wrist ROM was normal. First metacarpophalangeal joint (MCP) and interphalangeal joint ranges were normal. MCP flexion of 2-3-4 fingers were limited at 40 degrees. Flexion of 2-3-4-5 proximal interphalangeal (PIP) were limited at 80 degrees but extension was normal. Extension of 2-3-4-5 distal interphalangeal (DIP) were limited at last 5 degrees. Flexion of 2-3-4-5 DIP were complete but all the fingers were standing position of flexion (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Painless swellings and deformities on the right proximal interphalangeal and distal interphalangeal joints

Although upper extremity motor examination was normal (5/5) around the elbow, wrist and fingers in present ROM, muscle strength of right shoulder abduction and flexion were 4/5. A diffuse hypoesthesia and hypoalgesia was detected on right upper extremity, deep tendon reflexes were normal, and no pathologic reflexes were found. Tinnel's and Phalen's sign tests of right wrist were positive. Hypertrophic, erosive and degenerative changes were detected on DIP and PIP joints of right hand on x-ray but there were no changes on left hand (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Osteophytes, hypertrophic, erosive and destructive changes on proximal interphalangeal and distal interphalangeal joints of right hand, no degenerative changes on left hand.

There were no considerable changes on the x-rays of shoulder, arm, elbow, forearm and wrist. The results of the patient's blood analysis were associated with diabetes mellitus, hyperlipidemia and hepatitis-B. In addition, serum erythrocyte sedimentation rate and Creactive protein values were normal. Rheumatoid factor, uric acid, anti-nuclear antibody, extractable nuclear antigens values were normal. Free T3, Free T4, thyroid stimulating hormone, vitamin B12, folate and parathyroid hormone values were normal but 25hydroxyvitamin D was detected 11.8 ng/mL described as lower. Right mild pan-brachial plexopathy and moderate carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS) was detected on electroneuromyography (ENMG). After these evaluations, the patient was diagnosed as CNA caused by diabetes mellitus, brachial plexopathy and CTS and the treatment was planned in this direction.

Discussion

CNA is a limb-threatening, destructive process that occurs in patients with neuropathy associated with central and peripheral neurological diseases such as diabetes mellitus, syphilis, syringomyelia and peripheral nerve injuries. Diabetes mellitus is the leading cause of CNA and current estimates of its prevalence range from 0.08% in the general diabetic population to 13% in high-risk diabetic patients [3]. In addition, syringomyelia is the leading cause of CNA of the upper extremity, with the shoulder and elbow being the most commonly affected joints [2]. CNA is one of the most destructive complications of diabetes mellitus, leading to subluxation, dislocation, deformity, and ulceration of the foot and other joints. The basic factor in pathogenesis of CNA is lack of sensorial stimulus coming from joint. Deficiency in the sensations of pain and proprioception causes prolonged trauma to joint. Reiterative traumas to joint triggers fibrillation and fragmentation of cartilage and this situation causes formation of loose bodies in the joint space [4]. Despite severe clinical findings, pain is not a disturbing symptom for patients and this is the most important factor for differential diagnosis. osteoarthritis, monoarticular However, and poliarticular diseases, infective artrhopathy, crystal deposition diseases, trauma, hemarthrosis, intermittent arthritis and osteonecrosis should be considered in the differential diagnosis [5]. In our patient, the most distinctive feature is severe joint destruction in DIP and PIP joints of right hand without pain. Our patient had a mild brachial panplexopathy and moderate CTS on the right side, but we evaluated the patient two years after the injury. The patient said that there was no muscle strength on her right arm after injury for a few months. After this duration the muscle strength increased slowly and movement limitations occured in first 6 months after injury on the paretic side, so we thought that there was a severe brachial plexus injury on the right side after injury but a good healing occured on the brachial plexus and muscle strength increased little by little. The patient was diagnosed as CNA because the patient had painless destructive arthropathy on DIP and PIP joints and newly diagnosed and long time untreated diabetes mellitus as a major cause of CNA. In addition, the patient was diagnosed brachial plexopathy and CTS by using ENMG are other causes of CNA. Furthermore, we found abnormal neurological findings on the right upper extremity concomitant to destructive

arthropathy. The rheumatological questioning and acute phase reactants were normal and severe destructive arthropathy was detected on radiological images. Interestingly, destructive changes were detected on DIP and PIP joints but there was no change on wrist joint. According to above symptoms and findings, other diseases were excluded, and the patient was diagnosed with CNA associated with diabetes mellitus and peripheral nerve injury. In patients with diabetes mellitus, CNA mainly affects major weight-bearing joints, especially the foot and ankle. CNA rarely affects joints other than the foot and ankle in diabetes mellitus patients and only a very few cases of CNA of the wrist have been reported so far [6, 7]. The explanation of this rarity is the lesser degree of upper extremity involvement due to sensorimotor and autonomic neuropathy in comparison with the lower limb. In addition, CNA affects weight-bearing joints primarily, like the foot and ankle, which are exposed to continuous trauma [6]. The patient used her right hand dominantly and her occupation (farmer) was a risk factor for developing CNA because of constituting micro and macro trauma to the hand. We think that, newly diagnosed and uncontrolled diabetes mellitus and presented nerve injuries caused to reduction of pain and proprioceptive sensation so the trauma did not disturb the patient. Traumatic phase continued and a trauma-inflammation circle occured, so this situation could accelerate the development of CNA. There is yet no specific pharmacological treatment for CNA. Some clinicians also prescribe bisphosphonates in the early stages of treatment, as the bone mineral density of the affected foot is low [8]. Off-loading the affected joint with bracing for at least 2-3 months seems to be essential. Aside from pain management, good glycemic control is also a crucial part of the therapy [9]. Keep in mind that a patient with neuropathy may be unaware of injury to the joint, so patient and family education is so important. Surgery is reserved for severe ankle and midfoot deformities that are susceptible to skin ulcerations and that make braces and orthotic devices difficult to use [10].

Conclusion

Our patient had uncontrolled diabetes mellitus. In addition, a major trauma occurred to the right upper extremity and symptoms and findings were coming out after this trauma so we must keep in mind that major or minor traumas in diabetic patients can increase the risk of CNA on upper extremity as a complication of diabetes mellitus.

Informed consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of this case report.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that there are no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

References

[1] Ekim A, Armağan O. Neuropathic arthropathy caused by syringomyelia in different joints and lesion of brachial plexus at right upper extremity: a case report. Ağrı 2007;19:54-8.

[2] Snoddy MC, Lee DH, Kuhn JE. Charcot shoulder and elbow: a review of the literature and update on treatment. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2017;26:544-52.

[3] Frykberg RG, Belczyk R. Epidemiology of the Charcot foot. Clin Podiatr Med Surg 2008;25:17-28.

[4] Elman MH. Neuropathic joint disease (Charcot joints). In: McCarty DJ, editor. Arthritis and allied conditions. 11th ed. Philadelphia: Lea and Febiger; 1989;1255-72.

[5] Jones EA, Manaster BJ, May DA, Disler DG. Neuropathic osteoarthropathy: diagnosis and differential diagnosis. Radiographics 2000;20:S279-93.

[6] Lambert AP, Close CF. Charcot neuroarthropathy of the wrist in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2005;28:984-5.

[7] Bayne O, Lu EJ. Diabetic Charcot's arthropathy of the wrist.Case report and literature review. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1998;357:122-6.

[8] Young MJ, Marshall A, Adams JE, Selby PL, Boulton AJ. Osteopenia, neurological dysfunction, and the development of Charcot neuroarthropathy. Diabetes Care 1995;18:34-8.

[9] Çağlayan G, Kılıç E, Özçakar L. Acute charcot arthropathy of the wrist in a diabetic patient. Rheumatol Int 2013;33:2959-60.

[10] Botek G, Anderson MA, Taylor R. Charcot neuroarthropathy: an often overlooked complication of diabetes. Cleve Clin J Med 2010;77:593-9.



http://www.eurj.org

Case Report

DOI: 10.18621/eurj.356241

A rare complication related to H1N1 infection: Dilated cardiomyopathy

Mehmet Türe¹, Ayfer Gözü Pirinççioğlu², Alper Akın¹, Hasan Balık¹, Seçkin İlter², Sercan Yücel Yanmaz²

¹Department of Pediatric Cardiology, Dicle University School of Medicine, Diyarbakır, Turkey ²Department of Pediatrics, Dicle University School of Medicine, Diyarbakır, Turkey

ABSTRACT

The symptoms and findings of influenza A (H1N1) resemble the symptoms and findings of seasonal influenza and it generally emerges as an upper respiratory tract disease. Although the majority of patients with the influenza A virus recover spontaneously without complications, there have been occasional reports of myopericarditis. However, the most frequent complications have been reported as viral pneumonia and more rarely dilated cardiomyopathy. In this paper, we report a 4-month-old infant, who admitted with shortness of breath, cough, tachycardia and respiratory problems and was diagnosed as having developed dilated cardiomyopathy associated with H1N1.

Eur Res J 2018;4(3):262-265

Keywords: H1N1, myocarditis, dilated cardiomyopathy

Introduction

The Influenza A (H1N1) virus was first identified in Mexico in 2009 and rapidly spread throughout the world [1]. Clinical findings resemble those of seasonal influenza, such as fever, sore throat, cough, listlessness and myalgia. In children, there may also be vomiting and diarrhea, which are not often seen in seasonal influenza. H1N1 diagnosis is made from nasal secretion or nasopharyngeal specimens samples assayed with the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) [2]. Pneumonia is the most common complication of the infection and this can occasionally lead to central nervous system findings, severe dehydration, renal failure, septic shock and multiple organ failure [1]. The influenza virus is generally self-limiting in healthy children, but even as an acute, complication free disease, it can sometimes result in death because of myocarditis and dilated cardiomyopathy [1]. In this case presentation, attention is drawn to the need to bear in mind H1N1 virus and myocarditis and dilated cardiomyopathy which may develop associated with H1N1 in patients who present with findings of viral respiratory tract infection and unlike the classic course demonstrate a long and resistant course.

Case Presentation

A 4-month-old male infant experiencing shortness

Address for correspondence:

Mehmet Türe, MD., Dicle University School of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Cardiology, Diyarbakır, Turkey. E-mail: drture21@gmail.com

Received: November 19, 2017; Accepted: December 31, 2017; Published Online: January 17, 2018

Laboratory tests	Values
White blood count (K/uL)	11.87
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	12
Hematocrit (%)	30.1
Platelets (K/uL)	239.3
Glucose (mg/dL)	92
Urea (mg/dL)	28
Creatinin (mg/dL)	0.45
ALT (U/L)	16
AST (U/L)	43
Na (mmol/L)	133
K (mmol/L)	3.3
Cl (mmol/L)	106
CRP (mg/dL)	0.19
IgA (mg/dL)	14.8
IgG (mg/dL)	277
IgM (mg/dL)	77
IgE (mg/dL)	7.66
CK MB (ng/mL)	2.13
Troponin I (ng/mL)	0.03
p - ANCA	NEGATIVE
c- ANCA	NEGATIVE
ANA	NEGATIVE
Anti-ds DNA	NEGATIVE
ESR (mm/h)	6
Anti HBS(IU/L)	442.8
RF	NEGATIVE

ESR: Eritrocyte sedimentation rate, RF: Rheumatoid Factor

of breath and tachycardia was to admit another center. As cardiac arrest developed, the patient was transferred to our hospital after intubation. On the direct pulmonary radiograph, bilateral infiltrations were present. The laboratory examination results were normal (Table 1). On the electrocardiogram (ECG), 1st degree atrioventricular (AV) block was observed and there were findings of ST wave depression and left ventricular strain pattern on V3-V6 (Figure 1). Transthoracic echocardiography showed dilatation of the left cardiac chamber, moderate mitral valve regurgitation, and mild aortic valve regurgitation. The left ventricle ejection fraction (LVEF) was 32% and the shortness fraction of 15%. Tests were applied with the consideration of viral respiratory tract infection and viral myocarditis. Treatment was started of inhaled salbutamol, antibiotherapy, inotropic, furosemide and captopril. H1N1 production was determined in the nasopharynx smear taken on admittance. Oseltamivir treatment was started with the consideration that there was cardiomyopathy and the clinical manifestation could be associated with the H1N1 virus.

On the 5th day of the oseltamivir treatment, the body temperature returned to normal, the respiratory problems and clinical manifestations recovered, so the patient was extubated, and the oseltamivir treatment was terminated. On the 15th day of hospitalization, in the clinical observation, LVEF was 40% and at the 6-



Figure 1. Electrocardiogram shows 1st degree atrioventricular block and findings of ST wave depression and left ventricular strain pattern on V3-V6.

month follow-up examination, LVEF was 50% (Figure 2). The echocardiography findings of the follow-up period are shown in Table 2.



Figure 2. The 6-month follow-up echocardiographic examination. LV = left ventricle, RV = right ventricle, LA = left atrium, RA = right atrium

Discussion

In dilated cardiomyopathy, which is the most frequently seen cardiomyopathy, the left ventricle or both ventricles are dilated, and the heart contractions are reduced. The etiology is most commonly idiopathic followed by viral (coxsackie virus type B, adenovirus, echovirus, influenza types A and B), immune, genetic and toxic causes. In a previous study of 24 patients diagnosed below the age of 2 years, myocarditis was determined in the etiology of 45% of the cases. Influenza type A has been reported to be among the causes of myocarditis [3, 4]. As in some myocarditis cases, the current patient presented with upper respiratory tract symptoms. Tachycardia, tachypnea and cardiac failure, not consistent with fever, are the common findings seen in myocarditis patients. Sinus tachycardia, ST, T-wave changes are seen on ECG, cardiomegaly on telecardiogram,

impaired left ventricle function on echocardiography, and elevated CKMB-Troponin levels [5, 6]. Although a definitive diagnosis of myocarditis can be made from myocardial biopsy, there must be an awareness of the risks of taking a biopsy from a patient with myocarditis [7]. While supportive treatment is generally sufficient in myocarditis, in patients presenting with dilated cardiomyopathy, as in the current case, treatment must be directed to congestive heart failure. H1N1, which often presents with influenza-like findings, is more severe in patients aged below 2 years [8]. Although very rare, this may be due to dilated cardiomyopathy, as in the current case.

pathophysiology The of cardiomyopathy associated with influenza is not yet fully understood. In severe influenza infection, vascular permeability increases with cytokine mediation and endothelial cell damage contributes to cardiac dysfunction [9]. Martin et al. [10] reported that there was systolic dysfunction in approximately 5% of patients and a return to basal values in 60% of these. This showed that although systolic dysfunction is rare, it can be corrected. As in the current patient, severe complications such as dilated cardiomyopathy thought to be related to H1N1, can be reduced with the use of oseltamivir and similar antiviral agents [11]. In patients presenting with symptoms of upper respiratory tract infection, who are followed up because of the subsequent development of respiratory problems and lower respiratory tract infection, H1N1 virus should be considered in the etiology.

Conclusions

Although cardiac complications associated with H1N1 virus are rare, myocarditis and dilated cardiomyopathy should be kept in mind, especially for patients with a complicated course. The necessary interventions and treatments should be applied to the

		T 1	1	1.	1 •	C' 1'	· C 11	• 1
nh	.,	Iho	Achocat	MINM	ranhia	tindinge	of tollow 11	n noriod
aIJ	4.		CUIIOCAI	uiuz	Ianne	mumes	at ionow-u	D DCHOU

	EF (%)	SF (%)	LVEDd (mm)	LVESd (mm)
1 st day	32	15	59	50
15 th day	40	19	50	40
3 rd month	42	21	47	37
6 th month	50	26	45	33

EF = ejection fraction, SF = left ventricular shortness fraction, LVEDd = left ventricular end-diastolic diameter, LVESd = left ventricular end-systolic diameter

patient with a multidisciplinary approach.

Informed consent

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient's family for the publication of this case report.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared that there are no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

References

[1] Jain R, Goldman RD. Novel influenza A (H1N1): clinical presentation, diagnosis, and management. Pediatr Emerg Care 2009; 25:791-6.

[2] Novel Swine-Origin Influenza A (H1N1) Virus Investigation Team, Dawood FS, Jain S, Finelli L, Shaw MW, Lindstrom S, Garten RJ, et al. Emergence of a novel swine-origin influenza A (H1N1) virus in humans. N Engl J Med

2009;360:2605-15.

[3] Kasper EK, Agema WRP, Hutchins GM, Deckers JW, Hare JM, Baughman KL. The causes of dilated cardiomyopathy: a clinicopathologic review of 673 consecutive patients. J Am Coll Cardiol 1994;23:586-90.

[4] Venugopalan P, Agarwal AK, Worthing A. Chronic cardiac failure in children due to dilated cardiyomyopathy: diagnostic approach, pathophsiology and management. Eur J Pediatr. 2000;159:803-10.

[5] Nolte KB, Alakija P, Oty G, Shaw MW, Subbarao K, Guarner J, et al. Influenza A virus infection complicated by fatal myocarditis. Am J Forensic Med Pathol 2000;21:375-9.

[6] Park MK. Pediatric cardiology for practitioners. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Mosby Elsevier, 2008:360-7.

[7] Towbin JA. Myocarditis. In: Allen HD, Driscoll DJ, Shaddy RE, Feltes TF (eds). Moss and Adam's heart disease in infants, children and adolescent. 7th ed. Philedelphia: Lippincott Williams&Wilkins, 2008:1207-25.

[8] Jain R, Goldman RD. Novel influenza A (H1N1): clinical presentation, diagnosis, and management. Pediatr Emerg Care 2009;25:791-6.

[9] Wang S, Le TQ, Kurihara N, Chida J, Cisse Y, Yano M, et al. Influenza viruscytokine-protease cycle in the pathogenesis of vascular hyperpermeability in severe influenza. J Infect Dis 2010;202:991-1001.

[10] Martin SS, Hollingsworth CL, Norfolk SG, Wolfe CR, Hollingsworth JW. Reversible cardiac dysfunction associated with pandemic 2009 influenza A(H1N1). Chest 2010;137:1195-7.

[11] Kaiser L, Wat C, Mills T, Mahoney P, Ward P, Hayden F. Impact of oseltamivir treatment on influenza-related lower respiratory tract complications and hospitalizations. Arch Intern Med 2003;163:1667-72.

